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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS
LLEF AT

REVENUE & PROFIT (LOSS) ATTRIBUTABLE TO OWNERS OF
THE COMPANY FOR THE YEAR
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On behalf of the board of directors (“Board”) of Hanison
Construction Holdings Limited (“Company”),
pleased to present to our shareholders the results of the
Company and its subsidiaries (collectively “Group” or
“Hanison") for the year ended 31 March 2024.

I am

RESULTS FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR
ENDED 31 MARCH 2024

For the year ended 31 March 2024, the Group achieved
revenue of HK$1,612.7 million,
increase of approximately 30.8% compared with the
previous financial year (2023: HK$1,232.8 million). This
increase was mainly from Construction Division. The
consolidated loss attributable to owners of the Company
was HK$216.0 million (2023: loss of HK$38.4 million).
The net loss is mainly due to the revaluation loss of
investment properties and write-down of properties
under development for sale held by the Group and joint
ventures of approximately HK$187.4 million together
with the interest expenses of approximately HK$65.6
million as a result of increase in interest rate and so the

representing an

downturn in the property market.

The basic loss per share and the diluted loss per share for
the year ended 31 March 2024 were HK19.9 cents and
HK19.9 cents respectively. The basic loss per share and the
diluted loss per share for the last year were HK3.5 cents
and HK3.5 cents respectively.

As at 31 March 2024, the Group’s net asset value
amounted to HK$3,766.5 million (2023: HK$4,072.7
million). Net asset value per share as at 31 March 2024
was HK$3.51 (2023: HK$3.71).

CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
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DIVIDEND

The Board has resolved not to declare a second interim
dividend for the year ended 31 March 2024 (2023: HK5.0
cents per share). The first interim dividend of HK1.0 cent
per share (2023: HK2.5 cents per share) was distributed
during the year.

BUSINESS REVIEW

The global economy continued to face a number
of challenges during the review year. Although the
COVID-19 pandemic has subsided, the pace of economic
recovery has been slower than expected, reflecting both
short-term factors such as high interest rates and the
withdrawal of fiscal support measures, and the longer-
term effects of the pandemic and Russia’s invasion of
Ukraine, weak productivity growth and increasing geo-
economic fragmentation. As a result, the International
Monetary Fund (IMF) forecasts global economic growth
of 3.2% in 2024, maintaining the pace seen in 2023.

In Mainland China, growth was expected to be held
back by the troubled property sector, but the country’s
economy grew by 5.3% year-on-year in the first quarter
of 2024, well above expectations. Despite some concerns
that the recovery could be short-lived without a
comprehensive response to the problems in the housing
sector, investment emerged as a key driver of growth
and net exports contributed 0.8 percentage points to
the GDP growth rate, reversing the negative trend of
the previous year. However, the domestic economic
environment remains challenging, with factors such as
geopolitical tensions, high tariffs and a weak housing
sector threatening to slow the country’s growth.
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After contracting in 2022, Hong Kong's economy grew
in 2023, albeit at a lower-than-expected rate of 3.2%.
The revival of the economy was mainly driven by
inbound tourism and private consumption, but factors
such as high interest rates and lacklustre global demand
continued to hinder the city’s post-pandemic recovery. In
the face of these challenges, the Group’s strategy during
the financial year centered on securing opportunities
in the construction sector provided by the Hong Kong
Government, while remaining prudent and focusing on
existing development projects for the property segment.
Management continued to consolidate the Group’s core
strengths, generate sustainable returns, and closely
monitor market conditions to deliver maximum value to
shareholders.

Hong Kong's construction industry continued to receive
support from the Hong Kong Government during the
review year. Investment in infrastructure and public
housing continued, and the efficiency of public sector
project approvals has improved significantly in recent
years, thus contributing to the continued demand for
construction work. The Government'’s annual expenditure
on public infrastructure projects has been maintained
at over HK$100 billion per annum, with a 10-year
housing supply target of 440,000 units. As stated in
the 2023 Policy Address, the Government has already
identified land parcels for the construction of around
410,000 units over the next 10 years, and plans to secure
sufficient land for approximately 80,000 private units in
the next five years. Administrative procedures will also
be streamlined in a bid to accelerate land production
and increase housing supply. Labour shortages and an
ageing workforce continued to plague the construction
industry. In response to these issues, the Government
has announced its intention to promote the use of
advanced technology in the construction industry to
improve efficiency and output. Given the generally more
favourable conditions and margin levels, the Group
deemed it appropriate to focus primarily on public
sector projects, such as light public housing (“LPH")
developments and government buildings, during the
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financial year. The Group's reputation, technical expertise
and industry experience have helped it to secure ongoing
projects that will provide sustainable income.

The Hong Kong property market was sluggish during
the year, with buyer sentiment continuing to be affected
by high interest rates, a weak local economy and a
slowdown in financial market activity, which in turn
affected employment rates in the city. This was reflected
in the decline in house prices during the review year. In
addition, according to data from the Land Registry, the
number of purchase and sale agreements for residential
and non-residential buildings recorded a year-on-year
decrease of 3.2% in the first eleven months of 2023.
Given the uncertainties in the market, the Group will
remain cautious and focus on existing development
projects for the time being. If suitable opportunities arise,
it is likely to continue with the joint venture partnership
investment format to minimise risks. The Group will
continue to take a cautious approach to property
development and investment.
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HIGHLIGHTS OF CORPORATE ACTIVITIES

The Group’s construction related business performed
satisfactorily during the year, with more project wins
and contracts on hand reaching approximately HK$4.7
billion by the end of the financial year. The new projects
generally have a duration of at least two to three years,
providing a strong source of sustainable income for the
coming years. Although margins are still relatively tight
for the industry, government projects generally offer
better compensation terms for fluctuations in operating
costs, and therefore more secure profit margins. The
Group has been fortunate to secure projects from
the Hong Kong Housing Authority relating to the
construction of public housing, government departments,
semi-government or related organisations such as
the Science Park and various educational institutions.
Notably, the Group completed the design and
construction of the Kai Tak transitional housing project
in late 2023. The project, which is estimated to provide
more than 10,000 units to the public, is considered to be
one of the most important LPH model sites of the Hong
Kong Housing Authority. Other similar projects will be
launched across the city to speed up the supply of public
housing, providing a better living environment for those
in need more quickly. There were inevitably challenges
during the year, and one of the most prominent was the
ongoing labour shortage, which resulted in relatively
higher costs for skilled engineers and workers. The Group
continued to invest in digitalisation such as engineering
and modelling software to address this issue. Recruitment
from universities and training programmes for colleagues
also continued to ensure stable work teams within
the Group, while effective cost control and efficiency
improvement measures were continuously implemented
to improve productivity and profitability.
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT 3 )i H 1 5&

It has been a challenging year for property development
and investment. The Group’s performance was inevitably
affected by the revaluation losses incurred during the
year as a result of changes in the fair value of properties
when they are marked to market. During the year, the
Group continued to focus on the development of its
six existing property projects, most of which are joint
ventures. Some of these projects will be completed
by early 2025, when it is hoped that the property
market will have started to stabilise. The Group’s three
residential property development projects are located
respectively at So Kwun Wat, Tuen Mun, in partnership
with Sun Hung Kai Properties Limited; No. 57A Nga Tsin
Wai Road, Kowloon Tong; and Tong Yan San Tsuen in
Yuen Long. Our three industrial property redevelopment
projects, all of which are being redeveloped into brand
new industrial properties, are West Castle, located at
No. 22 Yip Shing Street, Kwai Chung; No. 18 Lee Chung
Street, Chai Wan; and Johnson Place, located at Nos. 14-
16 Lee Chung Street, Chai Wan. With the reopening of
the border, the Group's property investment business
achieved relatively satisfactory results with more visitors
back in the city. The uncertainty in the property market
also supported better rental levels as buyers and investors
are more reluctant to enter the market in the short term.
In terms of property development, while remaining
cautious, management will continue to closely monitor
market trends and changes for opportunities that will
help generate better returns and maximise value for
shareholders.
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PROSPECTS

According to the International Monetary Fund (IMF), the
global economy will continue to grow in 2024 and 2025
at 3.2%, the same pace as in 2023. The forecast for global
growth in five years’ time — at 3.1% - is the lowest in
decades. New price spikes caused by geopolitical tensions,
including those stemming from the war in Ukraine and
the conflict in Gaza and Israel, together with persistent
core inflation, could raise interest rate expectations and
lower asset prices. As for China, the IMF forecasts that
the country’s GDP will fall to 4.6% year-on-year in 2024.
While the country’s property sector remains troubled,
better-than-expected growth in the first quarter has
raised hopes of a better annual growth performance.
However, the overall economic outlook is still likely to be
hampered by persistently high interest rates and political
uncertainties, as well as heightened trade tensions as the
US and EU continue to pressure Beijing over overcapacity.

According to the 2024/25 Budget, Hong Kong's economy
is expected to grow steadily over the medium term.
Hong Kong’s construction industry is expected to
grow by 2.3% per year from 2025-28, supported by
investment in sectors such as transport, electricity and
housing. The Government has also earmarked HK$10
billion for construction work to upgrade and expand
university healthcare teaching facilities, providing further
opportunities for the industry. In the property sector, the
market has seen an increase in sales in recent months
following the removal of additional stamp duties in
early 2024, albeit at reduced prices as developers look
to clear inventory. Persistently high interest rates could
see transaction volumes recover only slightly from 2023,
although the recent trend of Mainland Chinese buyers
snapping up properties in Hong Kong, accounting for up
to a third of new property sales, could provide a further
boost to growth.
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Given the Government’'s support and the gradual
recovery of the Hong Kong market in the longer term,
the Group remains optimistic about the outlook for the
coming years. We will maintain a cautious approach
to property development and investment, with a focus
on securing more public sector construction projects.
Management also plans to increase its investment in
attracting and retaining talent, recognising that our
people are our most important asset and will ultimately
enable us to continue to deliver sustainable returns and
value to our stakeholders.

APPRECIATION

On behalf of the Board, | would like to express my sincere
gratitude to our management team and colleagues,
who have remained steadfast in their commitment and
whose efforts have underpinned the Group’s stable
performance. | would also like to thank the Group’s
shareholders and business partners for their continued
trust and support. Going forward, we will continue to
leverage our expertise and market position to meet the
challenges and seize the opportunities presented by the
market.

Cha Mou Daid, Johnson
Chairman
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Construction Division

Public housing development at Java Road, North Point
tABEE AHERERIER
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CONSTRUCTION DIVISION

The revenue for the Construction Division was
HK$1,124.0 million for the year ended 31 March 2024, as
compared with HK$906.4 million last year.

During the year, the Construction Division continued
to work on the projects on hand. The total amount
of contracts on hand as at 31 March 2024 for the
Construction Division amounted to HK$4,400.7 million.

Major Projects Completed
(1) Design and build contract for transitional housing
at Area 1B2, Muk On Street, Kai Tak for Tung Wah

Group of Hospitals

(2) Construction of public housing development at Java
Road, North Point, Hong Kong
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Major Projects Undertaken

(1) Construction of the proposed residential and
commercial development at Nos. 33-47 Catchick
Street, Kennedy Town, Hong Kong

(2) Construction of public housing development at Hin
Fat Lane, Tuen Mun, New Territories

Proposed residential and commercial development at
Nos. 33-47 Catchick Street, Kennedy Town

ERMBEFEHBREATRCEREETREEERER

AIENEETRE
(1) EEREBREMBTFEEIPNEITRZ
BEREThBXERER

(2) BEERWREMBUEEZAHEERRE
=S|

Public housing development at Hin Fat Lane,
Tuen Mun

BMEEEZAHERERER
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(3) Construction of the proposed residential (3) ERENBEGABEESTAE 2 BRETH
development at No. 57A Nga Tsin Wai Road, RIER
Kowloon Tong, Kowloon

(4) Construction of the proposed industrial (4) EENABEME2EIEFTES
redevelopment at No. 22 Yip Shing Street, Kwai ZIER
Chung, New Territories

Proposed residential development at
No. 57A Nga Tsin Wai Road, Kowloon Tong
NEERERIEESIARZ ZREEERIER

Proposed industrial redevelopment at
No. 22 Yip Shing Street, Kwai Chung
BRENE22RZERTXERIEE
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(5) Construction of the proposed industrial (5) EEFAREFNREISRZERILXE
redevelopment at No. 18 Lee Chung Street, Chai BIEH
Wan, Hong Kong

(6) Construction of the proposed residential (6) EEFRTHEARNLELNHE121
development at Lot No. 2143 in D.D. 121, Tong Yan MMEE 214302 BERFEERIER
San Tsuen, Yuen Long, New Territories

(7) Construction of the residential development at Tuen (7) HEHEIFAEHEE BT MEE$E496
Mun Town Lot No. 496, So Kwun Wat, Tuen Mun, SFZEEERIER
New Territories

(8) Main works contract for Hong Kong Science Park  (8) HFARZBEFE _HAEEIRR12W-AKIZ
Expansion Stage 2 (SPX2) Building 12W-A ZEETREEN

Proposed industrial redevelopment at Proposed residential development at Lot No. 2143 in D.D.
No. 18 Lee Chung Street, Chai Wan 121, Tong Yan San Tsuen, Yuen Long
SENREISEZER T XERIER TCRAE AL E MM E 121491 R 5214358 2

ERETRREER

Residential development at Tuen Mun Town Lot Hong Kong Science Park Expansion Stage 2 (SPX2)
No. 496, So Kwun Wat, Tuen Mun Building 12W-A
P E S EPI MR B4R 2 EEERIER EANBEE _HHBEEIR12W-AKIEIER
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EABTHERA2KE10ARREHE
RIS~ 995 RR101SE 2 BB XX R

RIEZNE=R > BEBREFRAT
(TESEE ) EESERERTREE
NIEBREHEEAERIRRAE -
2023RREER, EEHIEZZ
TEFHAEIRFHENGEHRKRR

R_E_NE—F EBERERETES
SRIER Y EES BN EREZTEEN
MERIBIRST RN EEE (1.20R) 2024B 4%

(9) Main contract works for proposed commercial 9)
development at Nos. 92-103A Connaught Road
West and Nos. 91, 99 and 101 Des Voeux Road West, BEZFESNTRE
Hong Kong
Proposed commercial development at Nos. 92-103A Connaught Road West and
Nos. 91, 99 and 101 Des Voeux Road West
TR ETE2E E103AT KR BEHEFE15E 995 R 1015E 2 B EEm £ R RIAR
Awards 1%18
(1) In March 2024, Hanison Construction Company (1)
Limited (“HCCL"”) got the “"HKCA Hong Kong
Construction Environmental Awards - 2023
Environmental Merit Award” organised by the Hong
Kong Construction Association, in recognition of
its outstanding environmental performance for the
year 2022/2023.
(2) In January 2024, HCCL received the rating of “Final (2)
Platinum under BEAM Plus NB V1.2 2024" issued by
the Hong Kong Green Building Council, in respect of
the Eight Star Street project. TR ©
(3) In December 2023, HCCL was awarded the “New 3)

Works Projects — Outstanding Contractors (Building)
— Silver Award” under the Quality Public Housing
Construction and Maintenance Awards 2023 from
the Hong Kong Housing Authority.

A TEZF+"R EBERAERNMEE
NHERBERREMEIERE2023 1K
EEBREEZEGRENMIRERE
—fRHRER (BHR) — R -
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(4)

(5)

(6)

@)

20

In December 2023, HCCL was awarded the “New
Works Projects — Outstanding Contractors (Use of
BIM at Construction Stage (Main Contractor)) -
Merit Award” under the Quality Public Housing
Construction and Maintenance Awards 2023 from
the Hong Kong Housing Authority, in respect of the
construction of public housing development at Java
Road, North Point.

In October 2023, HCCL received the "HKCA
Proactive Safety Contractor Award For the Year
2022" organised by the Hong Kong Construction
Association.

In September 2023, HCCL was awarded the rating
of “Final Gold under BEAM Plus NB V1.2 2023"
issued by the Hong Kong Green Building Council,
in respect of the Tai Po Tung Cheong Street Leisure
Building project.

In August 2023, HCCL received the Silver Award in
the Life First 2023 Walk the Talk Award organised by
the Construction Industry Council, in relation to the
construction of public housing development at Hin
Fat Lane, Tuen Mun.

@

©)

(6)

@)

A TE_-ZF+-R EBERUER
TEEEBZAHEERXREERES
AEEZEEHRENTBEAHEER
ERFREREKRE2023 1N TEE

B-RHERES (BEGESEERME
BRI MERERE)) — BER -

ATEC=F+R BBREESERSE
BERgEENEEEER S RIBH
BT 2 AEELE2022] 0

ATEZ=FNA BBBREMNKE
RETEBEXEZEERESEGEBEE
BREREN RRIRTMERE (1.2kR)
2023 LT8R ©

ATEZ=FN\B EBERENEED
MBZE A AHERRRIER REE
XEERPNTERE—20231THE R
KEE PEEEIREZ o
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Outlook

Hong Kong's construction industry remained stable and
vibrant during 2023, despite the slowdown in the city’s
property market in the latter part of the year. While the
increase in interest rates and the softening economy
led to buyers’ caution and affected transactions of
private residential property, the Government continued
to increase the supply of public housing to shorten
the waiting time for public rental housing and pushed
forward the development of light public housing (LPH)
and transitional housing, so as to provide a short-term
accommodation option for underprivileged families
who are currently inadequately housed. Capitalising
on these market opportunities in the public sector
and its core competencies in project management, the
Group’s Construction Division undertook a number of
public housing construction contracts during the year.
In particular, the Division completed the design and
construction of the Kai Tak transitional housing project
by the end of 2023. However, the growing shortage
of skilled construction workers in Hong Kong, which
posed significant challenges to the timely completion
of projects to a high standard, and the rising cost
of building materials have negatively impacted the
profitability of some construction projects.

OPERATIONS REVIEW &% n] jiii

RE

BE_T_=ZFTFFLBEDTHEMR/E
BERABTEREXUERTRE -TmERK-
BASKRERAMELERERE  ERA™T
EEFSEUBRREELAETEDERARE IE
BNFEEMAREEBHEUEREARRER
FifE ERESHNAERRBELEENE
B LA B EREREREBENEERE
SERERMEMEBEZE SEFILEIL
ERERENTSKE HEHEREEER
ERNZOBEF HRERRERNKIEZSE
RNEFERREGN -LHEHR BEMN -
_ZHEEERHRRERELREERE RS
R ELRE o AT » BAKM T A B =R Bt
BRESTHBEERBEEBMEANKE ML
BEMB AT LR THEDBRRER
NEAENEEEEZE-
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While some uncertainty remains, there are a number
of favourable factors that are likely to provide further
opportunities for Hong Kong's construction industry
going forward. The Hong Kong Government has
identified sufficient land to provide about 410,000 public
housing units over the next ten years, which will meet
the estimated public housing demand of 308,000 units.
In addition, around 2,100 LPH units will be completed
by 2024-25 and around 30,000 units by 2027-28.
Additional opportunities may also arise from the newly
launched private subsidised sale flat — pilot scheme,
which will tender three sites to private developers for
the development of subsidised sale flats, with the first
two tender sites offering a minimum of 2,000 units. In
addition, the development of the Northern Metropolis,
which will take place over 20 years, will include around
500,000 new housing units. The Government also plans
to use existing land, including Hung Hom station, the ex
— Lamma Quarry site and “Green Belt” areas, to maximise
development potential and optimise land use. In the
private housing sector, the Government will continue
to adopt a multi-pronged approach to achieve the
housing supply target of 132,000 units for the next 10-
year period. Home buying in Hong Kong is on the rise
following the removal of all the extra levies imposed a
decade ago to cool the excessive market speculation that
had taken hold and driven up property prices to eye-
watering levels. The removal of these cooling measures
has rejuvenated Hong Kong's property market, attracting
investors, balancing supply and demand, and fostering
stability for sustainable growth.

BEAMSRNEEFAEEMN BHiE L —%7
FHREBEZATBREENRARIEHIERE
B-BABRMBERESRERMLM  ERKRTEF
R1H49410,000B A EE R EN > FETIERE
B LU [E308,0008 A& B R BRI TR L
SFEIAR _E_NE_REUR-E -t
EZN\FEARAFDBISER 42,1001 K 4930,000
BEARABREM -MELHNTTAANBREER
HEEBRAEHE —HER I hWAERIESE
L% Zet R E =BT R EFAA
BREREUEEESMHEESEN HPER
TBHEIE T iR =0 2,0001E BE(iL - tb5h > FE
AEREEEEERER TSN HE
&1 > 7RG E3E49500,000{E 3 =R BN o Bt
B BTt ESRRE LM SIF4AH
AR Y BABER RS UBEE
BTt BERBHAREBIEIMBR  ERAAGE
EHBAE BASEESELR T FEHE
R+EZETIR 132,000 EMNERHER
Bo+ER BHERENERE  FEHSE
BEHEUABEKT BHEREAELES
WEMBUWHFREEEINENTER R BABES
EEBRAZ HIEHARMBLENEMERN
W% EiRABETS RSEEEAT #
EEUAMETE  RERENTHEER
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Hong Kong's construction industry continues to face
a serious challenge in the form of the city’s current
talent shortage, which not only hampers its aspirations
as a global financial and competitive innovation hub,
but also has fundamental implications for commercial
property. Despite the implementation of the imported
labour scheme, the supply of local construction workers
continues to fall short of demand. The shortage also
means a productivity crunch, as the ageing workforce will
not be able to maintain the same output in the coming
years. Ultimately, rising wages and competition to retain
workers are likely to create a vicious circle in the labour
market, with a knock-on effect on productivity.

In response to the increasing number of opportunities
in the public sector, the Group’s Construction Division
will improve its responsiveness to customer needs and
further strengthen its position as a trusted and reliable
construction partner. The division will continue to
use innovative construction technology and embrace
digitalisation to improve operational efficiency, enhance
quality and reduce costs. It will expand its construction
workforce in a number of ways, including attracting
more talent to the sector, strengthening training and
human resource development, and allocating more
resources to employee development.

OPERATIONS REVIEW &% n] jiii

BERREXEREEER A A A IZERHY R IE DK
B NMEMABMBEBNFRAZKERKAAR
FHEMPONESR HHEEAYMETEE
RS R - 8 B TUAT HE 51 8 8 A 5 st 55
T AMEBEET ABRKARY IS
AOFFEEAL  RREE R B LM AR K
THHEE BT AERTEERELEED
B - R TELARBRETIABNGFEM
B KRBTSR G ABMHRER UBHE

HBEAEFEHFETRIKE ~EEE
ENRIESERETREENEN E—FM
BHERERERREEURRESHERH
BY 3t {31 o 5% BB PI 4et 4 £ R B T -2 SR T e
RAFBEBE REEENX -MEEET
BREMF -ETREESBAABEBARER
HE7 BIERGIEE AL ATT MaEEI K
ANERRE URDEESZERHMETH
=
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Interior and Renovation Division

SvBEIS

Choi Yuen Plaza
.,

Term tenancy works contract for shopping centres, car parks, markets &
cooked-food stalls for the Link

FRETBYROFES AHAAREZEHNIRESY
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INTERIOR AND RENOVATION DIVISION

For the year ended 31 March 2024, the Interior and
Renovation Division recorded a revenue of HK$293.3
million, as compared with HK$229.9 million last year.

The total amount of contracts on hand as at 31 March
2024 for the Interior and Renovation Division amounted
to HK$201.7 million.

Major Projects Completed

(1) 3-year general building maintenance term contract
(2019-2022) for the City University of Hong Kong

(2) Facade repair works for campus buildings (2019-
2022) for the City University of Hong Kong

(3) Toilet improvement works at shopping centres of
Leung King, Kwong Yuen, Sha Kok, Chuk Yuen, Oi
Man, Un Chau, Oi Tung and Siu Sai Wan

OPERATIONS REVIEW ¥ # il gl

SE A B 4E(E &

HE_ZS _WE=ZBA=1+—HLFE £
B HEIEERER 1T U A 2 7B 15293,300,0007T » T
E R AHE1£229,900,0007T ©
RIE_ME=ZRB=+—H £t RHEES
MFES L BEEEEAA201,700,0007T ©
BN EETIE

(1 %%iﬂzl—'ﬁjﬁﬁi :EHE—HQIE HEHRE

2 EEAHTAREREETFIMEEE IR
(CBE-—hEE_E-_F)

B RR-BR-VA-TE-ER-THB
RENEEBYRORFENETLR
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Major Projects Undertaken EENTETRE

EHAEEZEGEEREERE (O) R
B HNERTEEUMNIENSEE
HeEHn ( CEZ—FE-"T-NHF)

(1) HKHA district term contract (2021-2024) for (1)
the maintenance, improvement and vacant flat
refurbishment for Hong Kong Island and Islands (2)

rrE
S

LF
o
"
b
o
ry
-
|
1%

10

HKHA district term contract for the maintenance, improvement and
vacant flat refurbishment

EBFEEZEEMRE - HNEREZEEMBFIENIEBERASH
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)

3)

(4)

(5)

Building works term contract (2022-2025) for
shopping centres, car parks, markets & cooked-food
stalls in Tin Shui Wai, Tuen Mun, New Territories
North and Ma On Shan (Region 1) for the Link

2-year term tenancy works contract (2022-2024) for
shopping centres, car parks, markets & cooked-food
stalls for Hong Kong Island, Kowloon East, New
Territories East and Tseung Kwan O (Region 2) for
the Link

Repair and maintenance term contract (2022-2025)
for Hong Kong Baptist University

AA&I| project 2022-2023 renovation works to
lavatories in Sir Run Run Shaw Building, Cha Chi-
Ming Science Tower and Fong Shu Chuen Library,
renovation works to lavatories at Level 5 of Oen Hall
Building at Hong Kong Baptist University

)

©)

(4)

©)

OPERATIONS REVIEW &% n] jiii

ERETRKE EM-FHRIEREHEL
(BiF1) BYHP O FEHEE - THRA
BREZBEIREHAGHN (T2
E_T_A5)

ERETEBBE NER HARARRE
BB (&) By FES Hhk
ABEZMECHIREN (CEZ
FEE_TTMHF)

EBZTARBHBRETHEN CE
TIEEERF)

ERAREGARBMAXKE -BEERH
BRE SR RESERRCA KIES
BZRFABHIE CE__FE_F
_ZEHEKRNREERE)
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Hong Kong Baptist University
BRREKRE

Repair and maintenance term contract (2022-25)
HERETHEN CTZZEEZRHF)

AA&I project 2022-23 - Renovation to lavatories
“ECCFE_CFNEKRNREEE - AR IR
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(6)

@)

Interior fitting out works nominated sub-contract
for redevelopment of North Point Methodist Church
at 11 Cheung Hong Street, North Point, Hong Kong

Toilet improvement works at shopping centres of
Tin Shui, Butterfly, Leung King, Chung On, Sha Kok,
Tsui Ping and Stanley

OPERATIONS REVIEW ¥ # il gl

(6) FERLARBHIRILABREESER
BZiEEERREDEEH

(7) XH-WR -BER - BZ - DA -BRK
FREBYPOAFEELR

Toilet improvement works at shopping centres of Leung King, Kwong Yuen, Sha Kok, Chuk Yuen,
Oi Man, Un Chau, Oi Tung and Siu Sai Wan
S BER-VATE BRI BERRNEEBYHOATFHEREIR

Awards

(1

)

In January 2024, Hanison Interior & Renovation
Limited (“HIRL") was awarded the “LINK CAPEX
Contractors Construction Site Safety Award
2023 - Bronze Award” organised by the LINK, in
recognition of its outstanding performance of
occupational health and safety in 2023.

In October 2023, HIRL received the “HKCA
Proactive Safety Contractor Award For the Year
2022" organised by the Hong Kong Construction
Association.

8218

() RIZZHNE—B > BBEANKREER
RAR (TEBEAREE)) KEER
MEER TERANE L2 2R TS
2023— iV URBER T =K
EFRERREZE2HFENEHERIIE

2 MRIEBEZ=F+8 > BEBEARHEELE
EEAREEROREENTEEEEDR Y
BB 2 A EREE2022 ] °
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Outlook

The Group’s Interior and Renovation Division felt the
impact of the economic downturn in the city during the
year. Project enquiries and approvals have declined as
property owners put many major renovation projects on
hold. Demonstrating its resilience and adaptability, the
division continues to be involved in several projects in the
public housing sector.

The sector continues to face fierce competition. As the
market remains highly fragmented, price, quality of
service, project timescales and track record are key factors
when property owners choose an interior design and
renovation service provider.

The Group's Interior and Renovation Division is expected
to have a positive outlook in the near future, with
new prospects emerging as the construction industry
recovering. The division will strive for excellence in
order to become a respected provider of interior
and renovation services, continuing its culture of
continuous improvement and striving to exceed
customer expectations. It will strive to achieve distinctive
and innovative designs that balance aesthetics and
functionality while remaining cost competitive.
Additionally, in response to the growing global focus on
environmental protection and green buildings, the Group
actively researches and implements environmentally
technologies and green building materials for
incorporation into its processes.

RE

FRFEBRHREEDREBCERER
FE -BARNETHEFZSAEBNMINE HE
Bt R ERFTR LD AP E S AR H
FERESNZEIEER THRETHE
MR EERES] -

ERBFRABIN BN BNATEDIR
B -REEE - EHEREKATERERAE
FTEEEMH R EEBRBHERNERESE
o

BEREXFERBIEMEMMLE A
7 5 B R o Ko E(E BB BV AR HA AT R LE M © 5% 8B
FIR RS B REE QT EiEHE
BERECEXE ARBBERIAE - HRE
HERBRE KRR TEHERERSI AR
ERM BRARFERAHEF D LI BERE
ERHRERERGEBEENB=MAE &
EHERBARIRFRRM R B R EM AL
FEREIETRER
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Building Materials Division

i
." 7

HKIA Contract 3508 Terminal 2 expansion works — Design, supply and installation of main roof baffle
ceiling system

BBBRIEIS S X3508 _REEREREBIRE — Rt - HERZETREXRIERY

HKIA Contract 3508 Terminal 2 expansion works — Design, supply and installation of lower-level baffle
and external ceiling system

EBERIEIE S43508 B EAIBBREIRE Rt HERZEBRBREREINKRIERLA
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BUILDING MATERIALS DIVISION

The Group’s Building Materials Division specialises in the
supply and installation of different types of suspended
ceiling system, metal cladding system, fire rated enclosure
system and timber flooring.

For the year ended 31 March 2024, the revenue of
the Building Materials Division was HK$143.4 million
compared with that of HK$59.5 million last year.

The total amount of contracts on hand as at 31 March
2024 for the Building Materials Division amounted to
HK$141.2 million.

Major Projects Completed
(1) Construction of a swimming pool complex and open

space in Area 107, Tin Shui Wai - Design, supply and
installation of suspended ceiling system

BEMEE

FEBMNEEMBBEFIHRERZETRE
FNRRIERR  TBWARARR I NRER
R AR

BE_Z_NFE=BA=+—HLEEFE EE
LB Z WA %5 B 16143,400,00070 ° T A5
HI| % 7 #£59,500,0007T ©

RIE_ME=/A=+—H8 ' BEMZHH
FHEAHBELETEAET141,200,0007T
BN EETRE

(1) RIKEFE107& s ik th 35 88 K K 88 F3 3th

ZREIRE-RFH - HERZERXTE
BB

Construction of a swimming pool complex and open space in Area 107, Tin Shui Wai -
Design, supply and installation of suspended ceiling system

FKEEB107& KIS E RREAM 2 BRTE - R HERZERRERS
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(2) Construction of public housing development at Java
Road, North Point — Design, supply and installation
of suspended ceiling system at podium level

()

OPERATIONS REVIEW ¥ # il gl

BERIABEEZAREERRER -
S EREETEEBZBRIERHR

Construction of public housing development at Java Road, North Point — Design, supply and
installation of suspended ceiling system at podium level
BEItAEEEZ ALERERER Rt - HERZETFEEZBRIERR
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Major Projects Undertaken

(1) HKIA Contract 3508 Terminal 2 expansion works —
Design, supply and installation of main roof baffle
ceiling system

(2) HKIA Contract 3508 Terminal 2 expansion works —
Design, supply and installation of lower-level baffle
and external ceiling system

(3) Proposed residential development at TKOTL
70RP, Phase 11, Lohas Park, Tseung Kwan O, New
Territories — Supply and installation of baffle ceiling
and gypsum board ceiling system

AENEETRE
(1) BBERES S350 REEXIER

(2)

3)

BIR R HERZETXREXTE
BB

EBEEIS S 43508 REEAIERE
BIR-R-HERZEEERER
EINKRTERSR

5 B R B W RIS 1 VB S R
BREIOCRZBFRZEZRETHRER -
HERZRFFRIERAERRIERE

Proposed residential development at TKOTL 70RP, Phase 11, Lohas Park, Tseung Kwan O -
Supply and installation of baffle ceiling and gypsum board ceiling system

RERAHBERENARERT MR BTN 2R ZEREEEREL -~ HERZEFFRIERGERRIER R
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(4)

(5)

(6)

Proposed residential and commercial development
at Nos. 33-47 Catchick Street, Kennedy Town -
Supply and installation of suspended ceiling system

Central Kowloon Route - Building, electrical and
mechanical works — Design, supply and installation
of suspended ceiling system

Construction of public housing development at
Hin Fat Lane, Tuen Mun, New Territories — Design,
supply and installation of suspended ceiling system
at G/F

Major Projects Awarded

(1

()

3)

Proposed property development at Wong Chuk
Hang Station, Package Three, Aberdeen Inland Lot
No. 467, Site C — Design, supply and installation of
suspended ceiling system at 3/F Ball Court

The Physical Sciences and Technologies Building
(New Research Building 1) at The Hong Kong
University of Science and Technology - Design,
supply and installation of suspended ceiling system

Centralised General Research Laboratory Complex
(Block 2) at Area 39, The Chinese University of Hong
Kong - Design, supply and installation of suspended
ceiling system

@

(5)

(6)

OPERATIONS REVIEW &% n] jiii
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Outlook

Thanks to its solid foundation and strong market
presence, the Group's Building Materials Division won
several projects during the year, including the design,
supply and installation of suspended ceiling systems in
public housing developments in North Point and Tuen
Mun. Meanwhile, the division continued to execute the
main roof baffle ceiling system project at Hong Kong
Airport’s Terminal 2 with an improved workflow and
schedule. This optimisation will help to ensure that costs
are managed effectively throughout the project and that
the project will be completed on time, within budget and
to quality standards.

The outlook for the Building Materials Division is
favourable in several respects. First, the building materials
market, which is highly correlated with the development
of the construction market, is expected to grow with
the prospect of construction work related to housing
development. Second, the Hong Kong Government's plan
for public housing over the next decade, together with
the resurgence of the private housing sector following the
lifting of the cooling measures, will generate increased
demand for construction materials. This presents an
opportunity for market players to achieve higher sales
and improved profitability.

In order to enhance its competitiveness in the dynamic
business environment and take advantage of these
emerging opportunities, the Group will continue to
implement effective cost management. In addition to the
use of innovative yet affordable construction materials,
the Group will step up its efforts to recruit and retain
experienced staff and qualified subcontractors to ensure
timely project delivery. With its strong expertise and
reputation in the supply and installation of suspended
ceilings and floors, the Group is confident of being able
to capitalise on the opportunities presented by Hong
Kong's urban development and infrastructure plans. By
aligning its strategies with market needs and leveraging
its strengths, the Group is well positioned to capitalise on
the growth potential in the building materials market.

RE
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PROPERTY DEVELOPMENT DIVISION

The Property Development Division recorded no revenue
during the year ended 31 March 2024 (2023: nil).

LUXEAST, the Group's 49% interest in the parcel of
land situated at FEARELNEIE BEHE I
7afil - B E= B A (West of Wenyuan Road and South
of Houfutinggang, Haining, Zhejiang Province, the
People’s Republic of China) for the development and
construction of office, retail, car parking spaces and other
development pertaining to the land. The respective &
EFrE#:E (Building Ownership Certificates) have been
issued in March 2015. A total of 222 R EE B &E (Sale
and Purchase Agreement for Commodity Flat) have been
signed up to the end of the reporting period and all units
had been delivered to customers. During the current
year, the joint venture entered into a sale and purchase
agreement with an independent third party to dispose
of the land for Phase 2 and Phase 3 development. The
disposal was completed in October 2023.

For the proposed residential development project with
Sun Hung Kai Properties Limited at So Kwun Wat, Tuen
Mun, the development of the site is in progress.

A piece of land at No. 57A Nga Tsin Wai Road, Kowloon
Tong, Kowloon in which the Group has 50% interest with
the objective of developing the property into a premium
residential project, lease modification is completed and
premium has been fully settled. The development of the
site is in progress and is expected to be completed in next
year.

For the piece of land at Tong Yan San Tsuen in Yuen Long
in which the Group has 50% interest with the objective
of developing the property into a residential project,
a land exchange application for residential use was
completed in April 2021. The development of the site is
in progress.
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As for the joint venture project, Johnson Place, located
at Nos. 14-16 Lee Chung Street, Chai Wan, Hong Kong in
which the Group has 50% interest, will be redeveloped
into a brand new industrial property, the planning
application and building plans for bonus plot ratio has
been approved. Demolition of the existing building will
be commenced soon.

As for the joint venture project, West Castle, located
at No. 22 Yip Shing Street, Kwai Chung in which the
Group has 50% interest, will be redeveloped into a
brand new industrial property with bonus plot ratio. The
demolition work was completed in December 2021. The
development of the site is in progress.

For the joint venture project at No. 18 Lee Chung Street,
Chai Wan, Hong Kong, in which the Group has 50%
interest, will be redeveloped into a brand new industrial
property. Building plans for the development with bonus
plot ratio have been approved and demolition work was
completed in April 2022. The development of the site is
in progress.

Outlook

The high interest rate environment posed a challenge to
Hong Kong's property market during the year, leading to
a decline in buyer interest and a decrease in the number
of transactions in the property market. According to data
from the Rating and Valuation Department, domestic
prices fell by 7.0% year-on-year by December 2023,
despite a slight recovery in the first four months of 2023,
while transaction volume contracted by 5%. In spite of
this challenging environment, all of the Group’s property
development projects made good progress during the
year.

The Group’s Property Development Division will face
challenges in the form of an uncertain economy due
to the high interest rate environment and heightened
geopolitical tensions. The challenging external environment
and elevated financing costs will continue to weigh on
investment sentiment in the near term.
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In addition to these challenges, the division is also set to
benefit from a number of favourable developments. When
the Government announced the removal of all property
cooling measures and the easing of mortgage lending, the
market responded positively, with primary and secondary
residential transactions increasing and house prices picking
up from March onwards. Global inflation is expected to
slow in 2024, thanks to monetary tightening in the major
global economies over the past two years. As a result,
central banks in major Western countries are poised to
gradually reduce interest rates in the second half of the
year. This is expected to boost economic confidence and
activity around the world, and Hong Kong is no exception.
With a corresponding reduction in local interest rates, the
property market is expected to see increased sales in the
second half of the year, potentially leading to a stabilisation
or even a slight recovery in property prices. In addition, the
Government has made significant efforts in recent years
to attract talent to Hong Kong from Mainland China and
beyond. These efforts have resulted in the introduction of
various talent admission schemes, including the prestigious
Top Talent Pass Scheme. The introduction of these schemes
has created additional demand for residential properties as
skilled professionals seek to settle in Hong Kong, further
strengthening the property market.

Looking ahead, the Group will continue to ensure
prudent management of its property portfolio while
actively pursuing new opportunities for solid growth. By
entering into joint ventures with suitable partners, the
Group aims to maximise synergies, minimise development
risks and transform sites into successful property projects.
When undertaking land development projects, the Group
will also prioritise the maintenance of a stable cash flow
and a reasonable gearing ratio. This prudent financial
approach will enable the Group to navigate the market
in a sound manner and minimise risks.
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Property Investment Division

Hollywood Hill at No. 222 Hollywood Road
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PROPERTY INVESTMENT DIVISION

The Property Investment Division recorded a revenue of
HK$80.2 million for the year ended 31 March 2024, as
compared with HK$64.1 million last year.

In September 2023, the Group has entered into a sale and
purchase agreement with an independent third party to
dispose of certain shops, loading and unloading bays and
signage area in a residential development named “West
Park” located in Sham Shui Po, Kowloon. The disposal
was completed on 29 December 2023.

Investment properties of the Group including PeakCastle
in Cheung Sha Wan, The Mercer in Sheung Wan,
Hollywood Hill at No. 222 Hollywood Road, No. 31
Wing Wo Street in Sheung Wan, remaining unit at
Shatin Industrial Centre, and The Connaught at No. 138
Connaught Road West in which the Group has 50%
interest, all contributed rental incomes to the Group
during the financial year.

MEREE
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The Mercer at No. 29 Jervois Street
IR &R A295% Z The Mercer

42 HANISON CONSTRUCTION HOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2023/2024



Outlook

The year 2023 saw a marked decline in investment, with
only 65 major deals totalling HK$37 billion, the lowest in
15 years. Interest rate hikes and a slower-than-expected
economic recovery both contributed to the weakness in
the investment market. In addition, high financing costs
and tepid apartment sales meant that developers were
less active in bidding for development sites. Among the
various asset classes, retail and hotels outperformed,
benefiting from an increase in inbound tourism. The
Group’s serviced apartment leasing performance
continued to be satisfactory.

The Group's Property Development Division faces
the potential negative impact of expected continued
stock market volatility amid ongoing global political
uncertainty, as well as concerns about persistently high
interest rates, which will make it more difficult for
investors to raise financing costs.

However, the gradual recovery of Mainland China’s
economy and widely anticipated U.S. interest rate
cuts should boost financial market sentiment in 2024.
Stronger fundraising demand will support office leasing
momentum, leading to an improvement in new lease
volume. The IPO recovery may also lead to more business
for accounting and legal firms, resulting in new hiring.

The Group's Property Investment Division closely monitors
local and global economic and political developments
and acts decisively. The Group will continue to manage
its property portfolio prudently and will look for new
opportunities to realise profits. The Group will endeavour
to generate positive cash flow and maintain a reasonably
low gearing ratio to ensure that it is ready to respond to
any market changes as they arise.

OPERATIONS REVIEW &% n] jiii
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Property Agency and
Management Division

Marketing and project manager and property management services for PeakCastle

7yPeakCastleiE {Eh H HE R A B KB MR MY EEERT
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PROPERTY AGENCY AND MANAGEMENT
DIVISION

The revenue of the Property Agency and Management
Division for the year ended 31 March 2024 was HK$18.0
million, as compared with HK$14.5 million last year.

In Hong Kong, our Property Agency and Management
Division acted as the marketing and project manager for
Johnson Place and No. 18 Lee Chung Street in Chai Wan,
West Castle at No. 22 Yip Shing Street, No. 57A Nga Tsin
Wai Road, PeakCastle in Cheung Sha Wan, The Grampian
at No. 11 Grampian Road, The Connaught at No. 138
Connaught Road West and The Austine Place at No. 38
Kwun Chung Street. This division also provided property
management services to The Austine Place at No. 38
Kwun Chung Street, The Bedford in Tai Kok Tsui, Eight
College and One LaSalle in Kowloon Tong, PeakCastle in
Cheung Sha Wan, Mount Vienna at Lok Lam Road, The
Connaught at No. 138 Connaught Road West, Hollywood
Hill at No. 222 Hollywood Road, The Mercer at No. 29
Jervois Street and West Park in Cheung Sha Wan.

Property management services for Hollywood Hill
#ZHollywood HilliR {4 % SRR
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Other services of this division include rental collection
and leasing agency services to 8 Hart Avenue and The
Cameron in Tsim Sha Tsui.

Outlook

The Group’s Property Agency and Management Division
is dedicated to providing bespoke integrated solutions
to meet the needs of its clients. The marketing and
property management services business encompasses
a diverse range of properties, including commercial,
residential and industrial buildings, many of which have
been developed or acquired by the Group or through its
strategic joint ventures.

The division’s deep understanding of the industry and
focus on optimising rental incomes and property values
enable it to deliver seamless management services.
These services prioritise the meticulous maintenance of
properties, ensuring they are kept in pristine condition
while streamlining operations for enhanced efficiency.
The dedicated team establishes transparent channels with
tenants and owners to address their concerns in a timely
manner and foster positive relationships. The division
is also committed to developing effective marketing
strategies and implementing targeted campaigns to
drive interest, generate leads and ultimately facilitate
the successful sale or letting of a property. It employs
comprehensive market research to leverage its expertise
in order to optimise the visibility and desirability of each
property, thereby enhancing its competitive edge in the
market.

The division is at the forefront of industry trends and
innovations, consistently adapting to meet evolving
market demands. The Group’s Property Management
division is well positioned to navigate the complexities
of the real estate landscape and provide quality property
management services to property owners and tenants,
thanks to its proven track record and unwavering
commitment to excellence.
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HEALTH PRODUCTS DIVISION

For the year ended 31 March 2024, the Division recorded
revenue of HK$11.3 million, compared to HK$11.3 million
last year.

The Health Products Division is primarily engaged in
the retail and wholesale of Bu Yick Fong — 28 Chinese
Herbal Soup and ganoderma spore products under the
"Dr. Lingzhi” brand, and Chinese and Western nutritional
supplements under the “HealthMate” brand. In addition
to the e-commerce business, a brick-and-mortar store
has been established in Tsim Sha Tsui to improve brand
visibility and build customer relationships.
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Outlook

As the population ages and people strive for a better
quality of life, health issues are receiving more attention.
Consumer demand for healthcare products that offer
quality assurance and reliability is steadily increasing,
clearly demonstrating the division’s market potential.
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The division aims to drive product innovation, meet
the growing demand for healthcare products and
provide consumers with quality-assured, trustworthy
and affordable healthcare products. The division’s
recent success in launching a new donkey hide glue
product under the “Bu Yick Fong” brand is a testament
to its strategic approach. The division will continue
to penetrate the Mainland China market, while also
continuing to explore the expansion of its online sales
channels. In addition, the division’s physical store in
Tsim Sha Tsui, supported by in-store health consultation
services, aims to enhance brand visibility and foster
customer relationships.
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SUMMARY OF RESULTS

For the year ended 31 March 2024, the Group achieved
revenue of HK$1,612.7 million, representing an increase
of approximately 30.8% compared with the previous
financial year (2023: HK$1,232.8 million). This increase
was mainly from Construction Division. The consolidated
loss attributable to owners of the Company was
HK$216.0 million, while a net loss of HK$38.4 million
was recorded last year. The net loss is mainly due to the
revaluation loss of investment properties and write-
down of properties under development for sale held
by the Group and joint ventures of approximately
HK$187.4 million together with the interest expenses
of approximately HK$65.6 million as a result of increase
in interest rate and so the downturn in the property
market. Such revaluation loss of investment properties
and write-down of properties under development for
sale held by the Group and joint ventures are recognised
through loss on change in fair value of investment
properties, write-down of properties under development
for sale, provision of impairment losses under expected
credit loss model on loans to joint ventures and share of
losses of joint ventures in the current year.

FINANCIAL REVIEW
A5 vl s

FEBE

BE_Z_ME=A=+—HLEEE &&
B35 U A #%1,612,700,0007T » 8 L —1E
MHEEEMLA30.8% (ZCE_=F : B
1,232,800,0007T) - BRAEMBEEREE
B -ARBTEEANEGEEHERABE
216,000,0005c° MEFRREFREEAE
38,400,000 T o R EBEIGEERNFE LFH
RYMESRE TTERFEARSECERE
ZREMEGMEEERERP ZEEMEM
WA A 15187,400,0007T » ERF) B Z HAH
#£65,600,000TCFATE - BRAAEEREE R E
HENKREMEGEGERERPZHEY
EMBRNDEAREMEZ ATEEEEGE
WRERPZHFEVE - GELEERIEE
HEEEEEXRZAERBRERD G
BELEBEEIANTEERR

L% 1) 4 PR AT WIS 1] 2023/20244F 8 51



FINANCIAL REVIEW R4 %5 [ fisi

Key financial items:
(in HK$°000 unless otherwise specified)

FEMBER
(B7F 5 B 7t B » ZRYG LGB I TF T 8oT)

2024 2023
S 11 - 3 “EI=F
HK$'000 HK$°000
BT EIETFT

Revenue WA 1,612,660 1,232,803
Profit before finance costs, taxation, BT A -RIBEFE - HEWE

depreciation, gain on disposals Wi R EY E M ERER

of properties and revaluation RERKRSECERBAERP

loss of investment properties and ZREEWMEZMBERT

write-down of properties under

development for sale held by

the Group and joint ventures 54,598 30,510
Consolidated loss attributable to TATHE ANELGEEEIR

owners of the Company (216,014) (38,432)
Net asset value of the Group rEEBR=ZA=+—HZ

as at 31 March EERE 3,766,526 4,072,682
Net asset value of the Group per share F®EER=B=+—HZ HK$3.51 HK$3.71

as at 31 March BREEFE AHE3.515T B3 717T
Basic loss per share ERERNEE (HK19.9 cents)  (HK3.5 cents)

(& 1519.91L) (B 13.51)
Diluted loss per share ERIEEER (HK19.9 cents)  (HK3.5 cents)
(#1519.91L) (A #3.51)
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Group Liquidity and Financial Resources

The Group's liquidity and financing requirements are
regularly reviewed.

For day-to-day liquidity management and to maintain
flexibility in funding, the Group has access to facilities
from banks with an aggregate amount of HK$3,179.5
million (HK$1,759.5 million was secured by first charges
over certain leasehold land and buildings, investment
properties and assets classified as held for sale of the
Group), of which HK$1,878.1 million bank loans have
been drawn down and approximately HK$200.8 million
has been utilised mainly for the issuance of performance
bonds as at 31 March 2024. The bank loans under these
banking facilities bear interests at prevailing market
interest rates.

The Group follows a prudent policy in managing its cash
balance, and endeavours to maintain its sound cash flow
generating capability, its ability to take on investments
and acquisition projects, in order to enhance shareholder
wealth. The total cash and bank balances of the Group
amounted to HK$441.5 million as at 31 March 2024
(2023: HK$399.5 million), and accounted for 21.6% of the
current assets (2023: 23.6%).
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During the year, the Group has a net cash outflow of
HK$204.5 million in its operating activities (mainly due
to increase in properties under development for sale,
increase in contract assets and payment of interest), a net
cash outflow of HK$18.8 million in its investing activities
(mainly due to proceeds from disposal of investment
properties, netting off loans to joint ventures), and a net
cash inflow of HK$265.6 million in its financing activities
(mainly due to new bank loans raised, netting off
dividends paid to shareholders and repayment of bank
loans). Net bank borrowings (total bank loans less total
bank balances and cash) amounted to HK$1,436.6 million
as at 31 March 2024 (2023: net bank borrowings of
HK$1,125.9 million). Accordingly, the gearing ratio of the
Group, calculated on the basis of the Group’s net bank
borrowings to shareholders’ funds, was 38.1% (2023:
27.6%). As at year-end date, the Group was with a net
current liabilities of HK$365.6 million (2023: a net current
assets of HK$774.6 million) and the current ratio (current
assets divided by current liabilities) was 0.85 time (2023:
1.85 times). Subsequent to 31 March 2024, the Group
has successfully entered into a supplemental agreement
with the bank to extend the maturity date of the Group’s
outstanding bank loan. For details, please refer to Capital
Structure section.

With its cash holdings and available facilities from banks,
the Group’s liquidity position will remain healthy in
the coming year, with sufficient financial resources to
meet its obligations, operation and future development
requirements.
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Treasury Policy

The aim of the Group’s treasury policy is to minimise its
exposure to fluctuations in the exchange rate and not to
engage in any highly leveraged or speculative derivative
products. Treasury transactions unrelated to underlying
financial exposure are not undertaken. Foreign currency
exposures of the Group arise mainly from the purchase
of goods. The Group will determine if any hedging is
required, on an individual basis, depending upon the size
and nature of the exposure, and the prevailing market
circumstances.

In order to enhance the deployment of internal funds
with maximum benefit, to achieve better risk control, and
to minimise cost of funds, the Group’s treasury activities
are centralised and scrutinised by the top management.

The surplus cash which is generally placed with reputable
financial institutions is mostly denominated in Hong
Kong dollar. Most of the income, expenses, assets
and liabilities of the Group are denominated in Hong
Kong dollars. The Group therefore does not have any
significant exposure to gains or losses arising from the
movement of foreign currency exchange rate against the
Hong Kong dollar.

Shareholders’ Funds

At the year-end date, shareholders’ funds of the Group
were HK$3,766.5 million including reserves of HK$3,659.2
million, a decrease of HK$303.9 million from HK$3,963.1
million at 31 March 2023. On that basis, the consolidated
net asset value of the Group as at 31 March 2024 was
HK$3.51 per share, compared to the consolidated net
asset value of HK$3.71 per share as at 31 March 2023. The
decrease in shareholders’ funds was mainly attributable
to losses for the year, payments of cash dividends and
repurchase of shares.
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Capital Structure

The Group intends to keep an appropriate mix of equity
and debt to ensure an efficient capital structure over
time. As at 31 March 2024, the Group borrowed Hong
Kong dollar loans amounting to HK$1,878.1 million
from the banks (at 31 March 2023: HK$1,525.4 million).
The borrowings have been used as general working
capital for financing the properties for development and
investment purposes over the years. All of the loans are
repayable one year from the end of the reporting period
(at 31 March 2023: HK$394.4 million within one year
from the end of the reporting period, HK$1,131.1 million
over one year from the end of the reporting period).
Subsequent to 31 March 2024, the Group has successfully
entered into a supplemental agreement with the bank
to extend the maturity date of the Group’s outstanding
bank loan of HK$700,000,000 to 22 June 2026, of which
the first instalment of HK$20,000,000 is due one year
after the date of authorising of the consolidated financial
statements. Interest is based on Hong Kong Interbank
Offered Rate plus a competitive margin.

Major Disposal

In September 2023, the Group has entered into a sale and
purchase agreement with an independent third party to
dispose of certain shops, loading and unloading bays and
signage area in a residential development named “West
Park” located in Sham Shui Po, Kowloon. The disposal
was completed on 29 December 2023.
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Collateral

As at 31 March 2024, certain leasehold land and
buildings, investment properties and assets classified
as held for sale of the Group, at the carrying value of
approximately HK$2,616.5 million (at 31 March 2023:
certain leasehold land and buildings and investment
properties of the Group, at the carrying value of
approximately HK$2,673.9 million), were pledged to
the banks to secure the Hong Kong dollar loans of
HK$1,421.1 million (at 31 March 2023: HK$1,425.4
million).

Performance Bonds

As at 31 March 2024, the Group had outstanding
performance bonds in respect of construction contracts
amounting to HK$200,829,000 (2023: HK$98,652,000).

Commitments

The Group’s share of the commitments made jointly with
other joint venturers relating to the joint ventures, but
not recognised at the end of the reporting period is as
follows:
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EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION
POLICY

The Group is implementing a manpower policy that
aims to maximise the output of existing staff resources
in order to achieve productivity gains. We believe that
through improving our staff's job-related competencies,
our overall operational efficiency can be improved
without the need for substantial increase in headcount.

As at 31 March 2024, the Group (excluding its joint
ventures) had 543 employees (2023: 447 employees).
Staff costs of the Group for the year ended 31 March
2024 amounted to HK$212.8 million (excluding directors’
emoluments) (2023: HK$204.8 million). The Group
offers competitive remuneration packages, including
discretionary bonus and share option scheme, to its
employees, commensurable to market level and their
qualifications. The Group also provides retirement
schemes, medical benefits and both in-house and
external training courses for employees.

Employees and directors are remunerated according
to individual and the Group’s performance, industry
trends, prevailing market conditions, the nature of the
job and value creation. The Group recruits and promotes
individuals based on their development potential, merits
and competencies, and ensures that their remuneration
packages are at a reasonable market level. The directors,
eligible full time employees and consultants of the Group
are entitled to participate in the share option scheme
of the Company. The principal terms of the share option
scheme are summarised in the “Report of the Directors”
of this annual report.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

Good corporate governance practices are crucial to
enhancing shareholder value. With this in mind, the
board of directors of the Company (“Board”) is keen
on maintaining an effective corporate governance
framework for the Company and its subsidiaries
(*Group”). This is reflected in terms of a quality board
of directors and the emphasis on transparency and
accountability.

COMPLIANCE WITH CORPORATE
GOVERNANCE CODE

Throughout the year ended 31 March 2024, the Company
has complied with all applicable code provisions of the
Corporate Governance Code (“CG Code”) as set out
in Appendix C1 to the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities (“Listing Rules”) on The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (“Stock Exchange”), except for Code
Provision F.2.2 of the CG Code which stipulates that the
chairman of the board should attend the annual general
meeting. The Chairman of the Board, Mr. Cha Mou Daid,
Johnson, was not present at the Company’s 2023
annual general meeting due to other engagement. The
Managing Director took the chair of the meeting and
responded to questions from the shareholders.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS
Corporate Vision, Values and Culture

The Group’s vision is to be a renowned, creative and
socially responsible key player in building construction,
property development and other businesses, which is
underpinned by our corporate values of serving our
clients with excellence, professionalism, integrity and
care. To develop our business, we emphasis on strong
teamwork, innovation, partnership and sustainability.
Our mission is to develop our business in pursuit of
excellence, to commit providing superior service and
dedication to continuous improvement, to create
values for all stakeholders and to grow our people with
commitment. The Group is committed to developing
a positive and progressive culture that is built on its
vision, values and mission, with highest standards of
business ethics and integrity across all our activities and
operations.

The Board leads to define, promote and continually
reinforce such culture by ensuring its alignment with
the Group’s business objectives, corporate strategies
and future direction. The Group’s corporate culture is
manifested in and reflected in a board range of policies,
practices and procedures of the Group, including
those relating to governance and compliance, active
collaboration with stakeholders, effective workforce
engagement and training, and corporate social
responsibility. More information about the initiatives to
strengthen the Group’s cultural framework during the
year is set out in the “Operations Review”
the “Corporate Governance Report” in this annual report
and the environmental, social and governance report.
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Board and Management

The Board is responsible for leadership and control of the
Company and oversees the businesses of the Group, and
assumes responsibility for strategy formulation, corporate
governance and performance monitoring. It develops and
reviews the Group’s strategies and policies, formulates
business plans and evaluates performance of the
operating divisions against agreed budgets and targets
through regular discussion on key and appropriate issues
in a timely manner. It also exercises a number of reserved
powers, including (i) approval of annual and interim
results and significant changes in accounting policy or
capital structure, risk management and internal control
systems, material transactions (in particular those which
may involve conflict of interests) and major capital
projects; (ii) setting the Group’s remuneration policy
and dividend policy; (iii) appointment of directors; and
(iv) supervision of management and other significant
financial and operational matters.

The day-to-day management, administration and
operation of the Company are delegated to the
Managing Director and the senior management, who
fulfill their duties within their scope of authority and
responsibility. Divisional heads are responsible for
different aspects of the businesses. Major functions
delegated to management include preparation of annual
and interim results; execution of business strategies and
initiatives adopted by the Board; implementation of
adequate risk management and internal control systems;
and compliance with the relevant statutory requirements.
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All directors are kept informed of major changes that
may affect the Group’s businesses on a timely basis. Each
director can have recourse to independent professional
advice in performing his duties at the Company’s
expense, upon making request to the Board.

The Company has arranged appropriate insurance cover
for directors’ and officers’ liabilities in respect of legal
actions against its directors and senior management
arising out of corporate activities.

Board Composition

The composition of the Board reflects the necessary
balance of skills and experience desirable for effective
leadership of the Company and independence in decision
making. The biographies of the directors (and their
relationships, if any) are set out in the “Biographical
Details of Directors and Senior Management” section
under the “Report of the Directors” of this annual
report, which demonstrate a diversity of skills, expertise,
experience and qualifications.

During the year ended 31 March 2024, the Board at all
times met the requirements of the Listing Rules relating
to the appointment of at least three independent non-
executive directors, representing more than one-third
of the Board. One of the independent non-executive
directors, namely Dr. Lau Tze Yiu, Peter, possesses the
appropriate professional qualifications and accounting or
related financial management expertise.
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During the year and up to the date of this annual report,
the Board comprises the following directors:

Non-executive Chairman
Mr. Cha Mou Daid, Johnson

Executive Directors

Mr. Wong Sue Toa, Stewart (Managing Director)
Mr. Tai Sai Ho (General Manager)

Mr. Chow Ka Fung

Non-executive Director
Dr. Lam Chat Yu

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. Chan Pak Joe
Dr. Lau Tze Yiu, Peter
Dr. Sun Tai Lun
(retired on 14 November 2023)
Dr. Chan Fan Cheong, Tony
(appointed on 18 April 2023)

The list of directors (by category) is also disclosed in
all corporate communications issued by the Company
pursuant to the Listing Rules from time to time.

Coming from diverse business and professional
backgrounds, the non-executive directors and
independent non-executive directors bring a wealth of
expertise and experience to the Board, which contributes
to the success of the Group. Through active participation
in Board meetings, taking the lead in managing issues
involving potential conflict of interests and serving
on Board committees, all of them make various
contributions to the effective direction of the Company.

The term of appointment of non-executive directors
(including independent non-executive directors) is
currently fixed for three years, subject to the retirement
by rotation provisions as set out in the Company’s
memorandum and articles of association and the Listing
Rules.
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All independent non-executive directors are free from
any business or other relationships with the Company.
The Company has received written confirmation of
independence from each independent non-executive
director by reference to the independence factors set
out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company
has assessed their independence and satisfied that all
independent non-executive directors are independent
within the meaning of the Listing Rules.

Dr. Lam Chat Yu is a director of C.M. Capital Advisors
(HK) Limited which is an entity controlled by Mr. Cha
Mou Daid, Johnson. Save for this and the information
disclosed in the “Biographical Details of Directors and
Senior Management” section under the “Report of
the Directors” of this annual report, there is no other
financial, business, family or other material/relevant
relationship among the directors and between the
Chairman and the Managing Director.

The Company has in place effective mechanisms to ensure
that independent views and input are available to the
Board. The Nomination Committee, a majority of which
is comprised of independent non-executive directors,
assesses the suitability and independence of potential
candidates to be appointed as independent non-
executive directors and reviews the independence of each
independent non-executive director annually pursuant
to the independence factors set out in Rule 3.13 of the
Listing Rules. The independent non-executive directors
meet with the Chairman at least once annually without
the presence of other directors and they can have
separate and independent access to the management
through formal and informal means. Any director who
has a material interest in any contract or arrangement
or proposal shall not vote or be counted in the quorum
on any directors’ resolution approving the same.
Independent professional advice is also available to all
directors whenever necessary. These mechanisms are kept
under regular review on an annual basis, ensuring their
effectiveness. In June 2024, the Board conducted a review
and considered that such mechanisms were properly
implemented during the year and were effective.
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Board Diversity

The Company recognises and embraces the benefits of
having a diverse Board in supporting the attainment of
its strategic objectives and its sustainable development.
A board diversity policy (“Board Diversity Policy”) setting
out the approach to achieve diversity on the Board
has been adopted by the Board and the Nomination
Committee will review annually whether board diversity
can be achieved. When reviewing board diversity, the
Nomination Committee will consider board diversity from
a number of aspects, including but not limited to gender,
age, cultural and educational background, ethnicity,
professional experience, skills, knowledge and length
of service, which form the measurable objectives of the
Board Diversity Policy. The Nomination Committee will
monitor the implementation of the Board Diversity Policy
and make recommendation on any proposed revisions to
the Board.

As to gender diversity, the Board currently has eight
male directors, the Company targets to appoint at least
one female director no later than 31 December 2024
to achieve a female representation on the Board in
compliance with the requirements under the Listing
Rules. The Nomination Committee will deploy various
channels for identifying suitable director candidates
to the Board, including referral from the Company’s
directors, shareholders, management and advisors or
internal promotion, to achieve gender diversity.
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As at 31 March 2024, 26% and 74% of the Group’s
workforce (including senior management) were female
and male respectively. As a company in the male-
dominated construction industry as core business, the
Company recognises the challenge of achieving greater
gender diversity in the workforce and senior leadership.
To address this imbalance, the Company has had
already a human resources policy in place as part of the
commitment to equal employment opportunities. The
Company understands that the small pool of experienced
female candidates in the construction industry, combined
with the physical nature of much of the work, can
present unique obstacles. However, the Company, as
an equal opportunity employer, remains committed
to fostering a more diversified, equal, and inclusive
workplace culture and increasing the representation of
women at all levels in the Group. Further details of the
Group's gender diversity in workforce are set out in the
Company'’s environmental, social and governance report.

Appointment and Re-election of Directors

The Company established a Nomination Committee
in March 2012 to deal with matters in relation to the
appointment and re-election of directors.

Pursuant to the policy for nomination of directors
adopted by the Board in March 2019, where vacancies
on the Board exist, the Nomination Committee will
identify suitable individuals by making reference to
criteria including but not limited to character and
integrity, accomplishment, educational background,
professional qualifications, skills, knowledge, experience
and time commitments of the proposed candidates, the
Company’s needs, the diversity of the Board and other
relevant statutory requirements and regulations. New
directors are sought mainly through referrals or internal
promotion. The appointment of new directors or re-
election of directors is the decision of the Board upon
the recommendation of the proposed candidates by the
Nomination Committee.
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The Company’s circular sent together with this annual
report contains detailed information of the directors
standing for re-election at the forthcoming annual
general meeting of the Company.

Chairman and Managing Director

The positions of the Chairman and Managing Director are
held by Mr. Cha Mou Daid, Johnson and Mr. Wong Sue
Toa, Stewart respectively. The Board has adopted a set
of written terms setting out the roles and duties of the
Chairman and the Managing Director.

The Chairman provides leadership for the effective
functioning of the Board in the overall strategic planning
and development of the Group. With the support of
the Managing Director and senior management, the
Chairman is also responsible for ensuring that the
directors receive adequate, complete and reliable
information in a timely manner and appropriate briefing
on issues arising at Board meetings.

The Managing Director focuses on implementing
objectives, policies and strategies approved by the
Board. He is in charge of the Company’s day-to-day
management and operations. The Managing Director
is also responsible for formulating the organisational
structure, control systems and internal procedures and
processes for the Board's approval.

Directors’ Induction and Development

Every newly appointed director is provided with
necessary induction and information to ensure that
he has a proper understanding of the Company’s
operations and businesses as well as his responsibilities
under relevant statutes, laws, rules and regulations. The
directors would be provided from time to time with
updates on latest development and changes to the
Listing Rules and other relevant legal and regulatory
requirements.
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During the year ended 31 March 2024, all directors have
participated in continuous professional development
to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills. A
summary of training received by the directors is as

follows:

RB&8E_T_MF-A=+—HLEFE 2
REFERSERETXLR UERKE
R F BRI 3 B b BE - ER R R IFIN I E
mE

Training Areas

1EFIEEE
Accounting/
Corporate Financial/
Governance/ Management
Updates on Laws, or Other

Rules & Regulations Professional Skills

hEER AR gt M
R B K 315189 B
=HTE HMEERAE
Non-executive Chairman ERITERE
Mr. Cha Mou Daid, Johnson ERELE v v
Executive Directors BITESE
Mr. Wong Sue Toa, Stewart FiELE v v
(Managing Director) (EFAEAETE)
Mr. Tai Sai Ho (General Manager) &t S &4 (FEACHE) V4 v
Mr. Chow Ka Fung BEExXE v v
Non-executive Director EHITES
Dr. Lam Chat Yu MEFET v v
Independent Non-executive BiERITES
Directors
Mr. Chan Pak Joe FRIRESE v v
Dr. Lau Tze Yiu, Peter 2 FrEE L v v
Dr. Chan Fan Cheong, Tony REEEL v v
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Model Code for Securities Transactions

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (“Model Code")
as set out in Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules as the
guideline for securities transactions by directors and
employees who are likely to be in possession of inside
information of the Company.

Specific enquiry has been made to all directors and
the directors have confirmed that they have complied
with the Model Code throughout the year ended 31
March 2024 or the period from the appointment date
to 31 March 2024 (for the director appointed during the
year).

BOARD AND COMMITTEES

Board Process

The Board held four regular meetings for the year ended
31 March 2024 and the principal businesses transacted

include:

e Assessing the business performance and planning
the future business directions;

e Approving the Company’s interim and final results
and reports;

e  Approving the business activities and property
transactions of the Group;

o Determining the payment of dividend;

o Reviewing the effectiveness of the Group’s risk
management and internal control systems;

o Approving the shareholders communication policy
of the Company in writing;

R HHRETH
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° Approving the Company’s corporate governance
report;

o Approving the Company’s environmental, social and
governance report; and

o Approving the appointment of the new chairman
of the Remuneration Committee and the changes
in composition of Board committees, following
the retirement of an independent non-executive
director.

Meeting schedules are normally made available to the
directors in advance. Notices of regular Board meetings
are given to all the directors at least 14 days before the
meetings. For other Board and committee meetings,
reasonable notice is generally given.

Board papers together with all appropriate, complete
and reliable information are sent to all the directors at
least 3 days (as far as practicable) before each Board
meeting or committee meeting to keep the directors
apprised of the latest developments and financial
position of the Group and to enable them to make
informed decisions. The Board and each director also
have separate and independent access to the senior
management whenever necessary. The directors receive
regular supply of information about the business
activities, financial highlights and operations review
so that they are well informed prior to participation in
Board meetings.

The Company’s articles of association contain provisions
requiring directors to abstain from voting and not to
be counted in the quorum at meetings for approving
transactions in which such directors or any of their close
associates (as defined in the Listing Rules) have a material
interest.
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Audit Committee

The Audit Committee of the Company has been established
since December 2001. The Audit Committee comprises
three independent non-executive directors and Dr. Lau
Tze Yiu, Peter is the chairman of the Audit Committee
and possesses appropriate professional qualifications or
accounting or related financial management expertise
as required under Rule 3.10(2) of the Listing Rules. None
of the members of the Audit Committee is a partner
or former partner of Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu, the
Company'’s existing external auditor. During the year and
up to the date of this annual report, the Audit Committee
comprises the following directors:

Dr. Lau Tze Yiu, Peter* (Chairman of the committee)
Mr. Chan Pak Joe*
Dr. Sun Tai Lun#
(retired on 14 November 2023)
Dr. Chan Fan Cheong, Tony*
(appointed as committee member
on 14 November 2023)

# independent non-executive director

The major duties of the Audit Committee include the
following:

o Reviewing the Company’s financial statements and
reports and considering any significant or unusual
items raised by the qualified accountant or external
auditor before submission to the Board;

o Making recommendations to the Board on the
appointment, re-appointment and removal of
external auditor, approving their remuneration
and terms of engagement and reviewing and
monitoring the external auditor’s independence and
objectivity;
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o Reviewing and reporting to the Board on the
adequacy and effectiveness of the Group's financial
reporting system, risk management and internal
control systems and associated procedures, with the
assistance of the Risk Management Committee;

o Reviewing the Group’s operating, financial and
accounting policies and practices; and

o Reporting to the Board on the matters in the CG
Code.

The Audit Committee held two meetings during the year
ended 31 March 2024 and the major works performed
are as follows:

o Reviewing and recommending for the Board’s
approval of the Company’s financial results and
reports for the year ended 31 March 2023 and for
the six months ended 30 September 2023;

o Recommending to the Board the re-appointment of
external auditor for the year ended 31 March 2024;
and

o Reviewing the effectiveness of the Group’s risk
management and internal control systems.

The Company’s annual results for the year ended

31 March 2024 have been reviewed by the Audit
Committee.
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Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee of the Company was
established in March 2012. During the year and up to the
date of this annual report, the Nomination Committee
comprises the following directors:

Mr. Chan Pak Joe*
(Former Chairman of the committee) (Note i)
Dr. Chan Fan Cheong, Tony*
(Chairman of the committee) (Note ii)
Mr. Wong Sue Toa, Stewart
Mr. Tai Sai Ho
Dr. Lau Tze Yiu, Peter*
Dr. Sun Tai Lun* (Note iii)

# independent non-executive director
Notes:

(i) Mr. Chan ceased to act as the committee chairman with
effect from 28 June 2024 and continues to act as a
committee member.

(ii) Dr. Chan is appointed as the committee member with
effect from 14 November 2023 and elected as the
committee chairman with effect from 28 June 2024.

(iii)  Dr. Sun retired on 14 November 2023.

The major duties of the Nomination Committee include
the following:

° Reviewing the structure, size and composition
(including skills, knowledge, experience and
diversity of perspectives) of the Board at least
annually and making recommendations on any
proposed changes to the Board to complement the
Company's corporate strategy;

o Identifying individuals suitably qualified to
become Board members and selecting or making
recommendations to the Board on the selection of
individuals nominated for directorship;
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o Assessing the independence of independent non-
executive directors of the Company;

o Making recommendations to the Board on the
appointment or re-appointment of directors of the
Company and succession planning for directors of
the Company in particular the Chairman and the
Managing Director; and

o Reviewing the Board Diversity Policy and the
progress on achieving the objectives set for
implementing the policy.

The Nomination Committee held one meeting during
the year ended 31 March 2024 and the major works
performed are as follows:

o Reviewing the structure, size, composition and
diversity of the Board;

e  Assessing the independence of the independent
non-executive directors of the Company;

o Reviewing the Board Diversity Policy; and

o Reviewing and making recommendations to
the Board on the re-appointment of directors
subject to retirement from office by rotation at
the forthcoming annual general meeting of the
Company.
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Remuneration Committee

The Company set up the Remuneration Committee in
December 2004 which replaced the Bonus Committee
established in December 2001. During the year and up
to the date of this annual report, the Remuneration
Committee comprises the following directors:

Dr. Sun Tai Lun#
(Former Chairman of the committee) (Note i)
Mr. Chan Pak Joe*
(Chairman of the committee) (Note ii)
Mr. Wong Sue Toa, Stewart
Mr. Tai Sai Ho
Dr. Lau Tze Yiu, Peter*
Dr. Chan Fan Cheong, Tony* (Note iii)

# independent non-executive director

Notes:
(i) Dr. Sun retired on 14 November 2023.

(ii)  Mr. Chan is elected as the committee chairman with effect
from 14 November 2023.

(iii) Dr. Chan is appointed as the committee member with
effect from 14 November 2023.
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The major duties of the Remuneration Committee
include the following:

o Formulating remuneration policy and practices and
determining the remuneration packages of the
executive directors and the senior management; and

o Ensuring no director or any of his associates (as
defined in the Listing Rules) participating in
deciding his own remuneration.

In determining the remuneration, the Remuneration
Committee reviewed background information such as key
economic indicators, market/sector trend, headcount and
staff costs.

The Remuneration Committee held two meetings during
the year ended 31 March 2024 and the major works
performed are as follows:

e Approving the maximum bonus pool and the actual
bonus amount to be distributed to the executive
directors, senior management and other employees
of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2024; and

o Reviewing and determining the salary adjustment
for the executive directors, senior management
and other employees of the Group for the year
commenced on 1 April 2024.
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HthWEFEZ8T

In addition to delegating specific responsibilities to the =
Audit Committee, the Nomination Committee and the g
Remuneration Committee, the Board also established the %

following Board committees:

Name of Committee

ZEERHE

Composition of Committee

ZEEZHEM

EERTHFERZET - RELEZEEER
MESEBERBIN  THRILITUTES

89!

Role and Function of Committee

ZEgZABRIMAE

General Business Committee
(established in April 2002)
—REHEEEG
(R ZEEZFFFET)

Property Acquisition/
Disposal Committee
(established in April 2002)

g, HEMEEZES
(R ZEE_FMF L)

During the year ended 31 March 2024, the Property
Acquisition/Disposal Committee adopted resolutions in
writing for approving a property transaction within the
authority delegated by the Board.

All the executive directors of
the Company
AT ERRITES

All the executive directors of
the Company
AT ERERITES

To handle the Company’s
general business within a
designated threshold

EHEEHBERNEERRTZ—HK
E

To handle the Company’s
acquisition/disposal of
property within a designated
threshold

FIEEHERNEEEAATMEZ
WehE, &

RB&8E_T_MF=-A=+—HLEFE K
B HEYEZEERMEEABUMEE
FERBEERNN—BENERSZ

LI G 4 2 9 P25 ) 2023/20244E 3 77



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT 1B 55 16H 51

Attendance Record of Directors and Committee EEMETETHREHERR
Members

The attendance record of each director at annual general BE_Z_HWNF=B=+—HLFE K&
meeting, Board and committee meetings held for the FHERITHRREBFAT - EFTERES

year ended 31 March 2024 is set out below: B EEMCEREIINT
Nomination Remuneration
Annual General Audit Committee ~ Committee Committee
Meeting Board Meeting Meeting Meeting Meeting
(Note i) (Note ij) (Note iii) (Note iv) (Note v)
RREFAE EXggE 2 BrKZE9EE RLZE98E HWZEgEE
Name of Director EEf4 (i) (Hisii) (Witiii) (Wtztiv) iz
Mr. Cha Mou Daid, Johnson* BEEE 01 4/4 N/AS 3 F N/AL RiE e N/AS RE e
(Chairman) (Z/E)
Mr. Wong Sue Toa, Stewart IHEEE 17" 44 N/AYR g e 111 212
(Managing Director) (EF44TE)
Mr. Tai Sai Ho (General Manager) it S%4 (1E45HE) 1" 4/4 N/AL R A 11 212
Mr. Chow Ka Fung BARELE 1n 4/4 N/AS RIS N/AS R e N/A R B FRe
Dr. Lam Chat Yu* WEFEL 1N 44 N/AS 3 F N/AL RiE e N/AS RE e
Mr. Chan Pak Joe* BRiaf L 1" 4/4 212 11 21
Dr. Lau Tze Yiu, Peter* 2Rt n 4/4 212 1 212
Dr. Sun Tai Lun* (Note vj) BAmEL (Wfatvi) n 33 212 N/AL R 33 e n
Dr. Chan Fan Cheong, Tony* BREEHL 17 44 N/AS R g Fge 11 17N
(Note vii) (Wztvii)
* non-executive director 3 FEHITES
# independent non-executive director # BIERITES

8 the director is/was not a member of the relevant 2 ZEENIIEEREZEERE
committee

Notes: BsE

()  The annual general meeting was held on 22 August 2023. () =Z=RFEFAEN-_ZE_=FN\BZ+IH

The auditor of the Company, Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu BT RNRAEZHENEE) o BIEMRA GEHED
attended such meeting. THETZKRE -
(i)  During the year, four regular Board meetings were held. (i) ANEE ARTHBETTENRERESTE
o

(iii) Dr. Lau Tze Yiu, Peter is the chairman of the Audit (i) BFRELTABEZZETERE-
Committee.
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(iv) Mr. Chan Pak Joe ceased to be the chairman of the
Nomination Committee with effect from 28 June 2024.
Dr. Chan Fan Cheong, Tony is the new chairman of the
Nomination Committee effective from 28 June 2024.

(v) Dr. Sun Tai Lun retired as the chairman of the
Remuneration Committee on 14 November 2023.
Mr. Chan Pak Joe is the new chairman of the
Remuneration Committee effective from 14 November
2023.

(vi) Dr. Sun Tai Lun retired as an independent non-
executive director and ceased to be the chairman of the
Remuneration Committee and a member of the Audit
Committee and the Nomination Committee, all with effect
from 14 November 2023.

(vii) Dr. Chan Fan Cheong, Tony is appointed as a member
of the Audit Committee, the Nomination Committee
and the Remuneration Committee, all with effect from
14 November 2023. Dr. Chan is elected as the chairman of
the Nomination Committee with effect from 28 June 2024.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROL

The Board oversees the risk management and internal
control systems of the Group and reviews their
effectiveness on an ongoing basis. During the year,
the Board, as supported by the Audit Committee and
the Risk Management Committee, has conducted an
annual review of the effectiveness of the Group’s risk
management and internal control systems covering all
material controls, including financial, operational and
compliance controls (including environmental and social
performance, risks and reporting). The Group’s risk
management and internal control systems are designed
to provide reasonable, but not absolute, assurance
against material misstatement or loss; to manage rather
than completely eliminate the risk of system failure;
and to assist in the achievement of the Group's agreed
objectives and goals. The risk management and internal
control systems of the Group are considered effective and
adequate.

(iv) BREEREFBEERLZESTEFE B
E_NEARAT/\BEER - REEEL
AMEREZEEEEIHE BT _NEA
“HNABEEN-

v) BABRELIN-_Z-=£+—B+mWBARE
FNEESEE BRAKELESMEFNE
EBgFF H_EBE-_=F+—B+MHEEE
2o

(i) BAGELREBIIENTES LABIE
FHNEEEETEURBREEERIREE
BeRE ME-E-=F+—B+mAE
EReo

(vii) REERTEZEABLEZET RRES
ERFMEEERE BT =F+—
A+HAEEM FRIELEERRRESS
FE - BTEOESRABITN\BEEN-

[ B TR R PO P R A
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ERERBTHARME -RER EEZE
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RMSIE (BIFHEY) 2RE B (B xR
HIR) RRRBZ AR ; ARG AEBER
BEZRERER - FEEZEREERA
MEZERARRBBERRTR -
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During the year and subsequent to the year end, the
Board engaged external consultants and professionals
to assist the Company in performing risk assessment
and to conduct an agreed review over the Group’s
internal control systems for evaluating the effectiveness
of the systems. No significant risk issues were identified
and appropriate measures have been taken to address
the identified areas for improvement. The Company
adopted a risk management policy and formed the
Risk Management Committee chaired by the Managing
Director and with members comprising the General
Manager and various divisions’ senior staff members.
Systems and procedures are put in place to identify,
evaluate, manage and monitor the risks of different
businesses and activities. Regular monitoring of the
risk management and internal control systems is mainly
performed by each of the key divisions/business units
who are required to conduct risk self-assessment and to
submit risk assessment results and action plans to the
Risk Management Committee. The Audit Committee and
the Risk Management Committee monitor and assess
the risk management systems and the risk management
issues, support and advice from external consultants
and professionals to perform independent reviews on
the risk management systems are sought as and when
required. Review on the risk management and internal
control systems has to be performed at least annually to
assess the effectiveness of the systems in monitoring and
managing risks (including environmental and social risks).

The Company has also maintained a tailored governance
structure with clear lines of responsibility and
appropriate delegation of responsibility and authority
to the senior management, who are accountable for
the conduct and performance of the respective business
divisions under their supervision.

RERARREERR EFGEREINDEERM
REEANTIHBA QB ETE TG 2
RERZ AR ER R EITRE BB UTE
AEZARM -BELXREANERME M
MEHFAREZ MG TR T BEHKE
2 o AAT) B RN R R B EREER > MK R R
EELZEE HEFREEETEFE HEE
EREERSPANSRBE -BERILARR
RA2FF o AR sl s E R R EERER
URkEEz AR BEEERAEEIZERR
EHERTEHKMEHFEHEHET
Z RSP, EBHAETREE KT
W R EE R RITEFERR TRRE
BELZEgER BENZEERAREEEZS
BEERNLRAREERAKKAKREES
B UERNBFERSRINDERKREEALZ
XERBR UHRABREERARETHIE
He-mMAREERABEZERRAZLEE
ETER LA ZEFRARNEEREERR
(BRERERMERAR) TEZBEMRIE-

ARBTEHF—ESENELRE HE
HEERBRHNAE HETFTESREEAEDN
BERERERTAEENRE  REHZEE
BEEENERHPZEENRTERE-
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The directors review monthly management reports on
the financial results, statistics and project progress of
each business division. Monthly management meetings
are held to review business performance against budgets,
forecasts and risk management strategies. Any major
variances are highlighted for investigation and control
purposes.

A centralised cash management system is maintained to
oversee the Group's investment and borrowing activities.
There are established guidelines and procedures for the
approval and control of expenditures. The aim is to keep
the expenditure level in line with the annual budget
and within the cost budget of an approved project.
Expenditures are subject to overall budget control with
various approval levels set by reference to the level of
responsibility of each manager and officer. Depending
on the nature and value, procurement of certain goods
and services are required to go through the tendering
process. No individual in the Group, irrespective of their
rank and position, are allowed to dominate the entire
expenditure process from commitment to payment.

The Group also regulates the handling and the
dissemination of inside information to the public in an
equal and timely manner in accordance with applicable
laws and regulations. Senior management executives
of the financial control functions of the Group are
delegated with responsibilities to control and monitor
the proper procedures to be observed on the disclosure
of inside information.

EETEEREGANEEERS  BERE
BEFINM B ER Mt KRB EE - BAT
R[TEEESR URRE -RAKRRER
REAEEREFRR LIERMEEEM
=82 DUFHEREE

FEBERF—EFRREEERFE UEE
FEBNKRERMERES - —RIHLERE
HRX VeI RIEFELKRIL B REER
XHNKFREEERERSEEHENEE
2B - AR ERAREFR
#oMEASREERTEREREEEREF
B EERR - RIBFEMEREE BEET
EmRRBEERENER -FEERR

—EBEA RREZFHRBER) REFBEERE
HABEEMRNEERBER -

FEBTRBEREZRRERREAEEE > I
BRABHSEATERMERETARAL
FEEMFEGBEZ SREETHRASE
RTHBEENAEEMARHESRERET
ZBERF-

BB AR PERE A5 IR 23 ) 2023/20244E 8 81



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT 1P 245 i Hi 15 i

RESPONSIBILITIES IN RESPECT OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Board is responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements. In preparing the
consolidated financial statements, Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards have been adopted, appropriate
accounting policies have been applied, and reasonable
and prudent judgments and estimates have been made.
The reporting responsibilities of the external auditor on
the consolidated financial statements of the Company are
set out in the “Independent Auditor’s Report” section of
this annual report.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

The remuneration paid to the external auditor of the
Company for the year ended 31 March 2024 is set out
below:

HRAMBERRZAME

EXECRERNGEMBRR -ERRES
MEBERRFE EXCERMNETEUHTRSEE
A EASEZEFTHR L EHSEMEIR
BYF R e b 51 o SRR BEN R A A B &R S 7
BHRERZBSEERINNEFER BILZH
EM¥R &I —HiR o

A% 24 B v B

BE_E_ME=A=+—HLEFEE xR
B2 (I SM A 2 FrEM BTN T -

HK$000
BT
Audit Services: BIZRT
Annual audit for the year ended 31 March 2024 HEZZ-_MFE=A=+—H 3,670
LFEZFEEZ
Reviewing the financial results and report BRB&E"_ZT_=FhAA=+H
for the six months ended 30 September 2023 WEARBERZMBEERRE 700
Non-audit Services: IEB RS -
Taxation and other services RIE K H AR TS 361
TOTAL 4agm 4,731

82 HANISON CONSTRUCTION HOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2023/2024



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

DIVIDEND POLICY

The

Company adopted a dividend policy in March

2019 setting out the principles and guidelines relating
to the declaration, payment or distribution of its net
profits as dividends to the Company’s shareholders. In
recommending or declaring dividends, the Board shall
take into account the following factors of the Group:

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

(v)

(vi)

(vii)

(viii)

(ix)

()

financial results;

cash flow situation;

availability of distributable profits;
business conditions and strategies;
future operations and earnings;
cash requirements;

expected capital requirements and expenditure
plans;

interests of shareholders as a whole;

any restrictions on declaration and/or payment of
dividends; and

any other factors that the Board may consider
relevant.

The Board will review the dividend policy from time to

time.

Ay MW S S B A S
1o R R A

E,@\H%
ERBAR_Z-NE-ZARMREBRH
HIEMAESABRREIR  IKEHDIRKE

FEFEAREZRRRIES - ZEHE K
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(i) PFEERE;

(i) RWEREBER;
(i) AIIFEER RER
(iv) ZEFRTAMRE ;

(v) REREEMUE

(vi) REHBXK;
(vii) TREAEARERR LS ;

(viii) BRERBIEEREF ot

(ix) ERAMKREERR,FIKEHRE ; &

(x) EBEFGUEIAEMNTAHHMEER-

EFERTFRRARSEE-
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SHAREHOLDERS ENGAGEMENT

Shareholders Communication

The Company’s shareholders communication policy
aims to provide the shareholders and the investment
community with ready, equal and timely access to the
Group's information. There are in place multiple channels
of communication and engagement available.

Shareholders and the investment community may make
a request for the Company's information to the extent
such information is publicly available, in writing to the
Company'’s principle office in Hong Kong at 22/F, Kings
Wing Plaza 1, 3 On Kwan Street, Shek Mun, Shatin, New
Territories, Hong Kong (for the attention of the company
secretary). For information about their shareholdings,
shareholders can contact the Company’s share registrar,
Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited at
Shops 1712-1716, 17/F., Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s
Road East, Wanchai, Hong Kong.

Information of the Company is also communicated
to shareholders through the Company’s corporate
communications, including but not limited to annual
and interim reports, announcements and circulars. Such
published documents are available on the websites
of the Company and the Stock Exchange. Annual
general meetings and other general meetings of the
Company provide a forum for direct interaction between
shareholders and the Company. Board members, in
particular, the chairmen of board committees or their
delegates, appropriate management executives and
external auditors, as appropriate, will attend annual
and other general meetings to answer shareholders’
questions. The process of the Company’s general
meetings will be monitored and reviewed on a regular
basis, and, if necessary, changes will be made to ensure
that shareholders’ needs are best served.

84

R ERE:

FABRREABREEDRRRRER R
HEER EF%%D&E#%HRZ!S%lﬁﬂE’J?%@o
BRIAZEIANBERSHEE

BREREZEERTUZTEEAAESATNRES
NEEMER MUtATERRVBEMNR
BABSRInES —12218) RARAME) &R
RAATEN MNZEERNABRMAER) K&
RN THREFRER AJBiEERABTKRGS
BEBEEEAPRESELARAT
WAEEBEFERKERISIHEESMP L7
1#1712-1716FE ©

TABTNENTEBEATDNEERENEE
TRER SFEEFRREERFHRRS - AE
KB o ZE T8R4 2 B KBk 3 PR
MUEER S ABRREBERG RHEMERR
AREARREAXABRHEEZEHN TS -
EFgNE RIREFETLRETEIRENH
AR -BENEEABRIMNDZEED (2B
) RUERREFAGREAMBRAE > U
EERRNEE  ERATRRAGHEFF
CHSEEREE TN AKERETER XU
FERE T thmERRERK

HANISON CONSTRUCTION HOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2023/2024



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT 1 2E45 16 Hi 14 51

Shareholders may at any time send their enquiries to the
Board in writing through the company secretary, with the
contact details below:

Address: 22/F., Kings Wing Plaza 1, 3 On Kwan Street,
Shek Mun, Shatin, New Territories, Hong Kong

Email: sc@hanison.com

Fax: (852) 2415 2080

In June 2024, the Board reviewed the Company’s
shareholders communication policy and considered that,
with the above measures in place, the implementation of
the policy was effective during the year.

Separate resolutions are proposed at general meetings
on each substantial issue, including the election of
individual directors.

Pursuant to the Company’s articles of association, the
notice of annual general meeting, the annual report
and the circular containing information on the proposed
resolutions will be sent to shareholders at least 21 days
before the meeting. Voting at annual general meeting
or other general meeting will be conducted by way of a
poll. The results of the poll will be published on the day
of general meeting by posting on the Stock Exchange’s
and the Company'’s websites.

REAIBEHRMFANEAUZTEARNEBR
ANEFECMESS ARBEERNT

it FAEAMR D BAEPZHE3NRIRES
—HA2218

EEf . sc@hanison.com

f#H : (852) 2415 2080
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Convening of Extraordinary General Meetings and
Putting Forward Proposals at General Meetings

General meetings shall be convened:

(i) on the written requisition of any one or more
members of the Company deposited at the principal
office of the Company in Hong Kong (22/F.,, Kings
Wing Plaza 1, 3 On Kwan Street, Shek Mun,
Shatin, New Territories, Hong Kong), specifying the
objects of the meeting and the resolutions to be
added to the meeting agenda and signed by the
requisitionists, provided that such requisitionists
held as at the date of deposit of the requisition
not less than one-tenth of the voting rights, on
a one vote per share basis, in the share capital of
the Company which carries the right of voting at
general meetings of the Company; or

(ii) on the written requisition of any one member of
the Company which is a recognised clearing house
(or its nominee) deposited at the principal office
of the Company in Hong Kong (22/F, Kings Wing
Plaza 1, 3 On Kwan Street, Shek Mun, Shatin, New
Territories, Hong Kong), specifying the objects of
the meeting and the resolutions to be added to the
meeting agenda, and signed by the requisitionist,
provided that such requisitionist held as at the date
of deposit of the requisition not less than one-tenth
of the voting rights, on a one vote per share basis, in
the share capital of the Company which carries the
right of voting at general meetings of the Company.
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If the Board does not within 21 days from the date of
deposit of the requisition proceed duly to convene the
meeting, the requisitionist(s) themselves or any of them
holding not less than one-tenth of the voting rights,
on a one vote per share basis, in the share capital of
the Company, may convene the general meeting in the
same manner, as nearly as possible, as that in which the
meeting may be convened by the Board provided that
any meeting so convened shall not be held after the
expiration of three months from the date of deposit of
the requisition, and all reasonable expenses incurred by
the requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the Board
shall be reimbursed to them by the Company.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

There is no change in the Company’s constitutional
documents during the year ended 31 March 2024.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
R

The board of directors (“Board”) presents its report and
the audited consolidated financial statements of the
Company and its subsidiaries (“Group”) for the year
ended 31 March 2024.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company acts as an investment holding company.
The principal activities of its subsidiaries, associate and
joint ventures are set out in notes 49, 19 and 20 to the
consolidated financial statements respectively.

BUSINESS REVIEW

Further discussion and review on the business activities
of the Group as required by Schedule 5 to the Companies
Ordinance (Cap. 622 of the Laws of Hong Kong),
including the principal risks and uncertainties facing the
Group and an indication of likely future development
in the Group’s business are set out in the “Chairman’s
Statement” (on pages 5 to 12), “Operations Review”
(on pages 13 to 50), “Financial Review” (on pages 51
to 58) and the “Notes to the Consolidated Financial
Statements” of this annual report.

An analysis of the Group’s performance during the year
using financial key performance indicators is provided in
the “Financial Highlights” (on page 4) and “Operations
Review” (on page 13) of this annual report.

Details of the Group’s financial risk management are
disclosed in note 47 to the consolidated financial
statements.

No material event affecting the Group has occurred since
the year end date.

Disclosures of the Group’s environmental policies and
performance are set out in the environmental, social, and
governance report of the Company which is published on
the Company’s website (www.hanison.com) at the same
time as the publication of this annual report.
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RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 March
2024 are set out in the “Consolidated Statement of Profit
or Loss” on page 130.

The first interim dividend of HK1.0 cent per share (2023:
HK2.5 cents per share) amounting to HK$10,731,000 was
paid to the shareholders during the year.

The Board has resolved not to declare a second interim
dividend for the year ended 31 March 2024 (2023: HK5.0
cents per share).

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

Details of the movements in the investment properties of
the Group during the year are set out in note 16 to the
consolidated financial statements.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements in the property, plant and
equipment of the Group during the year are set out in
note 17 to the consolidated financial statements.

RESERVES

Details of the movements in the reserves of the Group
during the year are set out in the “Consolidated

Statement of Changes in Equity” on page 134.
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DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES OF THE
COMPANY

The Company’s reserves available for distribution
to shareholders as at 31 March 2024 comprised the
aggregate of share premium and accumulated profits of
HK$722,516,000 (2023: HK$813,585,000).

Under the articles of association of the Company,
dividends may be declared and paid out of the profits
of the Company, realised or unrealised, or from any
reserves set aside from profits which the directors of the
Company determine is no longer needed. Dividends may
also be declared and paid out of share premium account
subject to a solvency test as set out in section 34 of the
Companies Act (As Revised) of the Cayman Islands.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the movements in the share capital of the
Company during the year are set out in note 35 to the
consolidated financial statements.

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND
REGULATIONS

The Group is committed to complying with all relevant
laws and regulations imposed by the Government of
the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region and
the People’s Republic of China (“PRC"). We conduct
on-going reviews of the newly enacted or revised laws
and regulations, and we provide relevant training and
guidance to our staff on a needed basis.
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RELATIONSHIP WITH EMPLOYEES,
BUSINESS PARTNERS AND OTHERS

The Group treasures the relationship with all
stakeholders and endeavours to engage them through
different initiatives and channels. In particular, we value
our human capital. As our long-term talent pipeline
strategy, we frequently review and deliver competitive
compensation and benefits, remuneration packages,
training and development, and staff engagement
activities to attract, nurture, and retain talents and
employees.

A long-standing relationship with business partners can
bring benefits for the Group as well as for suppliers and
customers. In addition to maintaining trusted business
relationship, we also engage our business partners in the
pursuit of better performance in business operations,
environmental impact, and community investment.

The Group has been encouraging staff to serve as
volunteers especially in the community where we are
operating. Constructive site-community relationship is
definitely our priority. We maintain close communications
with the stakeholders in the community and work closely
with relevant parties to initiate programmes aiming to
address the community’s concerns.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company’s former share option scheme (“2011
Share Option Scheme”) was adopted by the Company on
21 September 2011 and was terminated on 25 August
2020. Share options granted prior to the termination
continue to be valid and exercisable in accordance with
the terms of the 2011 Share Option Scheme.

The Company adopted a new share option scheme
("Existing Scheme”) on 25 August 2020, all executive
or non-executive directors and full-time employees of,
and consultants employed on a contract basis by, any
member of the Group are eligible to participate in the
Existing Scheme. No options have been granted under
the Existing Scheme since its adoption.

The purpose of the Existing Scheme is to provide the
participants with the opportunity to acquire proprietary
interest in the Company and to encourage them to
work towards enhancing the value of the Company
and its shares for the benefit of the Company and our
shareholders as a whole.

(@) Maximum number of shares available for
issue

The total number of shares which may be issued
upon exercise of all options to be granted under
the Existing Scheme and any other schemes of the
Company shall not exceed 10% of the shares of
the Company in issue on the date of the approval
of the Existing Scheme, subject to renewal as
approved by the shareholders of the Company. The
total number of shares available for issue under the
Existing Scheme is 109,092,467, which represents
10.17% of the issued shares of the Company as at
the date of this annual report.
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(b) Maximum entitlement of each participant

(1

)

The total number of shares issued and to be
issued upon exercise of the options granted to
each participant (including both exercised and
outstanding options) in any 12-month period
shall not exceed 1% of the Company’s shares
in issue unless otherwise approved by the
shareholders of the Company.

Where any grant of options to a substantial
shareholder or an independent non-executive
director of the Company, or any of their
respective associates (as defined in the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities (“Listing
Rules”) on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (“Stock Exchange”), would result in the
shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of
all options already granted and to be granted
(including exercised, cancelled and outstanding
options) to such person in the 12-month period
up to and including the date of such grant:

(i) representing in aggregate over 0.1%
(or such other percentage as may from
time to time be specified by the Stock
Exchange) of the Company’s shares in
issue; and

(i) having an aggregate value, based on
the closing price of the shares of the
Company on the date of grant, in excess
of HK$5.0 million (or such other amount
as may from time to time be specified by
the Stock Exchange),

such grant of options shall be subject to
prior approval by the shareholders of the
Company, such grantee, his associates and all
core connected persons of the Company shall
abstain from voting at such general meeting.

(b) B2HEZBIRERIELR

(1) BRIERBATRRSBEH A TR
RER+ZER R BT EEE
HEEKRE (BEBITEREERITHE
ZHERE) MAZ2RERITRE
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HITEFHEMREZEZHEA
(EEREBHMESXBMAERAHR
(B 32 Ffry) 5835 AR AN (TEm
RA) REEAERE REE
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FABRREAMESTET B
ZEBEAEBMBAKRRERAT
BUOMBBANLTHEARZRRRE
EREKRE-

L5 A 0 42 47 I 2 ) 2023/20245E 93



REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS i i & Hi 1 &

(o)

(d)

(e)

0)

94

Option period

The period within which the grantee may exercise
the option shall be notified by the Board to the
grantee at the time of making an offer, but such
period shall not expire later than ten years from the
date of grant.

Time of exercise of option

At the time of making an offer, the Company must
specify the minimum period(s), if any, for which
an option under the Existing Scheme must be held
before it can be exercised in whole or in part.

Amount payable on acceptance of offer

A payment to the Company of HK$1 as
consideration for the grant shall be paid on the
acceptance of the offer by the grantee. The offer
of grant of option must be accepted within 14 days
(or such other period of days as determined by the
Board from time to time) after the date of offer.

Basis of determining exercise price of option

The exercise price of the option shall be no less than
the highest of:

(i) the closing price of the shares of the Company
as stated in the daily quotations sheets issued
by the Stock Exchange on the date of grant,
which must be a business day;

(ii) the average closing price of the shares of the
Company as stated in the daily quotations
sheets issued by the Stock Exchange for the
five business days immediately preceding the
date of grant; and

(iii) the nominal value of a share of the Company

on the date of grant.

(9)

(d)

(e)

(f)
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(g) Remaining life of Existing Scheme

The Existing Scheme has a life of ten years
commencing on the adoption date and will expire
on 24 August 2030 unless otherwise terminated in
accordance with the terms of the Existing Scheme.

Details of the movement of share options under the 2011
Share Option Scheme during the year are as follows:

(9) RITEHABZEBRTER

PRIERIBIRITSHBURR T AR LE > BRY
RITE B 2B ME RS B B4 B HEs
+E URR _E=CF/\B_-+WEAH
& o

FR T ——BRESEIETZEREZ
BEEFBEWNT

Number of share options
BREHR

Approximate
percentage
Balance Balance of
as at asat issued shares
1.4.2023 31.3.2024 (Note i)
#® Exercised Lapsed A EEET
Name or Category Exercise price Z%Z-= during during ZE-MmE AR B4
of ﬁanicipant Date of grant pershare  Exercise period (Vote j) mA—H the year theyear =A=+—H R
SHERTHEY RHAH SRITEE  TEHE W) &% RERTE  REAXY A ] (i)
Directors
2
Cha Mou Daid, Johnson 18.10.2019 HK$1.16 18.10.2019 to 17.10.2024 5,454,000 - - 5,454,000 0.50%
e “E-NAE+ATNR Aer ZE-NAEHATARE
—E_MEHATLA
Tai Sai Ho 18.10.2019 HK$1.16 18.10.2019 to 17.10.2024 5,454,000 - - 5,454,000 0.50%
s —E-AE+ATNR A1er ZZ-hEHATN\EE
2 mE+ATtA
Chow Ka Fung 18.10.2019 HK$1.16 18.10.2019 to 17.10.2024 1,898,000 - - 1,898,000 0.17%
G —2-nE+ATN\A Ber ZE-hAETATN\RE
ZEmEHATH
Chan Pak Joe 18.10.2019 HK$1.16 18.10.2019 to 17.10.2024 1,090,000 - - 1,090,000 0.10%
Bk ZE-hE+HATNH A6 ZE-hEHATN\HE
ZEIMETRTEA
Subtotal 13,896,000 - - 13,896,000
Vst
Former Director 18.10.2019 HK$1.16 18.10.2019 to 17.10.2024 1,090,000 - (1,090,000) - -
AIEES ZE-nE+ATN\A A6 ZE-hAETATN\RE
ZEmE+HATH
Subtotal 1,090,000 - (1,090,000) -
gt
Other Em&loyee Participants 18.10.2019 HK$1.16 18.10.2019 t0 17.10.2024 10,174,000 - (1,924,000) 8,250,000 0.76%
HitfES2HE “E-AF+ATNR A6 ZZ-hE+HATN\EE
—E2_mE+ATtA
Subtotal 10,174,000 - (1,924,000) 8,250,000
gt
Total 25,160,000 - (3,014,0000 22,146,000
st

LI B A e R A B 25 ] 2023/20244F 3
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Notes:

(i) The share options vested immediately on the date of
grant.

(ii)  No share options were cancelled during the year.

(iii) The percentage is calculated based on the total number
of issued shares of the Company as at 31 March 2024 (i.e.
1,073,074,676 shares).

The number of share options available for grant under
the Existing Scheme mandate as at 1 April 2023 and
31 March 2024 was 109,092,467.

CONVERTIBLE SECURITIES, WARRANTS
OR SIMILAR RIGHTS

Save as disclosed above, the Company had no
outstanding convertible securities, warrants or similar
rights as at 31 March 2024 and there has been no issue or
exercise of any convertible securities, warrants or similar
rights during the year.

Bk -

() FERAEIRN HHRERERE o

(i) FAAEEHBRE

(i) BOLEDDEREBEAATR_ZE-_NE=ZAR
=+—HB%1TRH 4% (B11,073,074,676
BRB&AR) Bt & -

R_E_=ZFONRA—HKR-_ZE_NFE=H
=+—H RERTHEIEE IR TER
REEE75109,092,46 705 ©

A] A9 58 557 « SR e 4 SR E A LU R

BRLAPMREEIN O R_ZT_NEFE=R
=+—H> ANRB A AR RIT R AT
X585 SO AR ERE S AR UER o Sy > WA
TRITEEMATRARES  RDIRER M
FER] o
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PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF

LISTED SECURITIES

During the year ended 31 March 2024, the Company
repurchased a total of 17,964,000 shares of the Company
on the Stock Exchange for a total consideration (before
expenses) of HK$19,998,700. All the shares repurchased
were subsequently cancelled. The directors of the
Company considered that the share repurchases would
enhance the net asset value per share and/or earnings
per share of the Company. Particulars of the share

repurchases are as follows:

FE - LEXEE LhES

BE_Z_MNME=-BA=+—HLEE £xA
BB X FR ol B8 & ££17,964,0008% 4~ A B B
1% BB (Rt Bz A %78119,998,700
Lo FrBERIEBMNRMERYEFH AR FAE
ERE RNVEOBRREALLIEREESF
B/ NEREF - RMNEIEZFBEUNT :

Total

consideration

Purchase price per share (before

EREERE expenses)

Number Highest Lowest BRE

of shares ==} RE  CRetBIXAED)

repurchased HK$ HK$ HK$

Month B BEERHEE BT BT BT
June 2023 —EZZ%5H 2,154,000 1.14 1.08 2,423,640
July 2023 -y 2k o = 8,564,000 1.14 1.09 9,613,000
August 2023 “E=%)\R 7,246,000 1.10 1.08 7,962,060
Total Bt 17,964,000 19,998,700

Save as disclosed above, neither the Company nor any
of its subsidiaries purchased, sold or redeemed any of
the Company’s listed securities during the year ended

31 March 2024.

BREXFIIREEN BE_ZT_NFE=A
Z+—HLEEE ARARHEEAMBEAF
BMEREE HEHBRERNELQBZ LHE
%o

LI G 4 2 9 P25 ) 2023/20244E 3 97



REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS i i & Hi 1 &

DIRECTORS

The directors of the Company during the year and up to
the date of this annual report are:

Non-executive Chairman
Mr. Cha Mou Daid, Johnson

Executive Directors

Mr. Wong Sue Toa, Stewart (Managing Director)
Mr. Tai Sai Ho (General Manager)

Mr. Chow Ka Fung

Non-executive Director
Dr. Lam Chat Yu

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. Chan Pak Joe
Dr. Lau Tze Yiu, Peter
Dr. Sun Tai Lun
(retired on 14 November 2023)
Dr. Chan Fan Cheong, Tony
(appointed on 18 April 2023)

In accordance with Article 116 of the Company’s articles
of association, Mr. Tai Sai Ho, Mr. Chan Pak Joe and
Dr. Lau Tze Yiu, Peter shall retire from office by rotation
at the forthcoming annual general meeting. All the
retiring directors, being eligible, offer themselves for
re-election at the forthcoming annual general meeting.

None of the directors being proposed for re-election at
the forthcoming annual general meeting has a service
contract with the Company or any of its subsidiaries
which is not determinable by the Group within one year
without payment of compensation, other than statutory
compensation.

EF

REARBEAFRAPZEAT[EFTN
T

FEMITERR
ERMERE

PITES

FHERE EFELE)
B REE HEE)
BEEXE
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B ERITES

BRIAfELE
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DIRECTORS’ AND EMPLOYEES’
EMOLUMENTS

Details of directors’ emoluments for the year
ended 31 March 2024 are set out in note 12(i) to
the consolidated financial statements. For the year
ended 31 March 2024, the emoluments of the senior
management, whose biographical details are set out
in the “Biographical Details of Directors and Senior
Management” section below, fell within the following
bands:

EFREITHM

BE_Z_NME=-RBR=+—HILEE -BFMH
EEME2HFBHIN G EMBRRME
120) BE_TE_NF=B=+—HILEFE"
EREBABZHFN (HERFBHNTX
EEREREEABRBE —&) JIIAMUT
47 -

Number

of individuals

Emolument Bands B A B A¥

HK$1,000,001 — HK$ 1,500,000 751%%1,000,0017%— #&1#1,500,0007T 5
HK$1,500,001 — HK$2,000,000 7A1£1,500,0017c— 7% %2,000,0007T

HK$2,000,001 - HK$2,500,000 7#51%%2,000,0017T— #12,500,0007T 3

Note: Including one member of the senior management
resigned after 31 March 2024.

UPDATE ON DIRECTORS’ INFORMATION
PURSUANT TO RULE 13.51B(1) OF
LISTING RULES

Pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules, the
changes in the information of the directors of the
Company are set out below:

(1) Mr. Cha Mou Daid, Johnson is a director of Mingly
Asia Capital Limited (“Mingly Asia”), a wholly-
owned subsidiary of Mingly Corporation (“Mingly”),
which became a substantial shareholder of the
Company in September 2022 under Part XV of the
Securities and Futures Ordinance (“SFO").

Mz : BER_Z_NF=A=+—HEBHEN

— L BREEAR.
Rig EHRAE13.51B(1)IFRKE
EFENZENRER

RIE EHRAE13.51B(NERE  KATE
EENZEBHEIIMT :

(1) EHREBEHLREAMingly Asia Capital
Limited (TMingly Asial) (&Hh&ERZE
BRERAE (M271) 22EHMBAR)
WES > ZRFAB_SZ_FNAER
BESKIERG (TF85 RAEHRA)
BEXVEIR AR AT EERR
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)

3)

(4)

100

The monthly salaries of the executive directors,
namely Mr. Wong Sue Toa, Stewart, Mr. Tai Sai Ho
and Mr. Chow Ka Fung were increased by 3%, 3%
and 3.39% respectively, all with effect from 1 April
2024 as compared with those of the last year.

Mr. Chan Pak Joe acts as the chairman of the
Remuneration Committee and ceased to be the
chairman of the Nomination Committee of the
Company with effect from 14 November 2023 and
28 June 2024 respectively.

Dr. Chan Fan Cheong, Tony is appointed as a
member of the Audit Committee, the Nomination
Committee and the Remuneration Committee of the
Company with effect from 14 November 2023. Dr.
Chan also acts as the chairman of the Nomination
Committee with effect from 28 June 2024.

()

€)

4

BITEFIHREE - BHREERE
BELSENRFREXEMELE D HIEM
3% ~3%K%3.39% B -ZE _MFEM
A—BHiEEEN-

BREEEERERSRBDFNEEGTEE
RABREERRZESTERE 2B
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- REEZEGRFMEEEHE B
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TTEARREEEERE BT W
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS
AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Directors

Mr. Cha Mou Daid, Johnson, aged 72, is the Chairman
and non-executive director of the Company. He joined
the Company since November 2001. Mr. Cha has over
40 years of experience in venture capital and investment
management and is currently the chairman of C.M.
Capital Advisors (HK) Limited. He is a non-executive
director of HKR International Limited (“HKRI”) and
Million Hope Industries Holdings Limited (“Million
Hope"”). The securities of HKRI and Million Hope are
listed on the Stock Exchange. He is a director of CCM
Trust (Cayman) Limited (“CCM Trust”), LBJ Regents (PTC)
Limited (“LBJ”, formerly known as LBJ Regents Limited)
and Mingly Asia, and a non-executive director of Mingly.
Each of CCM Trust, LBJ, Mingly Asia and Mingly is a
substantial shareholder of the Company discloseable
under Part XV of the SFO. Mr. Cha is also an independent
non-executive director of Shanghai Commercial Bank
Limited and a director of a number of other companies
in Hong Kong and overseas. He is a member in non-profit
organisations including Qiu Shi Science & Technologies
Foundation and Moral Education Concern Group, and a
co-opted external member to the Finance Committee of
the Council and a member to the University Court of The
Hong Kong University of Science and Technology.

EERESREEABRERE
55
ERMERE 2B ATV ERFRIERITE
E- RN _ZEE—F+—HEMAEXAT-
ERERAERBEAREEEFDERA
40FE LB > IBFACM. Capital Advisors
(HK) LimitedZ XFE - KATHBHEKXBERE
EERAF (TERAEHZE)) RETEEER
BRRE (1E£%)) ZFRITEZ - FHEE
REFZHHFHRBERIMET - KRABCCM
Trust (Cayman) Limited (TCCM Trusty) ~
LBJ Regents (PTC) Limited (TLBJ ] > AiFELB)
Regents Limited) &zMingly Asiaz EE UK
2712 IEHITESE - CCM Trust~ LBJ ~ Mingly
Asiafk % 1B R AT RIBE S MG FRA
EXVEATIRBNEERR - ERETAL
BEXEIRTAERABDZEBIENTESRS
MEBRBINABEIZES -RAZSHIEEF
WHEZRE GERENZESERESH
AN UREBEREARBREGUFERE
BILEINBEERABEBEZEEES
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Mr. Wong Sue Toa, Stewart, aged 78, joined the Group
in 1989 and is the Managing Director of the Company.
Mr. Wong also serves as the chairman of the General
Business Committee and the Property Acquisition/
Disposal Committee, and a member of the Nomination
Committee and the Remuneration Committee of the
Company. Mr. Wong is the chairman and non-executive
director of Million Hope, whose securities are listed on
the Stock Exchange. Before he joined the Group, he was
a director for several listed companies and a director of
HKRI (whose securities are listed on the Stock Exchange)
until his resignation in December 2001. He is also a
director of various subsidiaries of the Company. He has
extensive experience in the construction and real estate
fields. Mr. Wong holds a bachelor degree in science from
San Diego State University and a master degree of science
in civil engineering from Carnegie Mellon University
in the United States of America. He is a member of
the Hong Kong Institute of Construction Managers
(MHKICM).

Mr. Tai Sai Ho (Alias: David), aged 73, is an executive
director and the General Manager of the Company.
Mr. Tai also serves as a member/the acting chairman
of the General Business Committee and the Property
Acquisition/Disposal Committee; and a member of
the Nomination Committee and the Remuneration
Committee of the Company. Mr. Tai joined the Group in
1989 and has extensive experience in public and private
sectors of the building and civil engineering industries
in Hong Kong. Mr. Tai is a non-executive director of
Million Hope, whose securities are listed on the Stock
Exchange. He is also a director of various subsidiaries of
the Company. Mr. Tai holds a master degree in business
administration from Asia International Open University
in Macau, a master degree in construction management
from University of New South Wales in Australia and a
bachelor degree in civil engineering from National Cheng
Kung University in Taiwan. Mr. Tai is a fellow of the Hong
Kong Institute of Directors (FHKIoD) and the Hong Kong
Institute of Construction Managers (FHKICM).
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Mr. Chow Ka Fung (Alias: Matthew), aged 55, is an
executive director of the Company since March 2021.
Mr. Chow has been serving the Group from 1998. He
oversees the Property Development Division, Property
Investment Division as well as Property Agency and
Management Division. He also serves as a member
of the General Business Committee and the Property
Acquisition/Disposal Committee, and is a director of
certain subsidiaries of the Company. Mr. Chow specialises
in property development,
management and project management in Hong Kong
and the PRC. He holds a bachelor of science degree in
land management from The Hong Kong Polytechnic
University. Mr. Chow is a Registered Professional Surveyor
(General Practice) (Property and Facility Management)
under the Surveyor Registration Board (RPS). He is
also a member of the Royal Institution of Chartered
Surveyors (MRICS), a member of China Institute of Real
Estate Appraisers and Agents (MCIREA), a member of
the Chartered Institute of Arbitrators (MCIArb) and a
member of Hong Kong Institute of Surveyors (MHKIS).

investment, marketing,

Dr. Lam Chat Yu (Alias: Chat), aged 72, has been a
non-executive director of the Company since March
2021. Dr. Lam joined the Group in November 2001 as an
executive director of the Company and was re-designated
as a non-executive director since August 2013 until he
resigned in December 2015. Dr. Lam is specialised in the
areas of direct investment, financial advisory, and asset
management. He has extensive investment experience
in the technology sector, including 15 years in Silicon
Valley, California, and over 20 years in Asia. Dr. Lam
holds a Ph.D. degree of Management Science from MIT
Sloan School of Management, M.S degree in Computer
Science from Northwestern University and a B.S degree of
Electrical Engineering.

BEELE (3% :Matthew) »555%° B
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Mr. Chan Pak Joe, aged 71, has been an independent
non-executive director of the Company since November
2001. Mr. Chan also serves as the chairman of the
Remuneration Committee and a member of the Audit
Committee and the Nomination Committee of the
Company. Mr. Chan has been an executive director of The
Luk Hoi Tong Company, Limited since 1973. Mr. Chan is
the founder of the “Li Zhi Bursary” of Tsinghua University
in the PRC. He is also the Vice-Chairman of “Love Relay
Grant-in-Aid” of Fudan University in the PRC since
September 2005. His community services include having
served as a director of YMCA and as a member of the
Remuneration Committee and the Audit Committee of
the Hong Kong Housing Society.

Dr. Lau Tze Yiu, Peter, aged 65, has been an independent
non-executive director of the Company since September
2004. Dr. Lau also acts as the chairman of the Audit
Committee and a member of the Nomination Committee
and the Remuneration Committee of the Company.
Dr. Lau was the Associate Dean of the School of Business
of the Hong Kong Baptist University. He serves as
Adjunct Professor in the School of Business of the Hong
Kong Baptist University. He holds a bachelor degree
in commerce from Saint Mary’'s University in Canada,
a master degree in business administration from
Dalhousie University in Canada and a doctorate degree
of philosophy in accounting from The Chinese University
of Hong Kong. He is a member of The Chartered
Professional Accountants of Ontario (CPA, CA) in Canada,
a member of the Chartered Professional Accountants
of British Columbia (CPA, CMA) in Canada, a fellow
member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (FCPA), and an associate member of The
Taxation Institute of Hong Kong (ATIHK). He was also
a president (1992-1993) of the City Lions Club of Hong
Kong.
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Dr. Chan Fan Cheong, Tony, aged 72, has been an
independent non-executive director of the Company
since April 2023. Dr. Chan also serves as the chairman of
the Nomination Committee and a member of the Audit
Committee and the Remuneration Committee of the
Company. He is an independent non-executive director
of Hutchison Port Holdings Management Pte. Limited
(the trustee-manager of Hutchison Port Holdings Trust
which is listed on the Singapore Exchange, stock code:
NS8U). Dr. Chan is the third president of King Abdullah
University of Science and Technology (“KAUST") since
September 2018. He is on the Board of Trustees/Directors
of: KAUST Investment Management Company, US;
King Abdulaziz City for Science & Technology, Future
Investment Initiative (FIl Institute), KSA; Riyadh BioTech
City, KSA; Skolkovo, Russia; The Hong Kong Academy
of Sciences and Yidan Prize Foundation, Hong Kong.
He is (was) on the Advisory Board/Committee of the
Academic Ranking of World Universities, China; King
Fahd University of Petroleum & Minerals, KSA; Korea
Advanced Institute of Science & Technology, Korea;
NEOM, KSA (2018-2020); Saudi Data and Al (SDAIA)
Supervisory National Strategy Committee of Data and
Al, Saudi Arabia; RIKEN, Japan; SUSTech, China and
University of Vienna (2015-2020). Dr. Chan is the only
non-Saudi member of KSA's new Research Development
and Innovation Supreme Committee, an ambitious plan
to restructure and upgrade KSA's RDI ecosystem. He was
a co-founder, Director (2000-2001) and Board member
(2009-2020) of the US NSF Math Institute IPAM.

Before KAUST, Dr. Chan was the president of The Hong
Kong University of Science and Technology (2009-
2018), and Assistant Director of the Mathematical and
Physical Sciences Directorate at the US National Science
Foundation (2006-2009). Dr. Chan taught Computer
Science at Yale University before joining UCLA as
Professor of Mathematics in 1986 and was the Chair of
the Department of Mathematics in 1997 and Dean of
Physical Sciences (1991-1996).
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Dr. Chan received his BS and MS degrees in Engineering
from Caltech and his Ph.D. in Computer Science from
Stanford University. He is a member of US National
Academy of Engineering, a Fellow of IEEE, American
Association for the Advancement of Science and Society
for Industrial & Applied Math. Dr. Chan was awarded
the 2020 SIAM Prize for Distinguished Service to the
Profession, and the Honorary Doctorates from University
of Strathclyde (2015) and University of Waterloo (2022).

Senior Management

Mr. Chan Yiu Kei, Charles, aged 58, joined the Group
in 2010. He is a director of the Construction Division
of the Group. He has over 30 years of experience in
human resources management, employee training
and development, organisation development and
consultation in Hong Kong. He also involves in corporate
social responsibility and ESG reporting in the latest
decade. He holds a Master of Social Science from
The Chinese University of Hong Kong, a Master of
Science in Human Resource Management and Training
from University of Leicester in United Kingdom and
a Postgraduate Diploma in Management Consulting
and Change from The University of Hong Kong. He is
a graduate of Corporate Coaching Program (CCP) of
Corporate Coach U Canada, a Certified Administrator
of The Myers-Briggs Type Indicator (MBTI), a Certified
Behavioral Consultant (DISC) of the Institute for
Motivational Living, a Certified Management Consultant
(CMCQ) of Institute of Management Consultants, a
professional member (MIHRM) of Hong Kong Institute of
Human Resource Management, and a Fellow & Certified
Sustainable Development Planner of World Institute of
Sustainable Development Planners.

Mr. Cheung Hok Chuen, aged 54, joined the Group
in 1999. He is a director of the Construction Division
and Interior and Renovation Division of the Group.
Mr. Cheung has comprehensive experience in the
building industry in Hong Kong. He holds a BSc in
surveying from The University of Hong Kong.
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Mr. Choi Siu Fai, aged 37, joined the Group in 2015. He
oversees the Group's finance and accounting function
and is a director of the Health Products Division of the
Group. He has over 15 years of experience in finance and
accounting. He holds a BBA in Professional Accountancy
from The Chinese University of Hong Kong and is a
Certified Public Accountant of The Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants (HKICPA).

Mr. Ho Chi Tong, aged 59, joined the Group in 1998.
He is a director of the Construction Division, Building
Materials Division and Interior and Renovation Division
of the Group. He has extensive experience in quantity
surveying consultancy and construction contracting.
He holds a professional diploma in quantity surveying
from The Hong Kong Polytechnic University. He is a
Registered Professional Surveyor (QS) under the Surveyor
Registration Board (RPS) and a member of The Royal
Institution of Chartered Surveyors (MRICS) and Hong
Kong Institute of Surveyors (MHKIS).

Mr. Kong Wing Kin, aged 50, joined the Group in 1996.
He is a director of the Interior and Renovation Division of
the Group and has extensive experience in the building
industry in Hong Kong. He holds an associate degree
in facilities management from the City University of
Hong Kong, a professional diploma in occupational
safety and health from the Hong Kong Baptist University
and a bachelor degree in building surveying from the
University of Reading in the United Kingdom. He is a
registered Constructor (Qianhai) under the PRC. He is
also a member of Hong Kong Institute of Construction
Managers (MHKICM), The Chartered Institute of Building
(MCIOB), and Chartered Association of Building Engineers
(MCABE).

Mr. Lam Chiu Yat, Paul, aged 60, joined the Group in
2000. He is a director of the Building Materials Division of
the Group. He has over 33 years of experience in project
management. He holds a Bachelor of Building from
University of New South Wales.
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Mr. Lin Tai Ning, Raymond, aged 59, joined the Group
in 2008. He is a director of the Property Agency and
Management Division of the Group. Mr. Lin has extensive
experience in project management. He holds a bachelor
degree in arts (architectural studies) and a bachelor
degree in architecture from The University of Hong Kong.
He is a Registered Architect of The Hong Kong Institute
of Architects.

Mr. Lun Tim Ho, aged 65, joined the Group in 1990 and
is a director of the Construction Division and Interior and
Renovation Division of the Group. Mr. Lun has extensive
experience in the construction field in Hong Kong and
the PRC. He holds an associateship and a higher diploma
in the building technology and management from The
Hong Kong Polytechnic University. He is a member of
The Chartered Institute of Building (MCIOB), Hong Kong
Institute of Construction Managers (MHKICM), Royal
Institution of Chartered Surveyors (MRICS), The Hong
Kong Institute of Surveyors (MHKIS), and The Hong Kong
Institution of Engineers — Building (MHKIE).

Mr. Wong Ping Chung, aged 53, joined the Group in
1996. He oversees the Group’s information technology
function and is a director of the Health Products Division
of the Group. He has over 25 years of experience in
information technology. He holds a Master of Business
Information Technology from Curtin University.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT
POSITIONS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING
SHARES AND DEBENTURES

As at 31 March 2024, the interests of the directors of
the Company in the shares and underlying shares of the
Company as recorded in the register required to be kept
by the Company under Section 352 of the SFO were as
follows:

(i) Long position in the shares of the Company

EEMNRY - HEARMD RE#EZ
ESmBRe

RIZB_NE=ZA=+—H'F2FFFRN
KRB ZRDKAFEARMG FEALRERNER
BIRBEBFRAERAIBIS2HFERAFEZE
oAz =M T :

() RERBARBZHEE

Approximate

percentage of

issued shares

Total (Note v)

Number of number of B E1TRRR

Name Capacity shares held shares held BaEL
g =0 FrIERMEE PSRN EH (Hriv)
Cha Mou Daid, Johnson Beneficial owner 14,155,500
EE mEB A
Beneflaa % of dlscretlonary trusts 539,500,961 553,656,461 51.59%
@A (Note j)
(Hizti)
Wongiue Toa, Stewart Benefigi_al owner 48,704,157
L= BmEEA
Interest of controlled corporation 4,270,975
RITEEE R (Note ii)
(K1 &tii)
Interest of spouse 5,485,487 58,460,619 5.44%
[y e (Note i)
(Bt &tiii)
Tai Sai Ho Benefigi_al owner 17,385,721 17,385,721 1.62%
Bt BEmEEA
Chow Ka Fung Benefigi_al owner 2,394,000 2,394,000 0.22%
ARz BEmEEA
Lam Chat Yu Benefigi_al owner 318,000
MWEF miEB A
Interest held Jomtly with another person 2,140,000 2,458,000 0.22%
BEMATHEFEZ DS (Note iv)
(Hiztiv)
Chan Pak Joe Benefigi_al owner 2,830,100 2,830,100 0.26%
R 1A 1k BEmEEA
Lau Tze Yiu, Peter Benefigi_al owner 5,110,950 5,110,950 0.47%
2 7B BEmEEA
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Notes:

0]

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

(v)

These shares are held under certain but not identical
discretionary trusts, of which Mr. Cha Mou Daid,
Johnson is among the members of the class of
discretionary beneficiaries.

Mr. Wong Sue Toa, Stewart's corporate interests in
the Company arise from the fact that he owns 50%
equity interest in Executive Plaza Limited, which
holds 4,270,975 shares of the Company.

These shares are held by Ms. Wong Lui Kwok Wai,
the spouse of Mr. Wong Sue Toa, Stewart.

These shares are held by Dr. Lam Chat Yu jointly with
his spouse Ms. Lam Elizabeth Mona.

The percentage is calculated based on the total
number of issued shares of the Company as at
31 March 2024 (i.e. 1,073,074,676 shares).

N

(i)

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

(v)

ZEROBETFARNIBEEEF
B ERBAERETARBIBER
ZBHERHEANEHEPZHE -

FTHELEELAABTDZATRER
ERHBEEHEREEARAAN
S50%REMSER  ZABRELRAT
4,270,975R% B& 15 ©

ZERGBItELESREIEE
BEtHE

ZERMEMEFELIRARLBIEN
B HEFF-

BALEDLREAATINR_ZE_NE
ZA=1+—HB#TRMER (A
1,073,074,676& & 1%) st& o
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(ii) Share options

Directors’ interests in share options are set out in
the section headed “Share Option Scheme” above.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2024, none of
the directors and chief executive of the Company had
any interests or short positions in the shares, underlying
shares and debentures of the Company or any of its
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV
of the SFO) which were recorded in the register required
to be kept by the Company under Section 352 of the SFO,
or which were required to be notified to the Company
and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code for
Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers as set
out in Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules. Nor any of the
directors and the chief executive had any interest in, or
had been granted any right to subscribe for the securities
of the Company and its associated corporations (within
the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) or had exercised any
such right during the year ended 31 March 2024.

ARRANGEMENTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES
OR DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed in the section headed “Share Option
Scheme” above, at no time during the year was the
Company or any of its subsidiaries a party to any
arrangements to enable the directors of the Company to
acquire benefits (including debentures) of the Company
or any other body corporate and none of the directors
or their spouses or children under the age of 18, had any
rights to subscribe for securities of the Company, or had
exercised any such rights during the year.

(i) FERGHE

EEON S P
SH81— o

mE R EXX iR
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INTERESTS OF SHAREHOLDERS
DISCLOSEABLE UNDER SFO

So far as is known to the Company, as at 31 March 2024,
the interests of the shareholders (other than the directors
and chief executive of the Company) in the shares and
underlying shares of the Company as recorded in the
register required to be kept by the Company under
Section 336 of the SFO were as follows:

Long position in the shares of the Company

Wi%:E 37 RERG IR HI A F IR ERIAR

R

BARRRAN - K- _NFE=A=+—8H"
RER (ERBREERESTHASRIN KA
ANE)RMP KRG FHEALERN A AT R
BESFRBAEHRME3B6MFAFEZELHM

ZHEmWMT .

RAERBRBZEE

Approximate
percentage of
issued shares

(Note vi)
Number of L BITRA
Name Capacity shares held BB 7L
2y 513 FriFR & B (Hrztvi)
CCM Trust Trustee 487,702,041 45.44%
fF5EA (Note i)
Interest of controlled corporations (Hzi)
RELE S
Mingly Interest of controlled corporation 104,243,301 9.71%
%N RIEEEZ (Note ii)
(Hratii)
Mingly Asia Beneficial owner 104,243,301 9.71%
BanEBEA
LBJ Trustee 67,829,571 6.32%
IEETN (Note iii)
Interest of controlled corporation (W a#iii)
REEE S
Wong Lui Kwok Wai Beneficial owner 58,460,619 5.44%
FTEEE BaEEA (Note iv)
Interest of controlled corporation (Hrztiv)
RELE
Interest of spouse
[t
Cha Mou Sing, Payson Beneficial owner 54,437,427 5.07%
(Deceased) BEREEA (Note v)
EHE (Gt Interest of controlled corporations (Hiztv)

REFBZER
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Notes:

(i)

(if)

(iii)

(iv)

(v)

(vi)

These share interests comprise 383,458,740 shares directly
held by CCM Trust and 104,243,301 shares held indirectly
through Mingly’s wholly-owned subsidiary. CCM Trust is
interested in 87.5% equity interest in Mingly. CCM Trust
is holding the 383,458,740 shares as the trustee of certain
but not identical discretionary trusts of which members of
the Cha Family (comprising, inter alios, Mr. Cha Mou Daid,
Johnson (the Chairman of the Company)) are among the
discretionary objects.

These share interests are held by Mingly indirectly through
its wholly-owned subsidiary, Mingly Asia.

These share interests comprise 61,022,931 shares directly
held by LBJ and 6,806,640 shares held indirectly through
Bie Ju Enterprises Limited, its wholly-owned subsidiary. LBJ
is holding the 61,022,931 shares as the trustee of certain
but not identical discretionary trusts of which members of
the Cha Family (comprising, inter alios, Mr. Cha Mou Daid,
Johnson (the Chairman of the Company)) are among the
discretionary objects.

Ms. Wong Lui Kwok Wai is the spouse of Mr. Wong
Sue Toa, Stewart and is deemed under the SFO to be
interested in 48,704,157 shares beneficially owned by her
spouse. Ms. Wong is personally interested in 5,485,487
shares and owns 50% equity interest in Executive Plaza
Limited which is holding 4,270,975 shares of the Company.

These share interests comprise 26,537,925 shares
beneficially owned by the late Mr. Cha Mou Sing, Payson
and 14,189,502 shares and 13,710,000 shares held
indirectly through Accomplished Investments Limited and
Kola Heights Limited, respectively. These two companies
are directly wholly-owned by the late Mr. Cha.

The percentage is calculated based on the total number
of issued shares of the Company as at 31 March 2024 (i.e.
1,073,074,676 shares).

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2024, the
Company has not been notified by any persons (other
than the directors and chief executive of the Company)
who had any interests or short positions in the shares and
underlying shares of the Company which were recorded
in the register required to be kept by the Company under
Section 336 of the SFO.

Bk -

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

(v)

(vi)

bx £

ZERMEFEBIFERCCM TrustEIERFEZ
383,458,740 RN R BBLNZE2EN B
ATEREFE 2104,243,301 888818 - CCM
Trust¥#EB & /187.5% ZB&#E - CCM Trust
UEEEABDAETARNBEEREE
383,458,740 8% 17 - ZEEE2HBEZHEA
EhEETRRERE (BT EEEMELE
(BSRBEFE)) ©

ZERMEZRBNEREZENB AT
Mingly AsiafSl{Z#55 o

ZERMEZEERHLBIEERFAEZ
61,022,931 15 KB B H 2 Bt BB A FlBie
Ju Enterprises Limitedf1%#5%5 26,806,640
IR o LBIUEsEAB R AE TARNIEE
T15H61,022,9310 810 2 F 52 BB
SHAETEERRERE (EhaEEH
BEE (XATER)) ©

FTEBRE4+TAFTHELE RG> iR
EERPERIEEANBRERBELSE
B248,704, 157 FHEERE TR
B AN1FHE5,485,487 R n > WIHEA HER
BEBRAGMNS0%KE  ZATFELR AT
4,270,975RZ B& 15 ©

ZERNMEZCIEEREMBRLEES
WH 226,537,925 KRM UKD REE
Accomplished Investments Limited’Kola
Heights LimitedfE#%#FARY14,189,5020% K&
13,710,000/ %17 - Z M A B IR BEHRE
EEHEEZERB

BAOWDREBARER_-_Z_WNFEZA
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DIR

ECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING

BUSINESS

During the year, the interests of the directors (not
being the independent non-executive directors) of the
Company in businesses which compete or were likely to

compete, either directly or indirectly, with the principal
businesses of the Group as required to be disclosed
pursuant to the Listing Rules were as follows:

Name of director (Note i)

Name of company  Nature of interest

EFNRERBPRZES

FEERARABDER (BIUFATESR
S REAERFERFERABEERARS

MR ATAE

M MRE EHRAAT R

BZEMEZDER ZEZMT ¢

Competing business (Note /i)

B W) NEATE e RPN (ati)
Cha Mou Daid, Johnson HKRI Director of HKRI and a member of the class of (@) Property development and
EiE EREYE discretionary beneficiaries of certain but not investment
identical discretionary trusts of which the MERRRIKRE
trustees are deemed substantial shareholders
of HKRI under Part XV of the SFO (b) Property management, leasing
EERXEERETARINBEIZHEZSEA and marketing services
BRIz MIRIEES MG RAIEXVED % MEEE HERTHEERS
EEAZETAEAATERETIERR
Notes: BsE
(i) Mr. Cha Mou Daid, Johnson is a non-executive director () BTHELEAXQAFFRNTESRS HKILEES

(i)

114

of the Company, who is not involved in the daily
management of the Group. Accordingly, the Company is
capable of carrying its businesses independently of, and
at arm’s length from the abovementioned competing
businesses.

In addition, Mr. Wong Sue Toa, Stewart held share
interests and directorships in certain private companies
(“Private Companies”) which engage in property
investment and serviced apartment or hotel operation.
As the Board of the Company is independent of the
boards of the Private Companies and has a different
board composition to the respective boards of the Private
Companies (the Board of the Company comprises three
executive directors, two non-executive directors and
three independent non-executive directors), the Company
operates its businesses independently of, and at arm’s
length from the businesses of the Private Companies.

Such businesses may be made through subsidiaries,
affiliated companies or by way of other forms of
investments.

(if)

SAEEEEERT it 525 4N
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN
TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS OR
CONTRACTS

No transactions, arrangements or contracts that are
significant in relation to the Group’s business to which
the Company or any of its subsidiaries, its parent
company or any subsidiary of its parent company was
a party and in which a director of the Company or his
connected entities had a material interest, whether
directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or
at any time during the year.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION AND
INSURANCE

The Company’s articles of association provides that every
director or other officer of the Company shall be entitled
to be indemnified out of the assets of the Company
against all losses or liabilities incurred or sustained by
him as a director or other officer of the Company in
defending any proceedings, in which judgment is given
in his favour, or in which he is acquitted. Such permitted
indemnity provision is in force during the year ended
31 March 2024 and at the date of this annual report.

The Company has arranged appropriate directors’ and
officers’ liabilities insurance coverage for directors and
officers of the Company.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Save for the share option scheme described above, the
Group has not entered into any equity-linked agreements
during the year.

EFENXB RSNz

ERBHEEAMBLRAR -EBATRNEE
REZEAM B AR TSI L B AREEESR
B BRARREENHBAEEENRERE
BREEEAEARTMNAFEETEZA
HAFEREFBFEDAERZEMERR
P RHEEA -

TR E RS R R

FABZEABERMURE  xRBRESR
REHMSRBEAEEEATEETREE
BRERBDEFHHEHMSRBETEAIBFN
EHERZEARARPETRRMEERR
RZ-UVBEXHEFESHE-RKBE_Z
_HWE=A=+—HLEFEARNRKEERH
i AREEFRERX—EAR -

FAANERAFATNEFRBRBEABEEE
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MANAGEMENT CONTRACT

No contract for undertaking the management and
administration of the whole or any substantial part of
any business of the Company was entered into or existed
during the year.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the year, the five largest customers of the Group
accounted for about 67% of the turnover of the Group
and the largest customer is an independent third party,
accounted for about 40% of the turnover of the Group.
Aggregate purchases for the year ended 31 March 2024
attributable to the Group’s five largest suppliers were less
than 30%.

None of the directors, their respective close associates,
or any shareholders (which to the knowledge of the
directors own more than 5% of the Company’s issued
shares) has any interest in the five largest customers and
suppliers of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2024.

RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEMES

The Group strictly complies with the requirements of the
Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance in making
mandatory contributions for its staff. Details of charges
relating to the retirement benefits schemes are set out in
note 42 to the consolidated financial statements.

116

BESY

RER> XRBLET UK FEEAERE
AEEMHEFEAETEZRIEBZEER
THREH-

FEERRMERS

RER ZEBZAAREEEAEEEEE
467% MBRABRABILE=FH HE-ER
EEENA% BE_E_NE=BA=+—
HIEEE  AEBRRAKHEEEEGLIXERE
Di230% o

BE_ZE_ME=A=+—HLFE HE
EX HNEIBZEZEEHMBANEFRR (i
EZABEAEARAREREITRAS%UL) i
FEBAARERREEEFESETER-

BRERIETE
A B RIS TR A S S BIEG 24

T mEE S 1FH 3 H 1 AR - B RRAEF
stEIEF BRI ARG MR RM 420

HANISON CONSTRUCTION HOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2023/2024



REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS i ¥ & i 1 &

DISCLOSURE UNDER RULE 13.22 OF RiE EHRAE13.22F(EH 2
LISTING RULES =

The financial assistance to affiliated companies of the R-E_WNE=RA=+—H AL QEZH
Company, and guarantees given for banking facilities BABIRHZMFEMAABETRLYTERY
granted to affiliated companies of the Company named HZAATZHBATIZRITRHEEL ZIE
in the first column in the table below, in aggregate  {RAZZEAYA B £3,082,000,0007T » HAEER
amounted to approximately HK$3,082,000,000 which AT ZHEEELL9.5%  BREFIBENT ¢
represented approximately 49.5% of the total assets of

the Company at 31 March 2024. Details of which are as

follows:
Total amount of financial
assistance given to,
committed capital injection
to and guarantees given
for facilities granted to,
Company'’s affiliated company
equity interest mEEBARRMZ
in affiliated MEEM - AERHBAT
company {FHZFBERMIR THEBAE
P/ /N ZREBE(FH 2 (R4EER
REBAR HK$000
Name of affiliated company HMEARLTE Z BGHE EEFr
Great Splendor Enterprises Limited Great Splendor Enterprises 50% 250,000
(“Great Splendor”) Limited (T Great Splendor J) (Note 1)
and its subsidiaries REWBAE (H1z£1)
Flourishing Stable Limited BREFRAF (MBER)) kH 50% 1,000,000
(“Flourishing Stable”) & 2 B (Note 2)
and its subsidiaries (Hiz£2)
Hounor Advent Limited ERARLE (MBHR) KHE 50% 535,000
("Honour Advent”) MEAT (Note 3)
and its subsidiaries (H15£3)
Protic Limited (“Protic”) EEERAT (MEE) 50% 500,000
(Note 4)
(Hfzt4)
Esteemed Virtue Limited WEARAE (ME]) RE 50% 160,000
("Esteemed Virtue") B AT (Note 5)
and its subsidiaries (H1525)
Excess Wonder Limited ZHERAE (125) hE 50% 637,000
("Excess Wonder") B AT (Note 6)
and its subsidiaries (Ht:te)
3,082,000
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Notes:

118

The total capital commitment shall be contributed by
the Group in proportion to its equity interest in the joint
venture in respect of any funding need arising from any
payment obligation of the Great Splendor concerned.

The total capital commitment shall be contributed by
the Group in proportion to its equity interest in the joint
venture in respect of any funding need arising from any
payment obligation of the Flourishing Stable concerned.

The total capital commitment shall be contributed by
the Group in proportion to its equity interest in the joint
venture in respect of any funding need arising from any
payment obligation of the Honour Advent concerned.

The total capital commitment shall be contributed by
the Group in proportion to its equity interest in the joint
venture in respect of any funding need arising from any
payment obligation of the Protic concerned.

The total capital commitment shall be contributed by
the Group in proportion to its equity interest in the joint
venture in respect of any funding need arising from any
payment obligation of the Esteemed Virtue concerned.

The total capital commitment shall be contributed by
the Group in proportion to its equity interest in the joint
venture in respect of any funding need arising from any
payment obligation of the Excess Wonder concerned.

Bk -

B RGreat SplendorFmiFE AR BEELE
ZEAEEEEERRELEZRERS
S RELLABEEAERHE-

ERBRERRSEAMREETEEZERNES
REZENKERERZANSEREZR
LA AEREE-

ERBBASEAMREETEEZERNES
REZENKERERZANSEREZR
LA AEREE-

ERBERASEAMREEEEZERNES
REZENKERERZANSEREZR
LA AEREE-

ERSEASEAMREEEEZERNES
REZENKERERZANSEREZR
RLLPImAEREE-

BERZHEMSEAMREEEEZERNES
REZENKERERZANSEREZR
LA AEREE-
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The proforma combined statement of financial position

B ARNR _E_MNE=RA=+—HZ

of the above affiliated companies at 31 March 2024 is as HEZSHMBRRARNOT :
follows:
HK$'000
EMETFT
Current assets REEE 3,173,737
Current liabilities nEaE (4,015,414)
Non-current assets ERHEE 599,615
Net liabilities BEFE (242,062)
DONATIONS =B

During the year, the Group made charitable and other
donations amounting to HK$281,600 (2023: HK$268,400).

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the
Company and within the knowledge of its directors, as
at the date of this report, the Company has maintained
sufficient public float of not less than 25% of the number
of the Company’s issued shares as required under the
Listing Rules.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provision for pre-emptive rights under
the Company’s articles of association, or the laws of
the Cayman Islands, which would oblige the Company
to offer new shares on pro-rata basis to existing
shareholders.

RER ZEBEFHESREMBEFERE
281,6007C (ZE =4 : #1£268,4007T) ©

RFARFFRE
REFABDMEGZABENRAFARAES
A RAREEZ AE AARBRELS

RAUBEMHIFTAR LN ERBT EEHTRIDEE
5% B ARIFRE o

B {5 {8 S sB BB 1
AT Z BB EFR4ME S B 2 B B4 i
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AUDITOR

A resolution will be proposed at the forthcoming annual
general meeting of the Company to re-appoint Messrs.
Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu as auditor of the Company.

On behalf of the Board

Wong Sue Toa, Stewart
Managing Director
28 June 2024
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Deloitte

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF
HANISON CONSTRUCTION HOLDINGS LIMITED
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of
Hanison Construction Holdings Limited (the “Company”)
and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the
“Group”) set out on pages 130 to 262, which comprise
the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31
March 2024, and the consolidated statement of profit
or loss, consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income, consolidated statement
of changes in equity and consolidated statement of
cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the
consolidated financial statements, including material
accounting policy information and other explanatory
information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give
a true and fair view of the consolidated financial position
of the Group as at 31 March 2024, and of its consolidated
financial performance and its consolidated cash flows
for the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs") issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
("HKICPA™) and have been properly prepared in
compliance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance.

=2

HHANISON CONSTRUCTION HOLDINGS
LIMITED (5812 1ZERER AT 2EKRE
(REEEEFMBE LT ZHRLE)

BER

AIZEE (U THBIEM) BB H
MR 130E5%262EHanison Construction
Holdings Limited (SER5EIZ2ZERBRRAR)
UATEBIEAT) REMBRAE A T4H
e TEEE)) WREMBRE ILIHFERR
BER_S_NE=B=1+—HWNEEHHE
RAREEEZHEFENFEERER 7
FREREMEZEKRER SKEEREFR
MiFEREMERUAKEESMBRRM T
BIEEAGTBRENREMBEEZE -

BARD ZFEaMBRREREETES
S AERMH(EEMBREENIESR
MmPEtRRTY SEER"T_MNE=A
=+—BNREMBRAABEZALEE
NREMBRERGEREMNE LEBR
BER(REFRA) IRBEERZ A EHE -
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BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA.
Our responsibilities under those standards are further
described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit
of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our
report. We are independent of the Group in accordance
with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants (“the Code”), and we have fulfilled our
other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
opinion.

KEY AUDIT MATTER

Key audit matter is the matter that, in our professional
judgement, was of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period.
The matter was addressed in the context of our audit of
the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in
forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a
separate opinion on this matter.
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KEY AUDIT MATTER (continued)

Key audit matter

HEEZEE

Valuation of investment properties

REYEZIGE

We identified the valuation of investment
properties as a key audit matter as they are
quantitatively significant to the consolidated
financial statements as a whole and the significant
unobservable inputs and significant judgements
associated with determination of the fair value.

ERREVEHREUBRRAFGEREBLEREN
REEATFESRERTAIRREABIBRREKRA
i R EYEZGER SRAREZSEE

As disclosed in note 16 to the consolidated
financial statements, the Group’s investment
property portfolio comprised commercial,
industrial and residential properties and was
stated at fair value of HK$2,743,080,000 in
aggregate, accounting for approximately 44%
of the Group’s total assets as at 31 March 2024
with a loss on change in fair value of investment
properties of HK$71,078,000 recognised in the
consolidated statements of profit or loss for the
year then ended.

AR S MBI RMNE16PTIKE > SEEKREYE
HEBEBER IXEREEVFEFEHEATESES
7#51%2,743,080,00070 0 & EEER T MNEFE=
B=1+—HBREENIMY% OFEHEZFE LR
FHEERABRSZREYE AT EEFH ZHEEEE
71,078,0007T ©

FRAREZEIE @

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

HAINEAMARERARELER

Our procedures in relation to the valuation of the
investment properties included:

BAIMRBEMEZHERITHEFEE

o Obtaining an understanding from the
Valuers and management of the Group
about the valuation approaches, significant
unobservable inputs and significant
judgements used in the valuations;
THREEMR SEEEEERFHGERFT
RZGERZE - TEFRTHERBAZHEKREKN
FI

e Assessing the accuracy of information
provided by the management to the Valuers
by comparing details of rentals on a sample
basis to the respective underlying existing
lease agreements;
BAMEREESFREERREAHENRE
1TEEE MGEHEEIEE ML EMPAT IR 2 Bk
BYZEREME ;

123

2023/20244F Hi



INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT %5 7 #% B ili ¥ 1

KEY AUDIT MATTER (continued)

Key audit matter

RRELSIIE

FABEZEIE @

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

BANE SR IERREEZEE

Valuation of investment properties (Continued)

REYFZ1L1E (B)

All of the Group’s investment properties are
measured using the fair value model based on
valuation conducted by independent property
valuers (the “Valuers”). As disclosed in note
4 to the consolidated financial statements,
in determining the fair values of the Group’s
investment properties, the Valuers applied a
market value basis which involves, inter-alia,
significant unobservable inputs and significant
judgements, representing appropriate market
rent, capitalisation rate and adjusted market price
that has taken into account of property-specific
adjustments including location and condition.
BEEEENKREYETHIRBE I EGERM (hE
B) FHZ A ERATFERRGE - HNGESHTH
BRRMFAFTRE NEE EEEREVMEZRF
B AEMEATERSE Ehii Kk (HhaiE) &
AAABERAABBNEAHE  BNEETSHHEE
BERNMEXRREAELHER (BEBEIEUERGH
EAREY 2R 2 BRBAE) -
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o Evaluating the competence, capabilities and
objectivity of the Valuers and obtaining an
understanding of the Valuers’ scope of work
and their terms of engagement; and
GG EMZAEEN AR REH M I 7 &
Bz TFSEIRREZBIFNR ; &

o Evaluating the reasonableness of significant
unobservable inputs by comparing the
market rent estimated by the Valuers against
market data or rental of existing lease,
benchmarking capitalisation rate against
market data and comparing adjusted market
price with comparable market transactions
for comparable property in similar location
and condition on a sample basis.
ERMRIERE&EMEGt zmIFHASETS
HEXREFHEZHE BEERNCXEATIS
B KRB HIHEREECU R KA Z 8]
EEBMEN A LERTIHRZ > UHEEKRRA
BxEaARENsEE-
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OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the
other information. The other information comprises the
information included in the annual report, but does not
include the consolidated financial statements and our
auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements
does not cover the other information and we do not
express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated
financial statements, our responsibility is to read the
other information and, in doing so, consider whether
the other information is materially inconsistent
with the consolidated financial statements or our
knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears
to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we
have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this other information, we are required
to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this
regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND
THOSE CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE
FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the
preparation of the consolidated financial statements
that give a true and fair view in accordance with HKFRSs
issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements
of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such
internal control as the directors determine is necessary
to enable the preparation of consolidated financial
statements that are free from material misstatement,
whether due to fraud or error.

Hthis 2
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RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND
THOSE CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE
FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (continued)

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the
directors are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability
to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable,
matters related to going concern and using the going
concern basis of accounting unless the directors either
intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or
have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for
overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR
THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the consolidated financial statements as a
whole are free from material misstatement, whether
due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report
that includes our opinion solely to you, as a body, in
accordance with our agreed terms of engagement, and
for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility
towards or accept liability to any other person for the
contents of this report. Reasonable assurance is a high
level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit
conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a
material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can
arise from fraud or error and are considered material if,
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably
be expected to influence the economic decisions of
users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial
statements.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR
THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional
skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material
misstatement of the consolidated financial
statements, whether due to fraud or error, design
and perform audit procedures responsive to those
risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
The risk of not detecting a material misstatement
resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery,
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the
override of internal control.

o Obtain an understanding of internal control
relevant to the audit in order to design
audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing
an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s
internal control.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting
policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates and related disclosures made by the
directors.

BHMMEB st iZ S MBHRRAIEN
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ZHMAMEB i S MBIRRAIERN
B @®

AUDITOR'S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR
THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (cContinued)

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’
use of the going concern basis of accounting and,
based on the audit evidence obtained, whether
a material uncertainty exists related to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are
required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to
the related disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate,
to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based
on the audit evidence obtained up to the date
of our auditor’s report. However, future events
or conditions may cause the Group to cease to
continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and
content of the consolidated financial statements,
including the disclosures, and whether the
consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation.

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence
regarding the financial information of the entities
or business activities within the Group to express an
opinion on the consolidated financial statements.
We are responsible for the direction, supervision
and performance of the group audit. We remain
solely responsible for our audit opinion.

HESRARECEGHERNBEMR
E 455 o IRIBRFTEINBY B 51 /R8> HE
EREBHFAHEFERABRAMNEAR
HEEM RRMAIEENRY S£EENF
BISERRNELERRE - MRHFIF
REEERTEEN  MALEEZK
fi¥R & RiRAERE IR AR A MBRE
FRERMIKE - REAMNKETRE
AIRFMEERRFBFRBEER AN
ihime B IR BET RS B IEFRRS N E
sHRE o AT > RERF IR BT A A2
N BEEEFEREKE-

FEFRGHBRRNBREIBA N4
BHNAE SERE URGEEHHR
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M EEBEANERENEHIFNMEE
BENTE BEMNERE  UHEK
EMBBRRERBR -RZMEE B5&
EEANARA -BEEMAT - HRMASE
AEREREEHEE

We communicate with those charged with governance
regarding, among other matters, the planned scope
and timing of the audit and significant audit findings,

PREMEBIES M ERIEEERE T 53/
Bt fE - HELHREREFZRS > €fF
KIS ST 8 A B A BB 4l B9 (E (7T B KR
including any significant deficiencies in internal control P& o

that we identify during our audit.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR
THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (cContinued)

We also provide those charged with governance with
a statement that we have complied with relevant
ethical requirements regarding independence, and to
communicate with them all relationships and other
matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence, and where applicable, actions taken to
eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with those charged
with governance, we determine those matters that were
of most significance in the audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period and are
therefore the key audit matters. We describe these
matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation
precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in
extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter
should not be communicated in our report because the
adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be
expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in
the independent auditor’s report is Lee Wing Cheong,
Wilfred.

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong

28 June 2024

BHMMEB st iZ S MBHRRAIEN
5@

HABRGEERXEHR RAKXRMETE
ERBIMRERERERER IR M
BEANEAEMKE A TR ERMBIL
MHFT ARG REMEER UkAHRRE
MR BB FRERERE 1T BV B S8 48 I (YN %@
) e

WERERBEENETEY  RMBEWES
EHRARRSUBRERNEFRRER
MENEREZEE KA RBEMEKSF
HIBEEEE [RIFEREZRAAFLREK
BEEFR HEBHEERNBERLT WRE
ERAERMARSTEERERERNEH
BREBELENATRADE  RFARETFEE
WERBBEZER

HEXBIZBMBENEFEEEBAR

=% o BIEMRA GEHEMTT
MEGETED

&%
“EWMEAAZ+HNH

129

AL 5 0 St 7 Pk A5 B 23 ) 2023/20244F $R



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS

2 I~ >
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024
HE_Z-_NE=B=1+—HILFE

2024 2023
NOTES HK$'000 HK$'000
M sE BT T BT T
Revenue WA 5 1,612,660 1,232,803
Cost of sales THE R A (1,492,805) (1,117,977)
Gross profit EF 119,855 114,826
Other income HMA 7 30,119 31,220
Other gains and losses Hih = R EsE 8 (10,325) 123,898
Impairment losses under FEHEEREERXTZ
expected credit loss model, net R {EEIEFEE 9 (88,216) (27,391)
Marketing and distribution costs TIBHEER D HER (735) (953)
Administrative expenses THRAX (116,765) (137,241)
Loss on change in fair value KREMEZ AT EEZESHZ
of investment properties 518 (71,078) (20,494)
Share of loss of an associate DMEFE R BEE (7) (16)
Share of loss of joint ventures HMEEERERE (13,077) (72,547)
Finance costs B ER 10 (65,625) (47,253)
Loss before taxation PRI AIES1E 1 (215,854) (35,951)
Taxation Ria 13 (160) (2,481)
Loss for the year KEERE (216,014) (38,432)
Loss per share BREE
Basic (HK cents) B (B 15 (19.9) (3.5)
Diluted (HK cents) s (B 15 (19.9) (3.5)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROHFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

A b I A 2 i Wt %

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024

HE-_Z-_WNE=BA=1+—HILEFE

2024 2023
—EME TEI=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT BT
Loss for the year KFEEEE (216,014) (38,432)
Other comprehensive expense:  HfhZ2E%H :
Items that may be subsequently — BIF*EEEM S EEEBm ZEE -
reclassified to profit or loss:
Exchange differences arising MEBINEBEE 2 ERERE
on translation of foreign
operations (313) (160)
Share of exchange differences of MEEE ¥ ZERELE
a joint venture (4,543) (7,197)
(4,856) (7,357)
Total comprehensive expense for ZAEEZE X H4E%E
the year (220,870) (45,789)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
B MBHIR DL &R

AT 31 MARCH 2024
RIZZ@EE=A=+—H

31.3.2024 31.3.2023
“EZOE —E-=
=—BA=+—H | =B=+—H
NOTES HK$'000 HK$'000
M 5 BT T BT T
Non-current assets EREBEE
Investment properties KEYE 16 2,743,080 3,033,980
Property, plant and equipment  ¥J¥ - ERRZHE 17 300,638 302,794
Right-of-use assets EREEE 18 4,047 1,283
Interest in an associate BE ATz R 19 - 557
Interests in joint ventures BEREZER 20 88,648 106,268
Loans to joint ventures EETEEN 21 1,036,628 1,027,814
Deferred tax assets RERIEE E 34 5,340 849
4,178,381 4,473,545
Current assets TMENEE

Properties under development BRERPZHFEME
for sale 23 1,039,000 932,000
Inventories =zE8 24 4,338 3,242
Contract assets BNEE 25 308,982 238,208

Debtors, deposits and FEWTRIE 32 & K
prepayments FETFRIE 26 94,620 105,532

Financial assets at fair value BREGRATENEZ

through profit or loss HMHBEE 27 263 405
Taxation recoverable AJiR [O]FR 18 2,001 3,814
Cash and cash equivalents BERREEE 28 441,485 399,488
1,890,689 1,682,689
Assets classified as held for sale D EAFEHELSE 29 157,050 6,600
2,047,739 1,689,289
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION & &M Bkt %

AT 31 MARCH 2024
R-ZZWFE=A=+—H

31.3.2024 31.3.2023
—E_MmFE —EC=HF
=B=+—H | =B=+—H
NOTES HK$'000 HK$'000
M sE BT T BT T
Current liabilities mEaE
Trade and other payables FE 15 TR 18 e HL fth FE < =R 1B 30 495,578 492,611
Provisions B E 31 16,470 9,008
Lease liabilities HEaE 32 3,026 1,732
Taxation payable FETRIE 20,225 16,986
Bank loans — amounts due RITEF-—MN—FR
within one year AN ENEE] 33 1,878,072 394,365
2,413,371 914,702
Net current (liabilities) assets e (BEFEE EERE (365,632) 774,587
Total assets less current liabilities 42EBERAHAME 3,812,749 5,248,132
Non-current liabilities ERHER
Bank loans — amounts due RITEF—N—F%
after one year FE{FFRIE 33 - 1,131,069
Provisions B 31 34,869 34,560
Deferred tax liabilities RERIEAE 34 6,477 6,377
Lease liabilities HEAaE 32 4,877 3,444
46,223 1,175,450
3,766,526 4,072,682
Capital and reserves BRKEE
Share capital it 35 107,307 109,629
Reserves Eqi 3,659,219 3,963,053
3,766,526 4,072,682

The consolidated financial statements on pages 130 to 262
were approved and authorised for issue by the board of
directors on 28 June 2024 and are signed on its behalf by:

Wong Sue Toa, Stewart
FittiE
DIRECTOR
EF

BI30REEF262EBIIZ R EMFHHRE 1K
EFER T _MFEANATN\BRERE
R WM TINEFAREE

Tai Sai Ho
Bit=
DIRECTOR
EE
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
fr e HEAR 2B %

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024
HE_Z-_NE=B=1+—HILFE

Attributable to owners of the Company

FRARANEE
Share-
based Treasury Property
Share  Contributed Special compensation shares  revaluation  Translation  Goodwill Accumulated
capital surplus reserve reserve reserve reserve reserve reserve profits Total
SR 13 nE
Rk BARE  BARE  MERE  ROEE  ERRE  BEEE  BEEE  EnE 3t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
ATn  BETm  BETn  AEThn  BRTm  BETn BBt B%Tm BETn BBt
(Note36)  (Note 36)
(Wsk6)  (W&is6)
At 1 April 2022 RZ2-ZFME-B 110,559 423583 21,94 7,555 - 26,554 2,186 (78) 3624138 4216438
Loss for the year REERR - - - - - - - - (38432 (3843
Exchange differences arising on translation of BEENEBELZERER

foreign operations - - - - - - (160) - - (160)
Share of exchange differences of a joint venture NMERELEZERER - - - - - - (7,19 - - (1.197)
Total comprehensive expense for the year FEERETHAE - - - - - - (1357) = (3843) (45789
Dividends paid (note 14) BZRE (1) - - - - - - - - 8971 @971
Issue of shares upon exercise of share options (note 35)  {TFBREMETZRA (H335) 610 9,991 - (1,556) - - - = = 9,045
Share options lapsed BRESY - = = (805) - - - - 805 -

Reclassification to accumulated profits upon HENERENBERER
disposal of properties - - - - - (2,865) - - 2,865 -
Repurchase of shares (note 35) iR (H35) - - - - (23,866) - - - - (23,866)

Transaction costs attributable to repurchase and ERRFEROEEZRBRE
cancellation of shares - - - - (175) - - - - (175)
Cancellation of shares (note 35) R (H35) (15400 (16372 - - 17,912 - - - - -
At 31 March 2023 KZBZ=F=A=1+-A 109,629 417,202 2194 5,19 (6.129) 23,689 (5171) (78) 3506405 4,072,682
Loss for the year REERR - - - - - - - - (601 (216018

Exchange differences arising on translation of HEBINEREEZERER

foreign operations - - - - - - (313) - - (313)
Share of exchange differences of a joint venture HMERELEZERER - - - - - - (4,583) - = (4583)
Total comprehensive expense for the year FEERATHAE - - - - - - (4,856) - (216014 (220870)
Dividends paid (note 14) BffZRS (z14) - - - - - - - - (65,136) (65,136)
Share options lapsed BRELK - - - (617) - - - = 617 o
Repurchase of shares (note 35) R (H35) - - - - (19,999) - - - = (19,999)

Transaction costs attributable to repurchase and EEREHROEEZIRARE
cancellation of shares - - - - (151) - - - - (151)
Cancellation of shares (note 35) SR (H3E35) @322 (B%) - - 262719 - - - - -
At 31 March 2024 KZB-ME=A=1+-A 107,307 393,245 21,941 4511 - 23,689 (10,027) (78) 325872 3766526
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

22 I~ AN = B =Y
HOaBERRE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024
HE-_Z-_WNE=BA=1+—HILEFE

2024 2023
“EME “EC=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT BT
Operating activities EEET
Loss before taxation P& RIES 1R (215,854) (35,951)
Adjustments for: HE
Share of loss of an associate SMEEE A EIEE 7 16
Share of loss of joint ventures DhEETEEE 13,077 72,547
Dividend income RZ B WA (5) (5)
Interest income FEWA (21,891) (21,001)
Interest expense FEXH 65,625 47,253
Depreciation of property, ME- -BREREZEZ
plant and equipment e 15,709 16,929
Depreciation of EREEEZ
right-of-use assets TE 1,752 3,455
Gain on disposal of property, HEYE -BRE K
plant and equipment g Al & (6) (17,712)
Loss on change in fair value of KREMEZ AT EES
investment properties ZE518 71,078 20,494
Write-down of properties under WRERRZHFEWE
development for sale 21,740 10,411
Loss (gain) on change in fair BREGREATERE
value of financial assets at fair ZHBEEATEE
value through profit or loss B 518 (&) 142 (59)
Reversal of write-down BEIFEMR
of inventories (17) (695)
Impairment losses under expected ~ FEHAEEEEEXTZ
credit loss model, net AERIEFEE 88,216 27,391
Gain on disposal of assets classified  HEDEAIFIELE
as held for sale and liabilities BEREADEAT
associated with assets classified EHEBEEMERZ
as held for sale BEz K= - (116,619)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS %%

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024
HE_Z-_NE=B=1+—HItFE

Bl i 1R

2024 2023
“ETMEF “ET=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT o e
Operating cash flows before EEESEHRIZ
movements in working capital EERENR 39,573 6,454
(Increase) decrease in inventories =5 (g R (1,079) 3,451
Increase in properties under BRAPZHEWEILM
development for sale (96,807) (28,300)
Decrease in debtors, deposits and FEWRFRIE S #HE K
prepayments IR IER D 11,099 39,366
(Increase) decrease in contract assets SZIEE (3E0) D (70,967) 26,983
Increase (decrease) in provisions BEEIE 0 G 7,771 (580)
Increase (decrease) in trade and P& 15 TR 18 e HL fth FE (S FRIE
other payables N Geisb) 2,967 (85,091)
Decrease in amounts due from FEUR & & 1b ERRIE R D
joint ventures - 78
Cash used in operating activities AREEER RS (107,443) (37,639)
Hong Kong Profits Tax refunded (paid) Bi&i& (B 1) FEFEM 501 (51,180)
Interest paid B E (97,558) (53,811)
Net cash used in operating activities FAREBEFE RSB (204,500) (142,630)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

2 S~
e

Bl i 1

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024
HE_Z-_WE=A=+—HIEFE

2024 2023
“EmE “ET=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT BT
Investing activities KREXE
Interest received 2F 2 2,217 1,918
Dividend received from financial EWEBEEEATE
assets at fair value through SFEZMBEEZKRS
profit or loss 5 5
Purchase of investment properties ~ HREBREYE (728) (6,601)
Purchase of property, REME BEKREZE
plant and equipment (13,621) (28,913)
Proceeds on disposal of HEREWZE
investment properties FrigskI8 63,500 74,637
Proceeds on disposal of property, HEME - -KREKR
plant and equipment R EFT1SRIE 74 20,090
Proceeds on disposal of assets HEDHAFELE
classified as held for sale and BERADEAFE
liabilities associated with assets HEBEEMERAZEaE
classified as held for sale FriS 718 6,600 285,030
Direct attributable costs paid for MEEDEAREHE
disposal of assets classified BEECENZERE
as held for sale &1 B A< - (3,774)
Loans to joint ventures EETEBEN (77,350) (142,048)
Repayment of loans to joint ventures & & ¥ EEEN - 79,739
Repayment of advances to BEAETFTEELEZRM
a joint venture - 10,000
Return of capital from an associate Bt /A 5] 2B RR 7 550 6,061
Dividend received from an associate B UHE=E AT Z RS - 4,089
Net cash (used in) from investing (B REKREXEREZ
activities REPEE (18,753) 300,233
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS %8 Bl&fias
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024
HE_Z_NE=A=+—HILEE

2024 2023
- 11 - -
HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT o e
Financing activities =
Dividends paid BfAZiRE (65,136) (82,971)
New bank loans raised HERITER 897,003 500,000
Repayment of bank loans BERITENR (544,365) (765,966)
Repayment of lease liabilities EEHREAaRE (1,789) (3,515)
Proceeds from issue of shares upon  {T{EEEIREM 21T IR 1D
exercise of share options FriS#kI8 - 9,045
Payment on repurchase of EIE S=35 A e
ordinary shares (19,999) (23,866)
Transaction costs attributable Bl R sEHR DI Z
to repurchase and cancellation R A
of share (151) (175)
Net cash from (used in) financing kB (AR MEXEHEZ
activities HE 558 265,563 (367,448)
Net increase (decrease) in cash and ~ IRERIFEEEILM (kL)
cash equivalents 3 EA 42,310 (209,845)
Cash and cash equivalents at FURERIREEE
the beginning of the year 399,488 609,330
Effect of foreign exchange EXEH B
rate changes (313) 3
Cash and cash equivalents at FRATRIREEE
the end of the year 441,485 399,488
Analysis of balances of cash and RERREEEERZ
cash equivalents: pAR g
Bank balances and cash RITHBRRIRE 441,485 399,488
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1. GENERAL INFORMATION

Hanison Construction Holdings Limited (the “Company”)
is an exempted company incorporated in the Cayman
Islands with limited liability under the Companies
Law (2001 Second Revision), Chapter 22 of the Laws
of Cayman Islands. Its shares are listed on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”).
The addresses of the registered office and principal place
of business of the Company are disclosed in the corporate
information section of the annual report.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in
Hong Kong dollars (“HK$"), which is also the functional
currency of the Company.

The Company is an investment holding company and the
principal activities of its subsidiaries are construction,
interior and renovation works, supply and installation
of building materials, property investment, property
development, provision of property agency and
management services and sale of health products.

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND
AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSS")

New and amendments to HKFRSs that are
mandatorily effective for the current year

In the current year, the Group has applied the following
new and amendments to HKFRSs issued by the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA")
for the first time, which are mandatorily effective for the
Group’s annual period beginning on 1 April 2023 for the
preparation of the consolidated financial statements:

HKFRS 17 (including
the October 2020
and February 2022
Amendments to
HKFRS 17)

Insurance Contracts

o o3 S A B

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024
HE-_Z-_WNE=BA=1+—HILEFE

1. —/REH

Hanison Construction Holdings Limited (&
BRIREZERARAR) (2B REFAEH
EEPE_+_ERRE (CEE-—F5Z
1BETHR) » ER S EEMMIL A —HERE
BRAE HRONREBMERZMARAE
(TBE3ZFr)) Lo A RBZEZMMEERE
BEEMB UGN FHRN AT E R —E
ez

REMBHREREUBEEY) BETRAEAT

ZIEEE T -

ERBAD—RKEEZERAT -HRBARZ
TEEHLHRR R REEIRE HELR
REEME MERE - MELR -PEARE
REBRFZRUHRERERZHE-

2. FRAMIREBETERMIER
SR (TEREMBRSERN)

RASFERF ERZ T REIETE
AR SR

REFE > AEEERKBHEBGFA
ERMUEN —Z_=FHA—BRKBZEE
B FEHRRAIERZ T REETE
BRBREEDN IERESHFRE .

EAMBREERE
T+t EESE-TE
+BR-ZEZZF"H
HE BRI SRS 2R
B+ (1B5T4))

REREH
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024
BE_Z_NMFE=A=+—HILEE

Amendments to HKAS 8 Definition of Accounting
Estimates

Deferred Tax related to
Assets and Liabilities
arising from a Single

Transaction

Amendments to HKAS 12

International Tax Reform -
Pillar Two Model Rules

Amendments to HKAS 12

Amendments to HKAS 1
and HKFRS Practice
Statement 2

Disclosure of Accounting
Policies

Except as described below, the application of the new
and amendments to HKFRSs in the current year has had
no material impact on the Group’s financial positions
and performance for the current and prior years and/or
on the disclosures set out in these consolidated financial
statements.

Impacts on application of Amendments to HKAS 8
"Definition of Accounting Estimates”

The Group has applied the amendments for the first time
in the current year. The amendments define accounting
estimates as “monetary amounts in financial statements
that are subject to measurement uncertainty”. An
accounting policy may require items in financial
statements to be measured in a way that involves
measurement uncertainty. In such a case, an entity
develops an accounting estimate to achieve the objective
set out by the accounting policy. The amendments
to HKAS 8 clarify the distinction between changes in
accounting estimates, and changes in accounting policies
and the correction of errors.

The application of the amendments in the current year

has had no material impact on the consolidated financial
statements.
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Impacts on application of Amendments to HKAS
1 and HKFRS Practice Statement 2 “Disclosure of
Accounting policies”

The Group has applied the amendments for the first time
in the current year. HKAS 1 “Presentation of Financial
Statements” is amended to replace all instances of the
term “significant accounting policies” with “material
accounting policy information”.
information is material if, when considered together
with other information included in an entity’s financial
statements, it can reasonably be expected to influence
decisions that the primary users of general purpose
financial statements make on the basis of those financial

Accounting policy

statements.

The amendments also clarify that accounting policy
information may be material because of the nature of
the related transactions, other events or conditions,
even if the amounts are immaterial. However, not all
accounting policy information relating to material
transactions, other events or conditions is itself material.
If an entity chooses to disclose immaterial accounting
policy information, such information must not obscure
material accounting policy information.

HKFRS Practice Statement 2 “Making Materiality
Judgements” (the “Practice Statement”) is also amended
to illustrate how an entity applies the “four-step
materiality process” to accounting policy disclosures and
to judge whether information about an accounting policy
is material to its financial statements. Guidance and
examples are added to the Practice Statement.

The application of the amendments has had no
material impact on the Group’s financial positions and
performance but has affected the disclosure of the
Group’s accounting policies set out in Note 3 to the
consolidated financial statements.

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024
BE_Z-_NE=A=+—HILFE

ERERAGHENFT RREEMBERS
ZREHRE S 2R (1E5T4) MFEER
REBEIZRE

FEERKTFEEEREAZET -EHBES
ZRE—RTHBRERZZINMETTUTERE
StERERI AT EEE BRI —ANRE
BR-HERBRMBEHERANEMER —H
ZR G BRENAUSEFRBEEYEE
BMBREANEIEERAERBEZFMHBERE
FREHBVRE » RIS BERERBEK

BZETIOEE BES RAEL REA 8
ER MR R ME Rt EERE R &
FERIITBEA AT WIEFTAREAR
5 HMEEREREMNG HHEERE
SENEEA - HEERENEEEAD
HEEEN ANENTGREEARHE
HE o

ERAMBREENEBRSE R FHE
AMEHER (TEFRE)) TFEIEET  LUERA—
BERNER P AT EEARERZ EA
R E BRI R F BT R — B g s BURAY
BEHHEMBREACSEBEAR-BEHRSEE
ENEEERKREN -

FERZEETHAEBRZMBRARREL
BEATE ERERSMBHRRIEIMH
ZAEB G BERIKE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS & & W %5 i 26 b 5k

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024
BE_Z_NMFE=A=+—HILEE

Amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not yet
effective

The Group has not early applied the following new and
amendments to HKFRSs that have been issued but are
not yet effective:
Amendments to Sale or Contribution of Assets
HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28  between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture'

Amendments to Lease Liability in a Sale and

HKFRS 16 Leaseback?
Amendments to Classification of Liabilities as
HKAS 1 Current or Non-current and

related amendments to
Hong Kong Interpretation 5

(2020)?
Amendments to Non-current Liabilities with
HKAS 1 Covenants?
Amendments to Supplier Finance
HKAS 7 and HKFRS 7 Arrangements?

Amendments to HKAS 21 Lack of Exchangeability®

L Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date
to be determined

d Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1
January 2024

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1
January 2025

The directors of the Company anticipate that the
application of all amendments to HKFRSs will have no
material impact on the consolidated financial statements
of the Group in the foreseeable future.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS & & W %% 55 22 b

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

3.1 Basis of preparation of consolidated financial
statements

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the
HKICPA. For the purpose of preparation of the
consolidated financial statements, information is
considered material if such information is reasonably
expected to influence decisions made by primary users.
In addition, the consolidated financial statements include
applicable disclosures required by the Rules Governing
the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (“Listing Rules”) and by the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements,
the directors of the Company have given careful
consideration to the future liquidity of the Group in light
of the fact that the Group’s current liabilities exceeded
its current assets by HK$365,632,000 as at 31 March 2024
and the Group has bank loans of HK$1,878,072,000 in
aggregate, which were classified as current liabilities on
the same date. Subsequent to 31 March 2024, the Group
has successfully entered into a supplemental agreement
with the bank to extend the maturity date of the Group’s
outstanding bank loan of HK$700,000,000 to 22 June
2026, of which the first instalment of HK$20,000,000
is due one year after the date of authorising of the
consolidated financial statements.
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The directors of the Company are of the opinion that,
taking into account of the unutilised and available
banking facilities, the internally generated funds of
the Group and the Group'’s ability to renew borrowing
facilities as described above, the Group has sufficient
working capital for its present requirements for the next
twelve months from 31 March 2024. Accordingly, the
consolidated financial statements have been prepared on
a going concern basis.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate
the financial statements of the Company and entities
controlled by the Company and its subsidiaries. Control is
achieved when the Company:

o has power over the investee;

° is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the investee; and

o has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an
investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there are
changes to one or more of the three elements of control
listed above.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group
obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases when
the Group loses control of the subsidiary. Specifically,
income and expenses of a subsidiary acquired or disposed
of during the year are included in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income from the date the Group gains control until the
date when the Group ceases to control the subsidiary.
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Profit or loss and each item of other comprehensive
income are attributed to the owners of the Company
and to the non-controlling interests. Total comprehensive
income of subsidiaries is attributed to the owners of the
Company and to the non-controlling interests even if this
results in the non-controlling interests having a deficit
balance.

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial
statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting
policies in line with the Group’s accounting policies.

All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income,
expenses and cash flows relating to transactions
between members of the Group are eliminated in full on
consolidation.

Interests in an associate and joint ventures

An associate is an entity over which the Group has
significant influence. Significant influence is the power to
participate in the financial and operating policy decisions
of the investee but is not control or joint control over
those policies.

A joint venture is a joint arrangement whereby the
parties that have joint control of the arrangement have
rights to the net assets of the joint arrangement. Joint
control is the contractually agreed sharing of control of
an arrangement, which exists only when decisions about
the relevant activities require unanimous consent of the
parties sharing control.
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The results and assets and liabilities of an associate or
joint ventures are incorporated in these consolidated
financial statements using the equity method of
accounting. The financial statements of an associate
and joint ventures used for equity accounting purposes
are prepared using uniform accounting policies as those
of the Group for like transactions and events in similar
circumstances. Under the equity method, an investment
in an associate or a joint venture is initially recognised in
the consolidated statement of financial position at cost
and adjusted thereafter to recognise the Group'’s share of
the profit or loss and other comprehensive income of the
associate or joint venture.

An investment in an associate or a joint venture is
accounted for using the equity method from the
date on which the investee becomes an associate or a
joint venture. On acquisition of the investment in an
associate or a joint venture, any excess of the cost of the
investment over the Group’s share of the net fair value
of the identifiable assets and liabilities of the investee
is recognised as goodwill, which is included within the
carrying amount of the investment. Any excess of the
Group’s share of the net fair value of the identifiable
assets and liabilities over the cost of the investment, after
reassessment, is recognised immediately in profit or loss
in the period in which the investment is acquired.

The Group assesses whether there is an objective
evidence that the interest in an associate or a joint
venture may be impaired. When any objective evidence
exists, the entire carrying amount of the investment
(including goodwill) is tested for impairment in
accordance with HKAS 36 as a single asset by comparing
its recoverable amount (higher of value in use and fair
value less costs of disposal) with its carrying amount.
Any impairment loss recognised is not allocated to
any asset, including goodwill, that forms part of the
carrying amount of the investment. Any reversal of that
impairment loss is recognised in accordance with HKAS
36 to the extent that the recoverable amount of the
investment subsequently increases.
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When a group entity transacts with an associate or a joint
venture of the Group, profits and losses resulting from
the transactions with the associate or joint venture are
recognised in the consolidated financial statements only
to the extent of interests in the associate or joint venture
that are not related to the Group.

Interests in joint operations

A joint operation is a joint arrangement whereby the
parties that have joint control of the arrangement have
rights to the assets, and obligations for the liabilities,
relating to the joint arrangement. Joint control is
the contractually agreed sharing of control of an
arrangement, which exists only when decisions about
the relevant activities require unanimous consent of the
parties sharing control.

The Group accounts for the assets, liabilities, revenues
and expenses relating to its interest in a joint operation
in accordance with the HKFRSs applicable to the
particular assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses.

When a group entity transacts with a joint operation in
which a group entity is a joint operator (such as a sale
or contribution of assets), the Group is considered to be
conducting the transaction with the other parties to the
joint operation, and gains and losses resulting from the
transactions are recognised in the consolidated financial
statements only to the extent of other parties’ interests in
the joint operation.

When a group entity transact with a joint operation
in which a group entity is a joint operator (such as a
purchase of assets), the Group does not recognise its
share of the gains and losses until it resells those assets to
a third party.
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Non-current assets held for sale

Non-current assets (and disposal groups) are classified as
held for sale if their carrying amount will be recovered
principally through a sale transaction rather than
through continuing use. This condition is regarded as
met only when the asset (or disposal group) is available
for immediate sale in its present condition subject
only to terms that are usual and customary for sales
of such asset (or disposal group) and its sale is highly
probable. Management must be committed to the sale,
which should be expected to qualify for recognition
as a completed sale within one year from the date of
classification.

When the Group is committed to a sale plan involving
loss of control of a subsidiary, all of the assets and
liabilities of that subsidiary are classified as held for sale
when the criteria described above are met, regardless of
whether the Group will retain a non-controlling interest
in the relevant subsidiary after the sale.

When the Group is committed to a sale plan involving
disposal of an investment, or a portion of an investment,
in an associate or joint venture, the investment or the
portion of the investment that will be disposed of is
classified as held for sale when the criteria described
above are met, and the Group discontinues the use of the
equity method in relation to the portion that is classified
as held for sale from the time when the investment (or a
portion of the investment) is classified as held for sale.

Non-current assets (and disposal groups) classified as
held for sale are measured at the lower of their previous
carrying amount and fair value less costs to sell except
for financial assets within the scope of HKFRS 9 and
investment properties which continue to be measured
in accordance with the accounting policies as set out in
respective sections.
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Revenue from contracts with customers

The Group recognises revenue when (or as) a
performance obligation is satisfied, i.e. when “control”
of the goods or services underlying the particular
performance obligation is transferred to the customer.

A performance obligation represents a good or service
(or a bundle of goods or services) that is distinct or a
series of distinct goods or services that are substantially
the same.

Control is transferred over time and revenue is
recognised over time by reference to the progress
towards complete satisfaction of the relevant
performance obligation if one of the following criteria is
met:

e  the customer simultaneously receives and consumes
the benefits provided by the Group’s performance
as the Group performs;

o the Group's performance creates or enhances an
asset that the customer controls as the Group
performs; or

o the Group’s performance does not create an asset
with an alternative use to the Group and the
Group has an enforceable right to payment for
performance completed to date.

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when
the customer obtains control of the distinct good or
service.
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024
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A contract asset represents the Group’s right to
consideration in exchange for goods or services that
the Group has transferred to a customer that is not yet
unconditional. It is assessed for impairment in accordance
with HKFRS 9. In contrast, a receivable represents the
Group’s unconditional right to consideration, i.e. only
the passage of time is required before payment of that
consideration is due.

A contract liability represents the Group’s obligation
to transfer goods or services to a customer for which
the Group has received consideration (or an amount of
consideration is due) from the customer.

A contract asset and a contract liability relating to the
same contract are accounted for and presented on a net
basis.

Over time revenue recognition: measurement of
progress towards complete satisfaction of a performance
obligation

Output method

The progress towards complete satisfaction of a
performance obligation is measured based on output
method, which is to recognise revenue on the basis of
direct measurements of the value of the goods or services
transferred to the customer to date relative to the
remaining goods or services promised under the contract,
that best depict the Group's performance in transferring
control of goods or services.

As a practical expedient, if the Group has a right to
consideration in an amount that corresponds directly
with the value of the Group’s performance completed
to date, the Group recognises revenue based on surveys
of the relevant services completed by the Group to date
as certified by independent surveyors appointed by the
customers in relation to the work completed by Group.
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Input method

The progress towards complete satisfaction of a
performance obligation is measured based on input
method, which is to recognise revenue on the basis of
the Group’s efforts or inputs to the satisfaction of a
performance obligation relative to the total expected
inputs to the satisfaction of that performance obligation,
that best depict the Group’s performance in transferring
control of goods or services.

Variable consideration

For contracts that contain variable consideration
(variation order of construction contract), the Group
estimates the amount of consideration to which it will be
entitled using either (a) the expected value method or
(b) the most likely amount, depending on which method
better predicts the amount of consideration to which the
Group will be entitled.

The estimated amount of variable consideration is
included in the transaction price only to the extent that
it is highly probable that such an inclusion will not result
in a significant revenue reversal in the future when the
uncertainty associated with the variable consideration is
subsequently resolved.

At the end of each reporting period, the Group updates
the estimated transaction price (including updating
its assessment of whether an estimate of variable
consideration is constrained) to represent faithfully the
circumstances present at the end of the reporting period
and the changes in circumstances during the reporting
period.
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Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, which are
assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time
to get ready for their intended use or sale, are added to
the cost of those assets until such time as the assets are
substantially ready for their intended use or sale.

Any specific borrowing that remain outstanding after
the related assets is ready for its intended use or sale is
included in the general borrowing pool for calculation
of capitalisation rate on general borrowings. Investment
income earned on the temporary investment of specific
borrowings pending their expenditure on qualifying
assets is deducted from the borrowing costs eligible for
capitalisation.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss
in the period in which they are incurred.

Employee benefits
Retirement benefits cost

Payments to the Group’s defined contribution retirement
benefits schemes, state-managed retirement benefit
scheme and the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme are
recognised as an expense when employees have rendered
services entitling them to the contributions.

For Long Service Payment (“LSP") obligation, the Group
accounts for the employer MPF contributions expected
to be offset as a deemed employee contribution
towards the LSP obligation in terms of HKAS 19.93(a)
and it is measure on a net basis. The estimated amount
of future benefit is determined after deducting the
negative service cost arising from the accrued benefits
derived from the Group’s MPF contributions that have
been vested with employees, which are deemed to be
contributions from the relevant employees.
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Short-term and other long-term employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits are recognised at the
undiscounted amount of the benefits expected to be paid
as and when employees rendered the services. All short-
term employee benefits are recognised as an expense
unless another HKFRS requires or permit the inclusion of
the benefit in the cost of an asset.

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to
employees (such as wages and salaries and annual leave)
after deducting any amount already paid.

Liabilities recognised in respect of other long-term
employee benefits are measured at present value of the
estimated future cash outflows expected to be made by
the Group in respect of services provided by employees
up to the reporting date. Any changes in the liabilities’
carrying amounts resulting from service cost, interest and
remeasurements are recognised in profit or loss except to
the extent that another HKFRS requires or permits their
inclusion in the cost of an asset.

Share-based payment
Equity-settled share-based payment transactions
Equity-settled share-based payments to employees and

others providing similar services are measured at the fair
value of the equity instruments at the grant date.
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The fair value of the equity-settled share-based
payments determined at the grant date without taking
into consideration all non-market vesting conditions is
expensed on a straight-line basis over the vesting period,
based on the Group’s estimate of equity instruments
that will eventually vest, with a corresponding increase
in equity (share-based compensation reserve). At the
end of each reporting period, the Group revises its
estimate of the number of equity instruments expected
to vest based on assessment of all relevant non-market
vesting conditions. The impact of the revision of the
original estimates, if any, is recognised in profit or loss
such that the cumulative expense reflects the revised
estimate, with a corresponding adjustment to the share-
based compensation reserve. For share options that vest
immediately at the date of grant, the fair value of the
share options granted is expensed immediately in profit
or loss.

When share options are exercised, the amount previously
recognised in share-based compensation reserve
will be transferred to share capital and contributed
surplus. When the share options are forfeited after
the vesting date or are still not exercised at the expiry
date, the amount previously recognised in share-based
compensation reserve will be transferred to accumulated
profits.

Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of the current
and deferred income tax expense.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit
for the year. Taxable profit differs from loss before
taxation because of income or expense that are taxable
or deductible in other years and items that are never
taxable or deductible. The Group’s liability for current tax
is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.
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Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
in the consolidated financial statements and the
corresponding tax bases used in the computation of
taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally
recognised for all taxable temporary differences.
Deferred tax assets are generally recognised for all
deductible temporary differences to the extent that it
is probable that taxable profit will be available against
which those deductible temporary differences can be
utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed
at the end of the reporting period and reduced to the
extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable
profits will be available to allow all or part of the asset to
be recovered.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets
reflects the tax consequences that would follow from the
manner in which the Group expects, at the end of the
reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying amount
of its assets and liabilities.

For the purpose of measuring deferred tax for investment
properties that are measured using the fair value model,
the carrying amounts of such properties are presumed
to be recovered entirely through sale, unless the
presumption is rebutted. The presumption is rebutted
when the investment property is depreciable and is held
within a business model whose objective is to consume
substantially all of the economic benefits embodied in
the investment property over time, rather than through
sale.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there
is a legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets
against current tax liabilities and when they relate to
income taxes levied to the same taxable entity by the
same taxation authority.
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024
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Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss,
except when they relate to items that are recognised
in other comprehensive income or directly in equity,
in which case, the current and deferred tax are also
recognised in other comprehensive income or directly
in equity respectively. When current tax or deferred
tax arises from the initial accounting for a business
combination, the tax effect is included in the accounting
for the business combination.

In assessing any uncertainty over income tax treatments,
the Group considers whether it is probable that the
relevant tax authority will accept the uncertain tax
treatment used, or proposed to be use by individual
group entities in their income tax filings. If it is
probable, the current and deferred taxes are determined
consistently with the tax treatment in. the income tax
filings. If it is not probable that the relevant taxation
authority will accept an uncertain tax treatment, the
effect of each uncertainty is reflected by using either the
most likely amount or the expected value.

Investment properties

Investment properties are properties held to earn rentals
and/or for capital appreciation.

Investment properties also include leased properties
which are being recognised as right-of-use assets and
subleased by the Group under operating leases.

Investment properties are initially measured at cost,
including any directly attributable expenditure.
Subsequent to initial recognition, investment properties
are measured at fair value, adjusted to exclude any
prepaid or accrued operating lease income.

Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair value of

investment properties are included in profit or loss for
the period in which they arise.
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An investment property is derecognised upon disposal or
when the investment property is permanently withdrawn
from use and no future economic benefits are expected
from its disposals. A leased property which is recognised
as a right-of-use asset is derecognised if the Group as
intermediate lessor classifies the sublease as a finance
lease. Any gain or loss arising on derecognition of the
property (calculated as the difference between the net
disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset)
is included in the profit or loss in the period in which the
property is derecognised.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are tangible assets that
are held for use in the production or supply of goods or
services, or for administrative purposes. Property, plant
and equipment are stated in the consolidated statement
of financial position at cost less subsequent accumulated
depreciation and subsequent accumulated impairment
losses, if any.

When the Group makes payments for ownership
interests of properties which includes both leasehold
land and building elements, the entire consideration is
allocated between the leasehold land and the building
elements in proportion to the relative fair values at initial
recognition. To the extent the allocation of the relevant
payments can be made reliably, interest in leasehold land
is presented as “right-of-use assets” in the consolidated
statement of financial position except for those that are
classified and accounted for as investment properties
under the fair value model. When the consideration
cannot be allocated reliably between non-lease building
element and undivided interest in the underlying
leasehold land, the entire properties are classified as
property, plant and equipment.
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024
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Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of
assets less their residual values over their estimated useful
lives, using the straight-line method. The estimated
useful lives, residual values and depreciation method
are reviewed at the end of the reporting period, with
the effect of any changes in estimate accounted for on a
prospective basis.

An item of property, plant and equipment is
derecognised upon disposal or when no future economic
benefits are expected to arise from the continued use
of the asset. Any gain or loss arising on disposal or
retirement of an item of property, plant and equipment
is determined as the difference between the net sale
proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and is
recognised in profit or loss.

Impairment on property, plant and equipment

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews
the carrying amounts of its property, plant and
equipment, to determine whether there is any indication
that these assets have suffered an impairment loss. If
any such indication exists, the recoverable amount of
the relevant asset is estimated in order to determine the
extent of the impairment loss (if any).

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents presented on the consolidated
statement of financial position include cash, which
comprises of cash on hand and demand deposits and cash
equivalents, which comprises of short-term (generally
with original maturity of three months or less), highly
liguid investments that are readily convertible to a
known amount of cash and which are subject to an
insignificant risk of changes in value. Cash equivalents
are held for the purpose of meeting short-term cash
commitments rather than for investment or other
purposes.
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Inventories

Properties under development for sale

Properties under development for sale which are
intended to be sold upon completion of development are
classified as current assets. Except for the leasehold land
element which is measured at cost model in accordance
with the accounting policies of right-of-use assets,
properties under development for sale are carried at the
lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost is determined
on a specific identification basis including allocation
of the related development expenditure incurred and
where appropriate, borrowing costs capitalised. Net
realisable value represent the estimated selling price for
the properties less estimated cost to completion and costs
necessary to make the sale. Costs necessary to make the
sale include incremental costs directly attributable to the
sale and non-incremental costs which the Group must
incur to make the sale. Properties under development
for sale are transferred to properties held for sale upon
completion.

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present
obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past
event, it is probable that the Group will be required to
settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate can be made
of the amount of the obligation.

The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate
of the consideration required to settle the present
obligation at the end of the reporting period, taking
into account the risks and uncertainties surrounding
the obligation. When a provision is measured using the
cash flows estimated to settle the present obligation, its
carrying amount is the present value of those cash flows
(where the effect of the time value of money is material).
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024
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Provisions for the expected cost of rectification work
under the relevant construction contracts, interior
and renovation contracts and installation of building
materials contracts, are recognised at the date of
rendering the respective contract work, at the directors’
best estimate of the expenditure required to settle the
Group's obligation at the end of each reporting period.

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised
when a group entity becomes a party to the contractual
provisions of the instrument. All regular way purchases or
sales of financial assets are recognised and derecognised
on a trade date basis. Regular way purchases or sales are
purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery
of assets within the time frame established by regulation
or convention in the market place.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially
measured at fair value except for trade receivables
arising from contracts with customers which are initially
measured in accordance with HKFRS 15 “Revenue
from Contracts with Customers”. Transaction costs
that are directly attributable to the acquisition or
issue of financial assets and financial liabilities (other
than financial assets at fair value through profit or
loss (“FVTPL")) are added to or deducted from the fair
value of the financial assets or financial liabilities, as
appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction costs
directly attributable to the acquisition of financial
assets or financial liabilities at FVTPL are recognised
immediately in profit or loss.
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The effective interest method is a method of calculating
the amortised cost of a financial asset or financial liability
and of allocating interest income and interest expense
over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is
the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash
receipts and payments (including all fees and points paid
or received that form an integral part of the effective
interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums or
discounts) through the expected life of the financial asset
or financial liability, or, where appropriate, a shorter
period, to the net carrying amount on initial recognition.

Financial assets

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial
assets

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are
subsequently measured at amortised cost:

° the financial asset is held within a business model
whose objective is to collect contractual cash flows;
and

e  the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to
cash flows that are solely payments of principal and
interest on the principal amount outstanding.

All other financial assets are subsequently measured at
FVTPL.
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024
BE_Z_NMFE=A=+—HILEE

A financial asset is held for trading if:

o it has been acquired principally for the purpose of
selling in the near term; or

o on initial recognition it is a part of a portfolio of
identified financial instruments that the Group
manages together and has a recent actual pattern
of short-term profit-taking; or

o it is a derivative that is not designated and effective
as a hedging instrument.

(i) Amortised cost and interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest
method for financial assets measured subsequently at
amortised cost. Interest income is calculated by applying
the effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount
of a financial asset, except for financial assets that have
subsequently become credit-impaired (see below). For
financial assets that have subsequently become credit
impaired, interest income is recognised by applying
the effective interest rate to the amortised cost of the
financial asset from the next reporting period. If the
credit risk on the credit impaired financial instrument
improves so that the financial asset is no longer credit-
impaired, interest income is recognised by applying the
effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount of
the financial asset from the beginning of the reporting
period following the determination that the asset is no
longer credit-impaired.

162

ETIBERT MBEEARFEER !

FERRERRNEEMBEA ; 5

s RYGEHEIARBRAEEHEEERT
RIEABEREIEFEN Z 7] 35 75
TRHES ;X

s WIMHEEMRBREA/HATAEZITET
Ho

(i) #EHRARFBUA

FBWATERERME AT UEDHERIR
MRS ENMBEE -FS WA H—
HUBEERBDVERAERAERT UG
BoMERHREERE (RTX WMBHE
EfFp -mMERBREGERENHTBEEM
=BT —HREHE MEWADHMYBEE
BIHR A ERE R RT USR58
EMBILANGERRETE  EHHBEER
BHREEERE REEEEFABHRESR
AR > BIREHARGIE R B WA T HR T
BEREABERAERAERT H#T -

ANNUAL REPORT 2023/2024



(i) Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets that do not meet the criteria for being
measured at amortised cost or fair value through other
comprehensive income (“FVTOCI”) are measured at
FVTPL.

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair value at
the end of each reporting period, with any fair value
gains or losses recognised in profit or loss. The net gain
or loss recognised in profit or loss excluded any dividend
or interest earned on the financial asset and is included in
the “other gains and losses” line item.

Impairment of financial assets and other items subject to
impairment assessment under HKFRS 9

The Group performs impairment assessment under
expected credit loss (“ECL") model on financial assets
(including trade debtors, loans to joint ventures,
amounts due from joint ventures, other receivables,
bank balances, and other items (including contract
assets, lease receivables, financial guarantee contracts
and loan commitments) which are subject to impairment
assessment under HKFRS 9. The amount of ECL is updated
at each reporting date to reflect changes in credit risk
since initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from
all possible default events over the expected life of the
relevant instrument. In contrast, 12-month ECL (“12m
ECL”) represents the portion of lifetime ECL that is
expected to result from default events that are possible
within 12 months after the reporting date. Assessment
are done based on the Group’s historical credit loss
experience, adjusted for factors that are specific to the
debtors, general economic conditions and an assessment
of both the current conditions at the reporting date as
well as the forecast of future conditions.
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The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade
debtors, contract assets and lease receivables. The Group
uses collective assessment to determine the ECL for
the trade debtors and contract assets, except for trade
debtors and contract assets receivable from departments
of The Government of Hong Kong Special Administrative
Region (“HKSAR") and credit-impaired which are assessed
for ECL individually.

For financial guarantee contracts, loan commitments
and all other instruments, the Group measures the loss
allowance equal to 12m ECL, unless when there has
been a significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition, in which case the Group recognises lifetime
ECL. The assessment of whether lifetime ECL should
be recognised is based on significant increases in the
likelihood or risk of a default occurring since initial
recognition.

(i) Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition, the Group compares
the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument
as at the reporting date with the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument as at the date of
initial recognition. In making this assessment, the Group
considers both quantitative and qualitative information
that is reasonable and supportable, including historical
experience and forward-looking information that is
available without undue cost or effort.

In particular, the following information is taken into
account when assessing whether credit risk has increased
significantly:

o an actual or expected significant deterioration in

the financial instrument’s external (if available) or
internal credit rating;
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o significant deterioration in external market
indicators of credit risk, e.g. a significant increase in
the credit spread, the credit default swap prices for
the debtor;

e  existing or forecast adverse changes in business,
financial or economic conditions that are expected
to cause a significant decrease in the debtor’s ability
to meet its debt obligations;

o an actual or expected significant deterioration in
the operating results of the debtor; and

o an actual or expected significant adverse change
in the regulatory, economic, or technological
environment of the debtor that results in a
significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet
its debt obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment,
the Group presumes that the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition when contractual
payments are more than 30 days past due, unless the
Group has reasonable and supportable information that
demonstrates otherwise.

Despite the aforegoing the Group assumes that the credit
risk on a debt instrument has not increased significantly
since initial recognition if the debt instrument is
determined to have low credit risk at the reporting date.
A debt instrument is determined to have low credit
risk if (1) it has a low risk of default, (2) the borrower
has a strong capacity to meet its contractual cash flow
obligations in the near term and (3) adverse changes
in economic and business conditions in the longer term
may, but will not necessarily, reduce the ability of the
borrower to fulfil its contractual cash flow obligations.
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For financial guarantee contracts and loan commitments,
the date that the Group becomes a party to the
irrevocable commitment is considered to be the date
of initial recognition for the purposes of assessing
impairment. In assessing whether there has been
a significant increase in the credit risk since initial
recognition of a loan commitment, the Group considers
changes in the risk of a default occurring on the loan to
which a loan commitment relates; for financial guarantee
contracts, the Group considers the changes in the risk
that the specific debtor will default on the contract.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of the
criteria used to identify whether there has been a
significant increase in credit risk and revises them as
appropriate to ensure that the criteria are capable of
identifying significant increase in credit risk before the
amount becomes past due.

(ii) Definition of default

For internal credit risk management, the Group considers
an event of default occurs when information developed
internally or obtained from external sources indicates
that the debtor is unlikely to pay its creditors, including
the Group, in full (without taking into account any
collaterals held by the Group).

Irrespective of the above, the Group considers that
default has occurred when a financial asset is more than
90 days past due unless the Group has reasonable and
supportable information to demonstrate that a more
lagging default criterion is more appropriate.
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(iii) Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more
events that have a detrimental impact on the estimated
future cash flows of that financial asset have occurred.
Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired includes
observable data about the following events:

(@) significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the
borrower;

(b) a breach of contract, such as a default or past due
event;

(c) the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or
contractual reasons relating to the borrower’s
financial difficulty, having granted to the borrower
a concession(s) that the lender(s) would not
otherwise consider; or

(d) itis becoming probable that the borrower will enter
bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation.

(iv) Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is
information indicating that the counterparty is in severe
financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of
recovery, for example, when the counterparty has been
placed under liquidation or has entered into bankruptcy
proceedings, or in the case of trade debtors, when the
amounts are over three years past due, whichever occurs
sooner. Financial assets written off may still be subject
to enforcement activities under the Group’s recovery
procedures, taking into account legal advice where
appropriate. A write-off constitutes a derecognition
event. Any subsequent recoveries are recognised in profit
or loss.
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024
BE_Z_NMFE=A=+—HILEE

(v) Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the probability
of default, loss given default (i.e. the magnitude of the
loss if there is a default) and the exposure at default. The
assessment of the probability of default and loss given
default is based on historical data and forward-looking
information. Estimation of ECL reflects an unbiased and
probability-weighted amount that is determined with the
respective risks of default occurring as the weights.

Generally, the ECL is the difference between all
contractual cash flows that are due to the Group in
accordance with the contract and the cash flows that
the Group expects to receive, discounted at the effective
interest rate determined at initial recognition. For a lease
receivable, the cash flows used for determining the ECL
is consistent with the cash flows used in measuring the
lease receivable in accordance with HKFRS 16.

For a financial guarantee contract, the Group is required
to make payments only in the event of a default by the
debtor in accordance with the terms of the instrument
that is guaranteed. Accordingly, the ECL is the present
value of the expected payments to reimburse the holder
for a credit loss that it incurs less any amounts that the
Group expects to receive from the holder, the debtor or
any other party.

For undrawn loan commitments, the ECL is the present
value of the difference between the contractual cash
flows that are due to the Group if the holder of the loan
commitments draws down the loan, and the cash flows
that the Group expects to receive if the loan is drawn
down.
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For ECL on financial guarantee or on loan commitments
for which the effective interest rate cannot be
determined, the Group will apply a discount rate that
reflects the current market assessment of the time value
of money and the risks that are specific to the cash flows
but only if, and to the extent that, the risks are taken
into account by adjusting the discount rate instead of
adjusting the cash shortfalls being discounted.

Lifetime ECL for certain trade debtors and contract
assets are considered on a collective basis taking into
consideration past due information and relevant credit
information such as forward looking macroeconomic
information.

For collective assessment, the Group takes into
consideration the following characteristics when
formulating the grouping:

° Past-due status;
o Nature, size and industry of debtors; and
o External credit ratings where available.

The grouping is regularly reviewed by the management
of the Group to ensure the constituents of each group
continue to share similar credit risk characteristics.

Interest income is calculated based on the gross carrying
amount of the financial asset unless the financial asset
is credit impaired, in which case interest income is
calculated based on amortised cost of the financial asset.

Except for loan commitments, the Group recognises an
impairment gain or loss in profit or loss for all financial
instruments by adjusting their carrying amount, with the
exception of trade debtors and contract assets where the
corresponding adjustment is recognised through a loss
allowance account.

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024
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Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the
contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire,
or when it transfers the financial asset and substantially
all the risks and rewards of ownership of the asset to
another entity.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at
amortised cost, the difference between the asset’s
carrying amount and the sum of the consideration
received and receivable is recognised in profit or loss.

Financial liabilities and equity

Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments are classified as either
financial liabilities or as equity in accordance with
the substance of the contractual arrangements and
the definitions of a financial liability and an equity
instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a
residual interest in the assets of an entity after deducting
all of its liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the
Company are recognised at the proceeds received, net of
direct issue costs.

Repurchase of the Company’s own equity instruments
is recognised and deducted directly in equity. No gain
or loss is recognised in profit or loss on the purchase,
sale, issue or cancellation of the Company’s own equity
instruments.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost
Financial liabilities, including trade and other payables,

and bank loans are subsequently measured at amortised
cost, using the effective interest method.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS & W5 2 M ak

Financial guarantee contracts

A financial guarantee contract is a contract that requires
the issuer to make specified payments to reimburse the
holder for a loss it incurs because a specified debtor fails
to make payments when due in accordance with the
terms of a debt instrument. Financial guarantee contract
liabilities are measured initially at their fair values. It is
subsequently measured at the higher of:

° the amount of the loss allowance determined in
accordance with HKFRS 9; and

e the amount initially recognised less, where
appropriate, cumulative amortisation recognised
over the guarantee period.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and
only when, the Group’s obligations are discharged,
cancelled or have expired. The difference between the
carrying amount of the financial liability derecognised
and the consideration paid and payable is recognised in
profit or loss.

4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies,
which are described in note 3, the directors of the
Company are required to make judgements, estimates
and assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets
and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other
sources. The estimates and associated assumptions are
based on historical experience and other factors that are
considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ from
these estimates.
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024
BE_Z_NMFE=A=+—HILEE

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed
on an on-going basis. Revisions to accounting estimates
are recognised in the period in which the estimate is
revised if the revision affects only that period, or in the
period of the revision and future periods if the revision
affects both current and future periods.

The following is the critical judgement, apart from those
involving estimations, that the directors of the Company
have made in the process of applying the Group’s
accounting policies and that have the significant effect
on the amounts recognised in the consolidated financial
statements.

Deferred taxation on investment properties

For the purpose of measuring deferred tax liabilities
arising from investment properties that are measured
using the fair value model, the directors of the Company
have reviewed the investment property portfolio of the
Group’s subsidiaries and concluded that the investment
properties of the Group are not held under a business
model whose objective is to consume substantially all
of the economic benefits embodied in the investment
properties over time, rather than through sale. Therefore,
in determining the Group’s deferred taxation on
investment properties, the directors of the Company
have determined that the presumption that the carrying
amounts of investment properties measured using the
fair value model are recovered entirely through sale is
not rebutted. The Group has not recognised any deferred
taxes on changes in fair value of investment properties as
the Group are not subject to any income taxes on the fair
value changes of the investment properties on disposal.
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The following are the key assumptions concerning the
future, and other key sources of estimation uncertainty
at the end of the reporting period that may have a
significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next
financial year.

Fair value of investment properties

Investment properties are carried in the consolidated
statement of financial position at 31 March 2024 at their
fair value of HK$2,743,080,000 (2023: HK$3,033,980,000)
(note 16) based on valuation of these properties
conducted by Colliers International (Hong Kong) Limited
(“Colliers™) (2023: Colliers and Jones Lang LaSalle Limited
(“JLL")), independent property valuers (the “Valuers”).
In determining the fair values of the Group's investment
properties, the Valuers applied a market value basis
which involves, inter-alia, significant unobservable inputs
and significant judgements, representing appropriate
market rent, capitalisation rate and adjusted market
price that has taken into account of property-specific
adjustments including location and condition.

In relying on the valuation report, the directors of the
Company have exercised their judgements and are
satisfied that the method of valuation is reflective of
the current market conditions. Any changes to these
assumptions, including the potential risk of any market
violation, policy, geopolitical and social changes or
other unexpected incidents as a result of change in
macroeconomic environment, changes in policy direction
and/or mortgage requirements, or other unexpected
incidents would result in changes in the fair values of the
Group’s investment properties and the corresponding
adjustments to the amount of gain or loss reported in
the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income.
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024
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Impairment losses under ECL for trade debtors and
contract assets

Trade debtors and contract assets that are credit-impaired
or receivable from departments of The Government
of HKSAR are assessed for ECL individually. The Group
uses collective assessment to determine the ECL for the
remaining trade debtors and contract assets by grouping
debtors based on the Group’s internal credit ratings.

As at 31 March 2024, the carrying amounts of trade
debtors and contract assets were HK$62,924,000
and HK$308,982,000 (2023: HK$73,173,000 and
HK$238,208,000) (net of allowance for credit losses of
trade debtors and contract assets of HK$99,000 and
HK$1,122,000 (2023: HK$286,000 and HK$929,000)),
respectively. The provision of ECL is sensitive to changes
in estimates. Details of impairment assessment are set out
in note 47.

Impairment losses under ECL for loans to joint
ventures

Management regularly reviews the impairment
assessment and evaluate the ECL for the loans to
joint ventures. Appropriate impairment allowance is
recognised in profit or loss.

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition, the Group regularly
monitors the business performance of the joint ventures.
The Group's credit risks in these balances are mitigated
through the value of assets held by the joint ventures. In
making this assessment, the loans to joint ventures are
assessed individually by the management of the Group,
based on the financial background, the risk of default
occurring on the loans to joint ventures and forward-
looking information that is reasonable, supportable and
available without undue cost or effort.
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As at 31 March 2024, the carrying amount of loans
to joint ventures was HK$1,036,628,000 (2023:
HK$1,027,814,000) (net of allowance for credit losses
of HK$135,029,000 (2023: HK$46,819,000)). Details of
impairment assessment are set out in note 47.

Write-down of properties under development for
sale

Management reviews the recoverability of the Group’s
properties under development for sale with reference to
current market environment whenever events or changes
in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of the
assets may exceed its net realisable value. The estimate
requires judgement including the consideration of
construction costs to completion based on the existing
development plans and the estimation of selling prices of
the properties of comparable locations and conditions.
Write-down for estimated irrecoverable amounts is
recognised in profit or loss when the net realisable value
is below cost. Actual realised amount may differ from
estimates or changes in facts and circumstances may
result in downward revision of estimated net realisable
value of these properties under development for sale and
additional write-down may be required.

As at 31 March 2024, the carrying amount of properties
under development for sale was HK$1,039,000,000
(2023: HK$932,000,000), net of write-down of properties
under development for sale of HK$32,151,000 (2023:
HK$10,411,000) (note 23).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024
HE_Z-_NE=B=1+—HItFE

5. REVENUE

Revenue represents the aggregate of the amounts
received or receivable from construction contracts,
interior and renovation contracts, installation of building
materials, sales of health products, provision of property

5. WA

agency and management services, and lease income from
property investment during the year, and is analysed as

2 S~
e

A 5 e 2 Bk

WATEFRBEREIRSGH
R ZEREME REERZHE VR
HYEREREERBURMEREZAE
WA B ERRIREEER > 20T ¢

SRR AMEE T

follows:
Disaggregation of revenue KA5F)
2024 2023
—ECME —EBCI=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
AT T BT T
Recognised over time: WE S R T -
Revenue from construction BETRESHOZIA
contract work 1,122,883 904,847
Revenue from interior and EMREEIREHNZWA
renovation contracts 259,022 190,219
Revenue from installation of TEBEME ZUWA
building materials 140,772 56,967
Property management services MEESERFUA
income 5,620 11,159
Recognised at a point in time: TE S ME s R BLRE S
Sales of health products BEEMZIHE 11,252 11,220
Property agency service income MEARERFBUA 1,844 3,305
Revenue from contracts KEEFEHZWA
with customers 1,541,393 1,177,717
Fixed-lease income from property MERBEZEEHEERA
investment 71,267 55,086
1,612,660 1,232,803
Geographical market: MEHE -
Hong Kong BH 1,612,660 1,232,803
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Revenue from construction contracts, interior and
renovation contracts, and installation of building
materials

The Group provides construction contract work, interior
and renovation contract work and installation of building
materials contract work under long-term contracts with
customers. Such contracts are entered into before the
services begin. The Group’s contract work enhances an
asset that the external customers control as the Group
performs. Revenue from provision of such contract work
is therefore recognised over time. The revenue from the
contract work, except for the revenue from provision of
supply and installation of building materials (without a
direct measurement of value of performance completed
to date), are recognised using output method, i.e. based
on surveys of the relevant services completed by the
Group to date as certified by independent surveyors
appointed by the customers in relation to the work
completed by the Group. The directors of the Company
consider that output method would faithfully depict
the Group's performance towards complete satisfaction
of the performance obligations in these contracts
under HKFRS 15. The revenue from provision of supply
and installation of building materials are recognised
using input method. The measures of the progress is
determined based on the proportion of specific costs
incurred to-date to the estimated total costs for each
contract.

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024
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Property management services income

The provision of property management services is
recognised over time, as the customers simultaneously
receive and consume the benefits from the Group’s
performance and the revenue is recognised over the
property management services period as time lapses.

Sales of health products

Revenue from health products is recognised at a point
in time when control of health products is transferred to
the customers, being at the point the customer purchases
the goods at the retail shop, or when the goods have
been delivered or shipped to the customers and the
customer has obtained the control of the health products
and the Group has present right to payment and the
collection of the consideration is probable.

Property agency service income

For revenue from provision of property agency service,
revenue is recognised at a point in time when customers
sign a legally binding agreement from its counterparty
and performance obligations are satisfied. Payment of
the transaction is due immediately when performance
obligations are satisfied.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS & & W %% 55 22 b
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024

Transaction price allocated to the remaining
performance obligation for contracts with

customers

The transaction price allocated to the remaining
performance obligations (unsatisfied or partially
unsatisfied) as at 31 March 2024 and 2023 and the
expected timing of recognising revenue are as follows:

NERERTFTERANNELD

718

RIZE-NERK

— & — =

_—<——

HE_Z-_WE=A=+—HIEFE

BB

E=A=+-8>

DEEFTRTRABARTHRBENETEZ
R B ERERWARNTRER BN T :

Revenue from

Revenue from

Revenue from interior and installation
construction renovation of building
contracts contracts materials
BE RHREE REBEME
BHKA BHKA WA
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BT BRI BRI

As at 31 March 2024 RZE-ZME=RA=+—H
Within one year —&ER 2,272,676 175,842 111,035

More than one year but not —FEH EERENR

more than two years 1,665,285 25,810 30,196
More than two years MEMNE 462,692 = =
4,400,653 201,652 141,231

As at 31 March 2023 RZEZ=f=H=+—H
Within one year —ER 1,024,362 273,961 140,012

More than one year but not —EL EERENR

more than two years 724,083 194,176 110,207
More than two years MEM £ 399,296 26,210 17,714
2,147,741 494,347 267,933
Other than revenue from construction contracts, interior MRERERESH KM REESHOURER

and renovation contracts, and installation of building
materials, the revenue from other segment are for
periods of one year or less. As permitted under HKFRS
15, the transaction price allocated to these unsatisfied

contracts is not disclosed.
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024
HE_Z-_NE=B=1+—HItFE

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION

The Group is organised into seven operating divisions:
construction, interior and renovation works, design,
supply and installation of building materials, sales
of health products, property investment, property
development and provision of property agency and
management services. These divisions are the basis
on which the Group reports its financial information
internally and are regularly reviewed by the executive
directors of the Company, being the chief operating
decision makers, for the purpose of allocating resources
to segments and assessing their performance.

(a) Segment revenues and results

The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue and
results by operating and reportable segment:

For the year ended 31 March 2024

6. NEEN

FEFTECERR OB/ TR BRE KK
MELRR BEEMBREF - HERZE BE
EmZHE - MERE MELXRKRYFENRE
REERBZRE - AEFARBILEFSES
BEEFEEHRNBHFER  LHERFTNT
EX (ATECERRE) THERUSRS
DERZERKRFEDERZERER -

(a) DHEWARES

UTATERREERATZ2HRIEZVAKR
FEZDMN:

 E_E_NE=RA=+—HILEEE

Property
Interior and Building Health Property Property  agency and Segment
Construction  renovation materials products investment  development  management total  Eliminations  Consolidated
NERE
BE  RBREE BEMH ERER NERE NEER RER e s EE
HK$'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000
A¥Tn BBt EBTn ERTR ERTR ERTR TR ERTR Eifn  EETn
REVENUE KA
External sales HMEE 1122883 259,022 140,112 11,252 71,267 - 7468 1612660 - 1612660
Inter-segment sales NERBMIHE 1138 34,316 2610 % 897 - 10,500 57,561 (57,561) -
Total Fb 112401 293,338 143382 1218 80,238 - 17,964 1,670,221 (57561) 1,612,660
RESULTS =]
Segment result HEER 19,540 (18,115) 2% 91 (100,965) (84,750) 16 (183957) - (183957)
Unallocated expenses FARLH (32,057)
Loss for the year FEERR (216,014)
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For the year ended 31 March 2023

Interior and Building
Construction  renovation materials

BE  REREE  BEMH
HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000
ETn  ERTn BBTR

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024
BE_Z_NF=RB=+—HILFE

BE_T_=-F=-RB=+—HLEE

Property

Health Property Property  agency and Segment

products investment development management total  Eliminations  Consolidated
NERE

BEER  WERE  MEER REE  HEE fis &8
HKSO00  HK$'000  HKS'000  HKS000  HKS'000  HK$'000  HKS'000
Eefn  EBTn  B%Tn ENTm ERTn ERTn BETn

REVENUE A

External sales HiME 904,847 190,219 56,967 11,220 55,086 - 14464 1,232,803 - 1232803
Inter-segment sales PEEBRZHE 1510 39,702 2519 97 8,971 = 57 52,916 (52,916) =
Total 3t 906,357 29,921 59,546 1,317 64,057 - 1451 1,285,719 (52,916) 1,232,803
RESULTS S

Segment result NEEH 10,330 (1,470 3 (1,218) 71,752 (86,232) 2 (6,784) - (6,784)
Unallocated expenses FAEZH (31,648)
Loss for the year TEESE (38432)

The accounting policies of the operating segments are
the same as the Group’s accounting policies described in
note 3. Segment results represent the results from each
segment without allocation of interest income earned
and administration costs incurred by head office and
the inactive subsidiaries. This is the measure reported to
the chief operating decision makers for the purposes of
resource allocation and performance assessment.

Inter-segment sales are charged by reference to market
prices.

BRENBBZ G5t BERAM 3T
EBRZEHHR R -DBEGAKREED
BEEZER URDEERNAE WA R
MEBREFCERN TR WBAB ZTHMA
KoL ERENREEZEERREZRNU
FERDERERRNEZEHN-

DEEFEBZHE2EHEFH-
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024
HE_Z-_NE=B=1+—HItFE

(b) Segment assets and liabilities

The following is an analysis of the Group’s assets and

(b) PHEEERER

UTRAEERRCERAZ2RIFZEER

liabilities by operating and reportable segment: BEDN:
31.3.2024 31.3.2023
—E_OEE —E"=

=B=+—H8 | =B=+—H
HK$'000 HK$'000
AT T BT T

Segment assets FEEEE
Construction b= 638,954 577,240
Interior and renovation B e 4E(E 168,761 134,001
Building materials EEME 90,981 64,551
Health products R Em 14,739 17,265
Property investment YMIERE 3,197,862 3,330,898
Property development YR 1,929,024 1,847,707
Property agency and management MEREBREE 31,997 37,585
Total segment assets DIEEELELE 6,072,318 6,009,247
Unallocated assets RXPEEE 153,802 153,587
Consolidated assets EEEE 6,226,120 6,162,834

Segment liabilities SEEEE
Construction fE$= 449,316 374,604
Interior and renovation 2 5 R 4 (S 36,910 31,529
Building materials BEEME 23,129 24,276
Health products BEEm 2,890 1,627
Property investment YIZERE 1,933,793 1,582,539
Property development MEZE 69 204
Property agency and management MEREREE 755 669
Total segment liabilities DEEEEEE 2,446,862 2,015,448
Unallocated liabilities xnica’ 12,732 74,704
Consolidated liabilities ZeaE 2,459,594 2,090,152

RERDERRROEDEBNER

For the purposes of monitoring segment performance
and allocating resources between segments:

e all assets are allocated to operating segments other  * FREHMREMEFCERERETE AR
than central bank balances and cash of head office E’\J‘?‘E’%%ﬁZﬁEﬁ%ﬁ%&ﬁﬁEﬁ%?
and other inactive subsidiaries and certain self-used BREYMEIN FIEEENDREELED

properties; and B/ &

 all liabilities are allocated to operating segments ~ *  FREEHREFIECEFERIEBARHE
other than other payables of head office and the MM RIBIN FREEBRETRERE
inactive subsidiaries. pak
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(c) Other information

Year ended 31 March 2024

(c)

Hith= ikl

HE_S_NE=B=1+—HLEE

HE_Z-_WE=A=+—HIEFE

Property
Interior and Building Health Property Property  agency and
Construction  renovation materials products investment development management  Unallocated ~ Consolidated
NERE
BE RiRiEE B RRER nERE EL T REE FAE ga
HK$'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HKS$'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HKS'000
AT EBTn AT AR AT ERTR BT BT AT
Amounts indluded in the measure HRNERAANEEERHA
of segment results or segment assets: bk B
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment NE BERREZINE 3716 1,575 1212 124 1,008 - 1615 6,459 15,709
Depreciation of right-of-use assets BREEEZNE 855 - - 897 - - - - 1,752
Write-down of properties under development for sale HWRSRRZFENE - - - - - 21,740 - - 21,40
Loss on change in fair value of investment properties RENEZATEEHIER - - - - 71,078 - - - 7078
Loss on change in fair value of financial assets at FVTPL BRRERATEAHZ MBEE
ZATREH R 142 - - - - - - - 1
Reversal of write-down of inventories BEESME - - - (17) - - - - (1)
(Gain) loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment HENE BRRREZ (W) B (74) - - - 68 - - - )
Impairment losses (reversal of impairment losses) BHEEREEATZ
under ECL model, net HEGE BRAEER 38 100 (229) 130 - - 83,210 - - 88,216
Interest income HISKA (1,500) (162) (1) (15) (405) (19,674) (3) (1) (21891)
Share of loss of an associate HMEHEATEGE - - - - I - - - 7
Share of loss of joint ventures HMERELEER - - - - - 13,017 - - 13077
Finance costs fIBER 51 - - 5 65522 - - - 65,625
Income tax expenses (credit) Figi%d (8%) 3,060 (@013) @) - 1,003 - 132 - 160
Additions to non-current assets (note) FEERSEE () 5,068 - - 1909 83 - 358 10,707 18,865
Interests in joint ventures RELEEE - - - - - 83,648 - - 83,648
Loans to joint ventures RELEER - - - - 235,502 801,126 - - 1,036,628
Note: Non-current assets exclude deferred tax assets, interest in Mizk: ENBEEFAORBEEREBEEE -HER
an associate, interests in joint ventures and loans to joint BZRE - FECEZEERGEREE
ventures. Ko
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024
HE_Z-_NE=B=1+—HItFE

Year ended 31 March 2023

Interior and
Construction  renovation

BE  KHREE
HK$'000 HK$'000
Egtn  EkTn

BE_Z_—F#=H=1+—HILEFE

Property

Building Health Property Property  agency and

materials products investment development management  Unallocated  Consolidated
nERE

BEME  RRER  WERE  WEER KER ANE &8
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
AETn  A%Tn  A%Tn  B%Tn  B%Tn B%Tn BETn

Amounts included in the measure FENBRERSEEERTA

of segment results or segment assets: bk
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment NE BERRBEZINE 3962 1,698
Depreciation of right-of-use assets ERREEZRE 2070 =

Write-down of properties under development forsale  MiE&Bhz HENE - =
Loss on change in fair value of investment properties RENEZATELHZER = =
Gain on change in fair value of financial assets at FVPL ~ EBEHRATEHE2HBEE

ZATEEHZ WG (59) =

Reversal of write-down of inventories BEHERA - -

Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment HENE BERREZNE (499) -
(Reversal of impairment losses) impairment losses BHEEFREATZ

under ECL model, net (BREESR) BEFEE (670) (58)

Gain on disposal of assets dlassified as held for saleand ~ HENEAREHEBERANE
liabilities associated with assets classified as held for sale A fEHEEERENAR

bl - -
Interest income FISBA (1,487) (194)
Share of loss of an associate HMEBEATEE = =
Share of loss of joint ventures HMERELESE = =
Finance costs HBER 69 =
Income tax expenses (credit) Fifgi (5%) 1,742 (659)
Additions to non-current assets (note) AEFRBEE (D) 3,680 -
Interest in an associate BEATz B - =
Interests in joint ventures REGEZEL - -
Loans to joint ventures RELEER = =

1319 170 1339 - 1795 6,646 16,929
- 1,385 - - - - 345

S S - 10411 - - 10411

= = 2049 = = = 20494

- - - - - - 59

S (149) - - (546) - (695)

S - (1S = (3920 - wm)
75 = = 28,044 = = 7391
S - (116619 - - - (116619
(106) 6) o) (19,08) ) Qo @100
S S 16 - - - 16

= = = 72547 = = 7,507

S 15 43545 3,504 - - 47253
(13) = 1219 19 113 = 2,081
S 504 7,041 - - 25134 36,559

S - 557 - - - 557

5 S - 106268 - - 106268

= -T2 80912 = - 10781

Note: Non-current assets exclude deferred tax assets, interest in
an associate, interests in joint ventures and loans to joint
ventures.

Geographical information

The Group’s revenue which is generated from
customers located in Hong Kong, the Company’s place
of domicile, amounted to HK$1,612,660,000 (2023:
HK$1,232,803,000). Accordingly, no further analysis of
the Group's revenue by geographical market based on
geographical location of customers has been presented.

Mzt : FRBEEFERELERBEE -HELQ
Bz BEREZEGREGERER

=+
o

HE R

EAEEAYUL A A HE1,612,660,0007T (=
=4 : #%1,232,803,0007T) REEH (&
REFAEME) WEF > MAEE LR RER
EZ#IBME 25 LU E TS S B R A
E—F Do
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The analysis of the Group’s non-current assets by
geographical location of assets is presented as follows
(note):

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024
HE_Z-_WE=A=+—HIEFE

FrEEFRBEERBEEZHMEBUEDN
27T (sE) -

31 3.2024 31.3.2023
“EIME —E==
=B=+—H | =B=+—H
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT BT
Hong Kong (place of domicile) BF FiEth &) 3,065,608 3,361,472
Mainland China FRE P i 70,805 83,410
3,136,413 3,444,882

Note:Interest in an associate and interests in joint ventures
are analysed by geographical location of their respective
operations.

Non-current assets excluded loans to joint ventures and
deferred tax assets.

Information about major customers

Revenue from customers of the corresponding years

Mist: MEARZEGRESEREZ D DRI
HEBESMIBUEED

FRBEEFCESELEERKIELER
MREEXRZEHN
REMEER EMBBRERBKRA10%

individually contributing over 10% of the total revenue ZEMNEEZWANT :
of the Group is as follows:
2024 2023
“EIME ==
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Customer A EFRH 640,417 515,107
Customer B ERZ 221,793 N/A @R *
Customer C ZEFRA N/A R{EFR* 195,011

The revenue is income from construction contracts within
the construction segment.

& The corresponding revenue does not contribute over 10%
of the total revenue of the Group during the year ended
31 March 2024 or 31 March 2023.

REREDEZEEGHORTZINA -

*  REEENE=ZA=t+—H™mZZT==
E_ﬁ_+ HIEEE > ¥ FEAEE WA BB
BB EREAEUA10% ©
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024
HE_Z-_NE=B=1+—HItFE

2 S~
e

A 5 e 2 Bk

7. OTHER INCOME 7. HftgA

2024 2023
—EMOEEF —F==
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT BT T
Interest income from joint ventures RESERFEZFEWA 19,674 19,083
Government grants recognised (note) B2 BFHEL (5 - 5,308
Bank interest income IRITFI S WA 2,217 1,918
Building management fee income BFEEEKRA 105 44
Dividend income from financial assets FEBEFBRATEAEZ

at FVTPL MHBEEZREKRA 5 5
Others Hith 8,118 4,862
30,119 31,220

Note:During the year ended 31 March 2023, the Group MEE : HOEL

recognised government grants in respect of COVID-
19-related subsidies, including subsidies from the
Employment Support Scheme provided by the Hong Kong

Special Administrative Region Government amounted to

HK$5,308,000.

EZET=
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8. OTHER GAINS AND LOSSES

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS % & W %5 i 26 b ok
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024
HE_ZT_NE=HA=+—HILEE

8. HfthrmRi5HA

2024 2023
“—EME “EC=H
HK$'000 HK$'000
BB BB T
Gain on disposal of assets classified as HEDEAFEFHEBERK
held for sale and liabilities associated £ #8435k &5 E R
with assets classified as held for sale  Z&@EZ W& - 116,619
Gain on disposal of property, HEVE -BERRHEZ W E
plant and equipment 6 17,712
(Loss) gain on change in fair value FiRESEATETEZ
of financial assets at FVTPL MHBEEZATEEZESH 2
(B548) Wz (142) 59
Others Hith (10,189) (10,492)
(10,325) 123,898

9. IMPAIRMENT LOSSES UNDER

9. FAHIEEGEHRIENTZRERS

EXPECTED CREDIT LOSS MODEL, NET HBEE
2024 2023
ZEZNE —F-=
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT 5T
Reversal of impairment losses AT & IER PR IR ER1E
(impairment losses), net, CREE1E) /358 .
recognised on:
Trade debtors FE U FRIE 187 482
Contract assets ENEE (193) 171
Loans to joint ventures SETEER (88,210) (28,044)
(88,216) (27,391)

Details of impairment assessment for the year ended 31
March 2024 and 2023 are set out in note 47.

LI B A W A B 28 B] 2023/20244E 3
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024
HE_Z-_NE=B=1+—HItFE

10. FINANCE COSTS 10. UHEHR
2024 2023
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Interest on bank loans RITEFZFE 97,265 53,504
Interest on lease liabilities HEaGEZHE 293 307
97,558 53,811
Less: Amount capitalised in properties i§i : ZBHFEYEZ
under development for sale BER{bEEE (31,933) (6,558)
65,625 47,253
11. LOSS BEFORE TAXATION 11. IR AIES 18
2024 2023
—EBEZNE _EFE"=
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT 5T BT 5T
Loss before taxation has been arrived [RIRATEESINMR Gt A) :
at after charging (crediting):
Salaries and other benefits HEREMET] 218,966 222,977
Retirement benefits scheme BRIREF B
contributions 16,889 16,417
Staff costs incurred (including BEEZEIRA
directors’ remuneration) (BIEEEMD) 235,855 239,394
Depreciation of property, plant and ME -BERREZINE
equipment 15,709 16,929
Less: Depreciation expenses included in & : B ERHEREZINES H
the cost of sales (956) (739)
14,753 16,190
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024
HE_Z-_WE=A=+—HIEFE

2024 2023
—EIME TEBI=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT AT
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEEZITE 1,752 3,455
Less: Depreciation expenses included in & : BN HEREZIFES H
the cost of sales (1,082) (2,284)
670 1,171
Auditor's remuneration ZEEMEN = 3,670 3,600
Contract costs recognised as expenses &#IH AR A H 1,457,043 1,087,496
Costs of inventories recognised as FERAERAZH
expenses 23,548 18,198
Reversal of write-down of inventories (0] 77 & Hif 5 (17) (695)
Write-down of properties under MRERPZHFEME
development for sale 21,740 10,411
Gross rental income under operating AETHERSURALEEE
leases on:
Investment properties KEYE (71,267) (55,086)
Less: Direct operating expenses B HEEENERLSESH
arising from leasing 18,531 9,695
(52,736) (45,391)
Expenses included in cost of sales: BERHEEREFRNZZE !
Short-term leases expense in respect of HRAMEK&i%23 >~ SHITHE
plant and machinery T 10,193 9,955
BUB A PR A R A W) 20232024568 189
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024
HE_Z-_NE=B=1+—HItFE

12. DIRECTORS’ AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID
EMOLUMENTS

(i) Directors’ emoluments

Directors’ remuneration for the year, disclosed pursuant
to the applicable Listing Rules and Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance and the emoluments paid or payable to each

of the nine (2023: eight) directors were as follows:

For the year ended 31 March 2024

12.EFRABEEHFALHE

() EFM=
REFE - REBEBZ LHRAUKREEBAT

ROARBEZEEMNE  RENHENTFNLA
“EBECZF N\ EEZEZMENT

BE_T_NMF=A=+—HLEE

ItE  gtR  AEE it
HKS000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000
ARTn ERTn  ABTm  ERTR

Executive directors (Note a) Non-executive directors (Note b) Independent non-executive directors (Note ¢)
$i7E3 (Wita) SFATES (Hitb) BUFHITES (Hske)
Wong Cha Mou Lam Lau  Chan Fan
Sue Toa, Tai  ChowKa Daid, Chat Chan  TzeYiu,  Cheong, Sun Total
Stewart  Sai Ho Fung  Subtotal  Johnson Yu  Subtotal  PakJoe Peter Tony'  Tailun* Subtotal emoluments

BliE  HEF Nt REE BHR O REE ARR
HKS000  HKS000  HKSO00  HKS000  HKSO00 ~ HKS000  HKSQ00  HKS000  HKS'000
ERTn RETn ENTn RRTn BT ERTn ARTn BT ERTR

Fees ik - - - - 4,000 150 4150 350 350 334 m 1,25 5401
Other emoluments Rthie
Salaries and other benefits EeRafhEl 390 240 1701 8,151 - - - - - - - - 8151
Performance related incentive payments (note d) TieRRIREE (Witd) 450 2250 1,500 8,250 - - - - - - - - 8,250
Retirement benefits scheme contributions BRI 59 34 55 123 - - - - - - - - 1283
9,054 5114 3,456 17,624 4,000 150 4150 350 350 334 m 1251 23,025
E—E = =+4+—
For the year ended 31 March 2023 _EC=HF=RE=+—HLEE
Executive directors (Note a) Non-executive directors (Note b) Independent non-executive directors (Note ¢)
A1TEE (Wia) FEATES (3tb) BUEATES (ko)
Wong Cha Mou Lau
Sue Toa, Tai  ChowKa Daid, Lam Chan  TzeYiy, Sun Total
Stewart Sai Ho Fung  Subtotal  Johnson  ChatYu  Subtotal Pak Joe Peter Tailun  Subtotal emoluments

ItE  HEE BEE
HKS000  HKS'000  HKS'000

i BEE HET Nt REE AFE HAR UG
HKS000  HKS000  HKS000  HKSO00  HK§000  HKSOOD  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000

EiTn  EBTn  EBTn  ERfn  ERTn  ERTn ERTn  BMTh ERTn ERTn EETn ERTn

Fees g = = = = 4,000 150 4,150 350 350 350 1,050 5,200

Other emoluments At
Salaries and other benefits HERAMER 37 231 1,620 7764 - = = = = = = 7764
Performance related incentive payments (note d) TERREES (Hitd) 11,200 5,600 3,630 20430 - - - - - - - 20430
Retirement benefits scheme contributions BB 566 356 pLE] 1165 - - - - - - - 1,165
15,538 8328 5493 29359 4,000 150 4,150 350 350 350 1,050 34559

Dr. Chan Fan Cheong, Tony was appointed as an
independent non-executive director of the Company on 18
April 2023.

@ Dr. Sun Tai Lun retired as an independent non-executive
director of the Company on 14 November 2023.

: BREEHIHN_S=FNA+/\BEZF
AEABBILIERITES -

* BAREINRIZZ=£+—HB+WARE
ERABBUFRITES
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Notes:

(@)

(b)

()

(d)

The executive directors’ emoluments shown above were
for their services in connection with the management of
the affairs of the Company and the Group.

The non-executive directors’ emoluments shown above
were for their services as directors of the Company and the
Group.

The independent non-executive directors’ emoluments
shown above were for their services as directors of the
Company.

The performance related incentive payments are
determined based on the performance of the individual
and the Group's performance and profitability for the
year.

There was no arrangement under which the directors
waived or agreed to waive any emoluments for both
years.

During the years ended 31 March 2024 and 2023, no
emoluments were paid by the Group to any directors as
an inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as
compensation for loss of office.

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024
BE_Z-_NE=A=+—HILFE

Bk -
(a) LiITEEMEAEBREHAATRAE

EEEEHRBEARM-

(b) ERIFMTEEMSARSEARADRE
EEEEZ RS-

(0 LERBIFATEENEAREFR/ERE
EEZRB-

(d) ITFRREZEBSERBZFENBAZRR
RAEEEZZERBFBENMETE

RmEFE TEEARNESREAFDERE
BN =R LBk

REBEE_S_NER_S_=F=A=1+—
HIEEE  AERTERERAEZESZ(GME
EASBEMARNEB N MALER Z42E
B EE
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(i) Five highest paid individuals (i) AHRBRESHAT

During the year ended 31 March 2024, the five highest REEZZ-_NE=B=+—HILEE A
paid individuals included four directors and one %HZREFATEENLEER—%ES (Z
employee (2023: four directors and one employee). The ZTZ=F:ULEEKR—%ES) -Hif—%
emoluments of the remaining one employee (2023: one BE (CTEZ=F . —%ES) ZMEWNT :
employee) were as follows:

2024 2023
—EZMEF —E°=
HK$'000 HK$'000

AT AETT

Salaries and other benefits HEREMEF 1,709 907
Performance related incentive payments T {ERIFIEES 270 600
Retirement benefits scheme contributions 3R KEF 5+ 2k 162 136
Other (note) EH1th (M%) - 3,335

2,141 4,978

Note:The amount represent one-off ex-gratia payment and is Mzt ZeBEA—RUERFEESMNR EEREH
given to recognise his contribution to the Group. HAEBBNEE -

The emoluments of the employee were within the BEZMEEBR TR :
following bands:

2024 2023
ZEIME ZEI=F
Number Number
of employee of employee
BEHE BEHE
HK$2,000,001 - HK$2,500,000 A& 1%2 000,001 7T—
78 #2,500,0007T 1 -
HK$4,500,001 - HK$5,000,000 784,500,001 —
7515,000,0007T - 1
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024
HE_Z-_WE=A=+—HIEFE

13. TAXATION 13. 1R\

2024 2023
—EME —E-=
HK$'000 HK$'000
BB BT T
Hong Kong Profits Tax BEANER

Current year KEE 3,741 1,762
Underprovision in prior years BEFERERE 810 953
4,551 2,715
Deferred taxation (note 34) EERR IR (F5E34) (4,391) (234)
160 2,481

Hong Kong Profits Tax for both years is calculated
at 16.5% of the estimated assessable profits for the
year, except for the group entity which is a qualifying
corporation under the two-tiered profits tax rates
regime. For this group entity, the first HK$2 million of
assessable profits are taxed at 8.25% and the remaining
assessable profits are taxed at 16.5%.

MEEENEBFRIREEEHEEGTHRE
BRI T Z216.5% 51 & > B K M 4R HIFIS
MEEETHNAEREBNEESERI
MZEBEERMS > 5E 412,000,000t
FESRIR B F IR IR KB8.25% M > sr T FEEM

g A BRI 16.5% R
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Taxation for the year can be reconciled to the loss before

taxation per the consolidated statement of profit or loss il

as follows:

“in

FERBRES

A 5 e 2 Bk

B R Z BRI A0S IR AR

2024 2023
ZEZME ZE=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT BETT

Loss before taxation PRIRAIES1E (215,854) (35,951)
Tax at the domestic income tax rate of %Z<HFFIEIRIRE16.5%

16.5% (2023: 16.5%) (ZBEZ=5:165%) 2MEA (35,616) (5,932)
Tax effect of share of loss of SEBEATBIEZRBEEE

an associate 1 3
Tax effect of share of loss of joint PMEEECEBEZRBERE

ventures 2,158 11,970
Tax effect of expenses not deductible RRFFAHEAATIFHZZH

for tax purpose ZIRBRE 32,625 21,776
Tax effect of income not taxable for RIRFHEBERRZIWA

tax purpose ZIRBEE (5.615) (30,506)
Utilisation of tax losses previously EERA LA RER ZRIBEIE

not recognised (788) (2,117)
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised KRR ZIRBEIEZ REFE 6,585 6,009
Tax effect of different tax rates of M A BN EM B A E&EE

subsidiaries operating in other HNABRMEZMBLE

jurisdictions - 325
Underprovision in prior years BEFERERE 810 953
Taxation for the year FERIE 160 2,481
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14. DIVIDENDS 14. 2
2024 2023
—EOEE —E"=
HK$'000 HK$'000
BB BB T
Dividends recognised as distribution ~ FRERRADIRKZKESWT :
during the year:
2024 first interim dividend “EINEF-RFHHKRE
— HK1.0 cent per share — 8 RHEE1.01UL
(2023: 2023 first interim dividend (CBI=HF . Z8°=F
- HK2.5 cents per share) F—RPHARE
—@H{z‘%ﬁmz 541L) 10,731 27,692
2023 second interim dividend TEI=FFIRHHEKRE
- HK5.0 cents per share — &g A HEs.01l
(2023: 2022 second interim B . ZEC
dividend — HK5.0 cents per share) BEIRPHRE—
’éﬂ&%*ﬁ%s.om 54,405 55,279
65,136 82,971

No second interim dividend was proposed by the board ZAABRNEFZEMARBREBE_T_HF

of directors of the Company for the financial year ended =B=+—HLEMBEEZE_RFHARE
31 March 2024 (2023: second interim dividend of HK5.0 (CE_=F B2 RTE_RTHPRES
cents per share was proposed). B A& #5011 ©
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15. LOSS PER SHARE

The calculation of the basic and diluted loss per share for
the year attributable to owners of the Company is based

on the following data:

15. SR E518

EREEEANEBLTFESRELSRBEE
BILREBUTEESE

2024 2023
“EE ZEI=%F
HK$°000 HK$'000
BT AT
Loss 518
Loss for the purpose of basic and RUGTESRERNKEE
diluted loss per share E51EEE (216,014) (38,432)
2024 2023
ZEME —E-=
‘000 ‘000
TFh& TR
Number of shares K& E
Weighted average number of RUGTESRER KIS ERIER
ordinary shares for the Purpose of EERMETSH
calculating basic and diluted loss per
share 1,083,897 1,104,784

The weighted average number of ordinary shares for the
purpose of calculating basic and diluted loss per share for
the year ended 31 March 2024 and 2023 has taken into
account the ordinary shares repurchased from the market
during the respective year.

During the years ended 31 March 2024 and 2023, the
computation of diluted loss per share does not assume
the exercise of all of the Company’s outstanding share
options as their assumed exercise would result in a
decrease in loss per share.
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16. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

The Group leases out various offices, service apartments,
warehouses and retail stores under operating leases
with rentals payable monthly. The leases of offices and
warehouses contain lease payments that are fixed over
the lease term. The leases typically run for a fixed period
of one to four years (2023: one to four years).

The Group is not exposed to foreign currency risk as
a result of the lease arrangements, as all leases are
denominated in the respective functional currencies
of group entities. The lease contracts do not contain
residual value guarantee and/or lessee’s option to
purchase the property at the end of lease term.

For the year ended 31 March 2024, HK$240,000 (2023:
HK$240,000) was paid for leased properties under sub-
leases.

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024
BE_Z-_NE=A=+—HILFE

16. IREWHE

AEBRBELEHERHESERAE RS
ARAB - BERTEEH HeBARAS o
MAEREENHEESSRAHRNEENE
ENR-AAN—REEAH—ENEF (ZF
—=F . —FENEF) o

AEBELAREELHEMARZINE R >
RARFAERENUEESERZINEGR
SHE-HESHNIT RS FRGREEERR
SAEARERERFEEY ERIERE-

BE_ZE_NE=HA=+—HLEE 9
TE FYFE B % B & (48 15240,0005T (&
=4 : #1%240,0007T) °
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024
HE_Z-_NE=B=1+—HItFE

2024 2023
ZEFEIME —E-=
HK$’000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
FAIR VALUE YNSSIE]
At the beginning of the year FH 3,033,980 3,140,000
Additions nNE 728 6,601
Change in fair value NEEEH (71,078) (35,884)
Disposals HE (63,500) (74,637)
Transfer to assets classified as held for EBENEAFEHESE
sales (note 29) (HF5E29) (157,050) (2,100)
At the end of the year F£XR 2,743,080 3,033,980

All of the Group’s property interests held under
operating leases to earn rentals or for capital
appreciation purposes are measured using the fair value
model and are classified and accounted for as investment
properties.

The Group engages third party qualified valuers to
perform the valuation. The management works closely
with the qualified external valuers to establish the
appropriate valuation approaches and inputs to the
model. The management reports the findings to the
board of directors of the Company every half-year to
explain the cause of fluctuations in the fair value of the
property.

In estimating the fair value of the property, the highest
and best use of the property is the current use.

FEBFRARBEEREFAFERIVES
BRBERRZYERRERATERER
SHEN D ERARSREYE-

rERERE = A AERMGEMETEHE
EEBASERINBEEMBIISE &%
BRAIBENGEELT EZRBARE -1
BE¥FRERPNEFTTREREER &
BYEQATFERBNRE -

REHMENATER WL BSRRE
AR AEREER -
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The fair values of the Group’s investment properties
at 31 March 2024 have been arrived at on the basis of
a valuation carried out on that date by Colliers (2023:
Colliers and JLL), independent property valuers not
connected with the Group. The Valuers have appropriate
qualifications and recent experience in the valuation of
similar properties in the relevant locations. The valuation
of properties amounting to HK$1,193,000,000 (2023:
HK$1,284,000,000) was arrived at by reference to market
evidence of transaction prices of similar properties, with
adjustments on adopted market prices. The valuations of
other properties amounting to HK$1,550,080,000 (2023:
HK$1,749,980,000) were arrived at by reference to the
income capitalisation method which is based on the
capitalisation of the net income potential by adopting
an appropriate capitalisation rate, which is derived
from analysis of sale transactions and interpretation of
prevailing investor requirements or expectations.

Summary of fair value hierarchy and Level 3 fair
value measurements

All investment properties of the Group are valued by
reference to a Level 3 fair value measurement.

There are no transfers between different levels within
the fair value hierarchy during both years.

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024
BE_Z-_NE=A=+—HILFE

EBZREYEN _S_NE=/A=+—
BZAFENHAKRER L BEEZRIL
MEGEASH (CE=ZF . 5HkfHE
BiT) mzBzhEBEE HEMAGSE
BERENCHESEHEAMERREMEE
THE- 2ETRAEYEZTERZERGEE
(EHERMATEELBAE) 2MEEE
2 781£1,193,000,0007c (B - =4F : B
1,284,000,0007T) ° IRAWABTEAR S X
HEZHEMYEEE %A 1,550,080,0007T
(ZZ =4 : #81,749,980,0007T) - It/
FERRBRMAESHNERCEERRBETERA
FHEEELAL ERHEERZAMNER
REEZBRNTEHRHRAIMSBRER

AT ESBRBE=BRRATEAEZRE
FrEEMBKREMENDSEF=RAFE
EfffEe

RmfEEERLEATESRERBDRB
Ve
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HE_Z-_NE=B=1+—HItFE

Level 3 valuation methodologies

Below is a table which presents the significant

unobservable inputs:

o 13 WV B 2 B

P —

BZREESE

TREVNERFAERBAEEH .

Investment properties | Valuation method Fair value Significant unobservable inputs (Note a)
REME fhfERsE NYE EXTTRRBAZY (Ha)
Adjusted market price per square foot (Note b)
RRENETHRHE (H&b)
Commercial Direct comparison method HK$673,000,000 HK$17,742
BRI (2023: HK$760,000,000) (2023: HK$17,900 - HK$19,499)
7 1%673,000,00070 BT, 7827
(ZFZ=% : ¥760,000,00077) (ZBZ=F BH17,9007—%%19,4997)
Residential Direct comparison method HK$517,000,000 HK$18,859
ftE ERERE (2023: HK$521,000,000) (2023: HK$19,005)
7 1517,000,0007 18,8597
(ZEZ=F 1 A1521,000,0007) (ZBZ=% 1 #%19,0057)
Industrial Direct comparison method HK$3,000,000 N/A
1% BRiEE (2023: HK$3,000,000) (2023: N/A)
13,000,000 TBE
(ZEZ=F: %13,000,0007) (CEZ=ZE:7ER)
Significant unobservable inputs (Note a)
EXTTRRBAZY (Hia)
Investment properties | Valuation method Fair value Capitalisation rate Monthly market rent
(per square foot)
BENg Eh AP BAfbiE AT RS (BTHR)
Commercial Income capitalisation HK1,550,080,000 3.0%-4.5% HK$14.0 to HK$60.0
approach (2023: HK$1,739,780,000) (2023: 2.8% - 4.5%) (2023: HK$14.0 to HK$66.5)
WABRIEHE A1,550,080,0007 3.0%—45% A14.07—- #%60.070
(CBZ=%8%1,739780,0007) | (CBEZZF:28%—45%) (ZEZ=F . BH10.07—BM66.57)
Industrial Income capitalisation N/A N/A N/A
1% approach (2023: HK$10,200,000) (2023:3.0%) (2023: HK$15.9)
WABRIEHE TER TER ER
(ZZZ=4 1 B10,200,00070) (CEZ=F:30%) (CBZZE  B¥1597)
Notes: Mk -

(@) The relationship of unobservable inputs to fair value are (i)
the higher the capitalisation rate, the lower the fair value;
(ii) the higher the market rent, the higher the fair value;
and (iii) the higher the adjusted market price, the higher

the fair value, vice versa.

(b) Adjusted market price has taken into account of property-

specific adjustments including location and condition.
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HE_Z-_WE=A=+—HIEFE

17. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 17. ¥ -BER=E
Leasehold Furniture
land and Plant and and Leasehold Motor
buildings ~ equipment fixtures improvements vehicles Total
HELME ‘ HEME ] \
BF BERZBE GRREE ®E RE st

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

REFT  BETn  A%Fn #MTn A%TR #%Fx
COoST 773
At 1 April 2022 RZE_"&WBE—H 336,021 32,015 19,208 23,277 12,580 423,101
Exchange adjustments EXRAE (341) - - - = (341)
Additions RE 25,006 1,359 641 345 1,562 28,913
Disposals HE (5,299) (3,218) (672) - (918) (10,107)
At 31 March 2023 RZEZ=%=R=+-H 355,387 30,156 19,177 23,622 13,224 441,566
Additions NE 10,707 1,745 96 - 1,073 13,621
Disposals HE - (240) (6,640) - (1,584) (8,464)
At 31 March 2024 RZZE-ZME=A=+—H 366,094 31,661 12,633 23,622 12,713 446,723
DEPRECIATION e
At 1 April 2022 RZE__&ENE—H 53,209 31,389 15,248 20,374 9,505 129,725
Exchange adjustments xR (153) = = = = (153)
Provided for the year FEEE 11,855 521 1,516 1,895 1,142 16,929
Eliminated on disposals HE R (2,921) (3.218) (672) - (918) (7,729
At 31 March 2023 RZEZ=#=A=+—H 61,990 28,692 16,092 22,269 9,729 138,772
Provided for the year FEEE 12,175 553 1,025 447 1,509 15,709
Eliminated on disposals RS - (240) (6,572) - (1,584) (8,396)
At 31 March 2024 K_B-_MEZA=+-A 74,165 29,005 10,545 2,716 9,654 146,085
CARRYING VALUES IREE
At 31 March 2024 RZE_mE=A=+—-H 291,929 2,656 2,088 906 3,059 300,638
At 31 March 2023 R-ZE-=£=fA=+—-H 293,397 1,464 3,085 1,353 3,495 302,794

The above items of property, plant and equipment are

depreciated on a straight-line basis over the following

useful lives:

Leasehold land and

Over the unexpired term of the

buildings relevant lease period from 20
to 50 years
Leasehold Over the shorter of the term of
improvements the lease period or 5 years

Other assets

2 to 5 years

As at 31 March 2024 and 31 March 2023, all the leasehold
land and buildings are located in Hong Kong.

UEME -BEKRREBERBDEREBEERER
BEEDGHEINE  ?JERAEHNT ¢

THE L
KRIEF
HEYEEE

HM&EE

BRABLARERELHS
—t+ER+E

BEREMNERFRIAE
ABREE %)
WMERF

RoB-mER-SB-=F=F=+—8>"
FATRE L RIETIHMRE S o

LI B A 2 B A PR H] 2023/20244E 3
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024
HE_Z-_NE=B=1+—HItFE

18. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS

18. [FHESEE

2024 2023

HK$'000 HK$'000

BT T BT T

Leased properties, carrying amount HEWZ  REE 4,047 1,283

Depreciation charge EER 1,752 3,455

Additions to right-of-use assets hEFHEEE 4,516 1,045

Expenses relating to short-term leases ARIMERi%25>

of plant and machinery FRHATEENRX 10,193 9,955
Total cash outflow of leases (excluding & (FEIESHEBEB T ZHEYE)

leased properties under sublease) HERb4EzE 12,275 13,777

For the year ended 31 March 2024, the cash outflow
paid for leased properties under subleases amounting to
HK$240,000 (2023: HK$240,000).

The right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line
basis over the shorter of its estimated useful life and the
lease term.

For both years, the Group leases office and a retail
shop for its operations. Lease contracts are entered into
for fixed terms ranging from 1 to 5 years (2023: 1 to 5
years) without any extension and termination option.
Lease terms are negotiated on an individual basis. In
determining the lease term and assessing the length
of the non-cancellable period, the Group applies the
definition of a contract and determines the period for
which the contract is enforceable.
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The Group owns several properties including the
underlying leasehold lands. Lump sum payments were
made upfront to acquire these property interests. The
leasehold land components of these owned properties
are presented separately only if the payments made can
be allocated reliably. Those leasehold land components of
the owned properties that the payments made could not
be allocated reliably are presented as leasehold land and
building under property, plant and equipment.

The Group regularly entered into short-term leases for
plant and machinery. As at 31 March 2024 and 2023, the
portfolio of short-term leases is similar to the portfolio of
short-term leases to which the short-term lease expense
disclosed above.

In addition, lease liabilities of HK$7,903,000 (2023:
HK$5,176,000) are recognised with related right-
of-use assets of HK$4,047,000 (2023: HK$1,283,000)
and an investment property of HK$9,080,000 (2023:
HK$9,480,000) as at 31 March 2024. The lease
agreements do not impose any covenants other than the
security interests in the leased assets that are held by
the lessor. Leased assets may not be used as security for
borrowing purposes.

19. INTEREST IN AN ASSOCIATE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024
HE_Z-_WE=A=+—HIEFE

rEEEEZEYE (BFEEMAAELM) -
FEEERBEZSERT N —RIEE
HTRIE - EERES A SE D EC E I AIRR 1B
T AERIETREEAEMENHEE L
Mo REAEDEEARENZEZEEY
FRNEEL MBI RYE - BERREE
TEIBEELMRIEF

FEBTERTILREREBNIEREE -
RO NER-EBE_ZF£ZA=+—H'%E
HAEEASHE FORENERE SR
FERVIEHRTE E AR S -

ItE 4k > “ME=B=+—H- -8

BEB7,903,000c (ZE-_=F: &
#5,176,0007c) A AR AREER
4,047,0007T (ZEZ =4 : #%1,283,0007T)
T 1% B W) 2 #1£9,080,0007C (B =4 B
#£9,480,0007T) —HFERR o BREHFAAIF AN
EEEMNIREEREIN HERZE N REME
AZE - HEEERSHEERNIETRS

\_7

19. BHEQF ZiEm

31.3.2024 31.3.2023
=S 1 - 2 —EZ=
=B=+—H8 | ZB=+—H
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT BT
Cost of unlisted investment in REERABIELHREZHA
an associate 7 557
Share of post-acquisition profits, MEWEER ZET
net of dividends received (NREwZKRE) (7) -
- 557
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Details of the Group's associate as at 31 March 2024 and
2023 are as follows:

o 13 WV B 2 B

R_E_NEE-E_=#=RA=+—8"

FEBBEAT ZFBNT !

Attributable
Place of interest and
Form of incorporation proportion of
business and principal Class of voting power
Name of associate structure place of operation shares held held by the Group Principal activity
‘ EMRIMER  FARRG FEAREREELZR
WERE 207 RHRERL TEELHE 5 RERZILH TERH
2024 2023
ZEImE ZEIE
Hoi Bun Godown Company Limited Limited liability Hong Kong  Ordinary 50% 50% Property investment
("Hoi Bun Godown") company
BERRERAR (TEELE) BIRAT &k EER NERE
20. INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES 20. SERFEZHEE
31.3.2024 31.3.2023
—EME —F-=
=B=+-8 | =A=+—H
HK$'000 HK$'000
AT AT T
Interests in joint ventures comprise: BETEZEREE
Cost of unlisted investments in joint A EERFEIFLHREZHA
ventures 242,424 242,424
Share of post-acquisition results and ~ D{EUREER 2 2 EK
other comprehensive expense, HihemEmzH
net of dividends received (OB Z IR E) (153,776) (136,156)
88,648 106,268
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Details of the Group’s principal joint ventures as at 31

o 03 WV B R B

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024
HE_Z-_WE=A=+—HIEFE

Ro-E-—NEER-E-_=F#=RA=+—8"

March 2024 and 2023 are as follows: FEETESECEZFBUT
Place of Attributable
incorporation/ interest and
Form of registration proportion of
business and principal Class of voting power
Name of joint venture structure place of operation shares held held by the Group Principal activities
HMEIhE B FRRG FEAREREELER
RELEZAH ERRERL REEEEHE 5 RERZILH TEEH
2024 2023
ZEImE ZEI=F
Haining Jiafeng Real Estate Limited liability The People's  Registered 49% 49% Property development in
Development Limited company Republic of China capital Haining, the PRC
_ ("Haining Jiafeng") BRAR (the "PRC") &L REEEES
BERSREHERRAR HE AR AR UESHEE S
(NE=xg) ()
Great Splendor Enterprises Limited Limited liability  British Virgin Islands/ ~ Ordinary 50% 50% Investment holding in
company Hong Kong LBk Hong Kong
BRAR  EBRZBEE/ER H"*%ﬁﬁ&ﬁ?"ﬁ#?
Ideal League Limited Limited liability  British Virgin Islands/ ~ Ordinary 50% 50% Investment holding in
company Hong Kong LBk Hong Kong
BRAE  EEEXHEE/EE ﬁ%%iﬁh&ﬁ?’“ﬁ#?“
Grace Universe Limited Limited liability  British Virgin Islands/ ~ Ordinary 50% 50% Investment holding in
BFERAT company Hong Kong LBk Hong Kong
ERAE  REEEE/EE REBETREZRER
Super Plus Limited Limited liability HongKong  Ordinary 50% 50% Property investment in
company &% LR Hong Kong
BIRAT H"*%ﬁﬁ%¥&ﬁ¥?
Flourishing Stable Limited Limited liability ~ British Virgin Islands/ ~ Ordinary 50% 50% Investment holding in
REERAF company Hong Kong LBk Hong Kong
BIRAR) Eﬁﬁ?ﬁ%/éﬁ ﬁ%%iﬁﬁ&ﬁ?’“ﬁ#?“
Fortunate Benefit Limited Limited liability British Virgin Islands/ ~ Ordinary 50% 50% Investment holding in
HEHERAR company Hong Kong LER Hong Kong
BRAE  HEEEE/EE Fé%i&ﬁ&ﬁﬁﬁﬁ?
Fortune Creation Developments Limited liability  British Virgin Islands/ ~ Ordinary 50% 50% Property development in
Limited company Hong Kong LBk Hong Kong
BRAR  EBRZBEE/ER REBETNEERER
Honour Advent Limited Limited liability ~ British Virgin Islands/ ~ Ordinary 50% 50% Investment holding in
ERERAT company Hong Kong LBk Hong Kong
BIRAR) EE#%‘E/ é% REBETREERER
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o 13 WV B 2 B

Place of Attributable
incorporation/ interest and

Form of registration proportion of

business and principal Class of voting power
Name of joint venture structure place of operation shares held held by the Group Principal activities

) ERUING/BR  ARERA  ASERERSEER
RELEZAH RHRERS REBEZME 25 REEZILH TERH
2024 2023
“EoQEE | ZRCEE

Prime Success Global Limited Limited liability  British Virgin Islands/ ~ Ordinary 50% 50% Investment holding in
BRBRRERAT company Hong Kong LER . Hong Kong
BRAE  REEXHE/EE REBETREERER
Fortune Shiner Development Limited  Limited liability Hong Kong  Ordinary 50% 50% Property development in
EEERERAT company 5 EER __Hong Kong
BIRAR) REBETNRERER
Protic Limited Limited liability Hong Kong  Ordinary 50% 50% Property development in
EEBRAT company && LEkK Hong Kong
BIRAT REBETNEERED
Esteemed Virtue Limited Limited liability ~ British Virgin Islands/ ~ Ordinary 50% 50% Investment holding in
HEERAR company Hong Kong LR ) Hong Kong
BRAE  REEHEE/EE REBETREERER
Befit Limited Limited liability Hong Kong  Ordinary 50% 50% Property development in
company &8 EER Hong Kong
BIRAR) REBETNRERER
Excess Wonder Limited Limited liability  British Virgin Islands/  Ordinary 50% 50% Investment holding in
$3ERAT company Hong Kong EER Hong Kong
BRAR  EBEZHEE/ER REBETREERES
Rainbow Jade Enterprises Limited Limited liability  British Virgin Islands/ ~ Ordinary 50% 50% Property development in
FEGEERAF company Hong Kong LER ) Hong Kong
BRAE  REEXHEE/EE REBETNEERER

The above table lists the joint ventures of the Group
which, in the opinion of the directors of the Company,
principally affected the results or assets of the Group. To
give details of other joint ventures would, in the opinion

of the directors, result in particulars of excessive length.

All joint ventures are accounted for using the equity
method in these consolidated financial statements.
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Aggregate financial information of the Group’s joint

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024

HE_Z-_WE=A=+—HIEFE

RIZEZNERZZEZ=F=A=+—8"

ventures as at 31 March 2024 and 2023 is set out below: FEBSECEERUBEERNBIINT :
2024 2023
—EMEF —EFE"=
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT AT
Current assets mMENEE 3,394,702 3,220,991
Current liabilities mENaE (4,091,524) (3,854,868)
Non-current assets ERBEE 599,799 629,427
Net liabilities BEZFE (97,023) (4,450)
Group's share of net assets KEBRMEEETFE 88,648 106,268
Net loss for the year REEPREHE (83,302) (194,681)
Other comprehensive expense AFEEHMEESZH
for the year (9,271) (14,688)
Group's share of loss for the year FEEDMLZEFERE (13,077) (72,547)
Group's share of exchange REESEZEAFEERERE
differences for the year (4,543) (7,197)
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024
HE_Z-_NE=B=1+—HItFE

A 5 e 2 Bk

2024 2023
—EME —E-=
HK$’000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
The unrecognised share of loss of KEERBERDEEE
joint ventures for the year EEE 28,408 24,781
Cumulative unrecognised share of Rt kBB EE
losses of joint ventures 138,326 109,918
21. LOANS TO JOINT VENTURES 21. SEEFREWM
31.3.2024 31.3.2023
—EMEF —EFE"=
=A=+-8 | =A=+-8
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Loans to joint ventures EETEEN 1,036,628 1,027,814

As at 31 March 2024, loans are granted to joint ventures
engaging in property development and property
investment in Hong Kong. The loans amounted to
HK$420,381,000 (2023: HK$449,626,000) are unsecured,
interest bearing at 4.25% (2023: 4.25%) per annum and
repayable on demand. The remaining loans to joint
ventures are unsecured, non-interest bearing and have
no fixed terms of repayment. The Group has no intention
to request for repayment of the loans amounting to
HK$1,036,628,000 (2023: HK$1,027,814,000) within the
twelve months from the end of the reporting period.
Accordingly, the loans are classified as non-current assets.

The Group assessed the ECL with reference to the internal
credit rating of the counterparties. Impairment loss of
HK$88,210,000 (2023: impairment loss of HK$28,044,000)
was recognised in profit or loss for the year ended 31
March 2024. Details of impairment assessment are set out
in note 47.

RIE_NE=BA=4+—H &x&EBERT
REBREVELZERVMEREZGEDR
¥ A1420,381,000C (ZBE =4 :
##5449,626,0007T) o ZRIE B EIK I > 17
FHEA25% (ZEBEZ=F:4.25%) 1B R
BREREBE- BRTHRTFTEELEZER
DEEE A ERBEEERA &R
EERBRSHREFTZBEAAREKRERE
#11,036,628,000T (ZTE - =F : B
1,027,814,0007T) 2B At ) ZZEERE
DEAERBEE-

TEEZERZHZAIBEEFRTEHTER
FEEFE-8E_T_NE=B=+—HLt
FEERERIEH1588,210,0007 Tt (T =
F . F{EEIE B 1£28,044,0007T) i8R RE
o B L EF BB MIsEAT o
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22. JOINT OPERATIONS

The Company, a subsidiary of the Company and
independent third parties (“Joint Operator”) entered
into a development agreement dated 20 December
2005 and a supplemental agreement date 8 February
2010 in respect of the joint development of a residential
development project in Hong Kong (the “Project”).
On 19 January 2021, the Group entered into a second
supplement agreement with the Joint Operator. The
details of the second supplement agreement were
disclosed in the Company’s announcement dated 19
January 2021. Pursuant to the agreements, the Group
and the Joint Operator contributed the lots of land
owned and executed of a deed of exchange to merge the
ownership of the lots of land and owned in the ratio of
24.82% and 75.18%, respectively, in the merged land and
the Project.

The aggregate amounts of assets and liabilities, revenue
and expenses recognised in the consolidated financial
statements in relation to the Group’s interest in the joint
operation are as follows:

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024
HE_Z-_WE=A=+—HIEFE

22. e

KRB KRB ZMBABDRBILE=
(MHaEEE) MRNERNEEERER
(MZ|E) NSRRI L—MBARA T

TRE+_RA-tHNERGEKRBHERZ

T-ZE_AN\BNHEREBE - R T _—

F-—A+hhB FEEEBGEEETILS

R RE B MDA RZIFERE

ABEMBA T _—F-AThBZAGEK

B -RiFZFHZ sEBRBMASEEETMN

P & RO 3 B 3t 38 37 SRR B2 DL i B By

AR LR EHMIRERZEERDREER

24.82%%75.18% °

RFEMHRRTEDEATEBNGSE
ERNEENEERER WAKRAXEE
LRI

2024 2023

—EME —_E=F

HK$'000 HK$'000

BT T BT T

Assets* BE* 1,039,000 932,000
Liabilities aE (96) (2,659)
Revenue WA - =
Expenses (553 (21,821) (10,543)

@ Amounts represented properties under development for
sale disclosed in note 23.

* SRRIEMEMINEBNRRRZHEYE-
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024
HE_Z-_NE=B=1+—HItFE

The Group also entered into a joint arrangement with
a fellow subsidiary of the Joint Operator to provide
construction contract work for the Project. The two
parties contribute the funding, share revenue and bear
costs equally.

The aggregate amounts of assets and liabilities, revenue
and expenses recognised in the consolidated financial
statements in relation to the Group’s interest in the joint
operation are as follows:

Co I I

FEETRABGEEEZ —HRRAMBARE
J_LA.%*‘%‘EEF AREBREREANIRE
RIS HRIHE ~ DEWA LD A

REZEMBREPEIDEMEERNHSE
ERNEDNEEREER - WAKRRSEE
BRINT

2024 2023
—EZME B =
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT BT
Assets BE 51,320 23,610
Liabilities =K (5,012) (3,630)
Revenue WA 145,931 15,476
Expenses (553 (139,603) (15,496)
23. PROPERTIES UNDER DEVELOPMENT 23. BRPZHFEME
FOR SALE
At the end of the reporting period, total cumulative HRBEAR BRI ZFEVEELRLEZR

borrowing costs capitalised in the properties under
development for sale were HK$47,357,000 (2023:
HK$15,424,000). Write-downs of properties under
development for sale amounted to HK$21,740,000 (2023:
HK$10,411,000) for the year ended 31 March 2024.

The carrying amount of leasehold lands amounting to
HK$887,124,000 (2023: HK$882,267,000) is measured
at cost less any accumulated depreciation and any
impairment losses. The residual values are determined
as the estimated disposal value of the leasehold land
component. No depreciation charge is made on the
leasehold lands taking into account the estimated
residual values as at 31 March 2024 and 2023. During the
year ended 31 March 2024, the Group made payment of
HK$4,857,000 for land premium (2023: HK$4,269,000 for
the acquisition of additional parcel of leasehold lands).
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sHER R 42864 B 147,357,000 (ZF
Z =4 : #B1815,424,0007T)  BE_ZE_M
FZBA=+—HLEEE WRERPZFE
YA BK21,740,0007T (ZTZ=F : Al
10,411,0007T) ©

FHE TtV BR (& 15887,124,0005T (&
— =4 : %1£882,267,0007T) I K A AL A B
SHITEREAREREAE-FGREEET
AEELHBLNGEAEEBE TR

EONER_E_=F=A=+—HKE:t
iuﬂﬁﬁ{a’ﬁ I E L EHIRITEE -8
EE_NME=RBA=1+—HILEE> zt:%l
TR E X % 184,857,0007C (CEZ=4F:
TRUK BB EESMNMA S 1 3 7 9 A 154,269,0007T) ©
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The properties under development for sale located in
Hong Kong, is classified under current assets as it is
expected to be realised in the Group’s normal operating
cycle. The entire amount is expected to be recovered
after twelve months from the end of the reporting
period.

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024
HE_Z-_WE=A=+—HIEFE

HARURERNERPFZEFEYEFRRAN
FEBEEEERMNER RO ELA RS
BEE -FAHRE2MERNBIHAREST + (@
B®&7eIugE e

24. INVENTORIES 24. 86
31.3.2024 31.3.2023
—EOEE —E"=
=BA=+—H8 | ZB=+—H
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT BT
Health products - finished goods R ER— XA 4,338 3,242
25. CONTRACT ASSETS 25. BB E
31.3.2024 31.3.2023
=A=+-8 | =A=+-H
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Construction contracts BEIEEN 310,104 239,137
Less: Allowance for credit losses o EEBEEE (1,122) (929)
308,982 238,208

As at 1 April 2022, contract assets amounted to
HK$265,020,000.

Contract assets arise when the Group has right to
consideration for completion of construction contract,
interior and renovation contract and installation of
building materials contract and not yet billed under
the relevant contracts, and their right is conditioned
on factors other than passage of time. Any amount
previously recognised as a contract asset is reclassified to
trade debtors when such right becomes unconditional.

RZBE__FNE—HB 6NEEREE
265,020,0007T ©

BNEERTERTHBEIRZSH K
REEIREHREZREZEMH IESGHON
R WEA B EN A MAE R KRR R
HEaNRERDNREELE MEKSESHEAE
FBGRRS BF A #ERS LU B (A K - oAl B fE ST
AENEENEARIAT A RER A E
R ERDEERUTRIE
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024
BE_Z_NMFE=A=+—HILEE

Included in carrying amount of contract assets was
retention money amounted to HK$121,377,000 (2023:
HK$124,190,000) as at 31 March 2024. Retention money
is unsecured and interest-free and represented the
monies withheld by customers of contract works to be
fully recoverable within 1 to 2 years from the date of
completion of construction contracts, in accordance
with the terms specified in the relevant contracts. Upon
satisfactory completion of contract work as set out in
the contract, the architect for the building project will
issue a practical completion certificate. Generally, upon
the issuance of the practical completion certificate, half
of the retention money of such contract work will be
released to the Group, while the remaining half will be
released to the Group upon the issuance of the certificate
that identified defects in respect of the entire building
project have been made good.

The retention money would be settled, based on the
expiry of the defect liability period, at the end of the
reporting period as follows:

RZE_ME=B=+—H > aNEENEE
HESEREEAK121,377,000T (ZF
— =4 : #1124,190,0007T) - REE A E
BEERE  BRREEMENITIERER
HMRIE ] iRIBA RS ORE ZBERRE
BTSSR ESHES —EMEAZEHUW
Ble RENFRFIEZ BN TIRERTMRE 12
FEHEZEREMEBHERBITHE —RK
Mms  BHERBRITHER LEANTIREZ
— ¥ REESHERTFEAER  MEG—F#&
REMREZITEFEBFRZERZHESEEE
ZHEERHBEERTAER-

REER KRG HHRENRESEENE
WA BT

31.3.2024 31.3.2023
—EME —E=
=B=+-B | =A=+-H
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Amount receivable within one year —ERNERSEE 51,535 81,258
Amount receivable after one year —FBREKRSEE 69,842 42,932
121,377 124,190
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024
HE_ZT_NE=HA=+—HILEE

Included in the above contract assets are amounts due UEEHNEENCIERKAMALTEEZES

from related parties of trading nature as follows: HZ ISR :
31.3.2024 31.3.2023
=~ 1 2 3 -
=B=+—8 | =ZA=+—H
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Joint ventures e P 33,469 20,915
Subsidiaries of Million Hope Industries ETEBXZEREFRAE
Holdings Limited (“Million Hope") (TEE=Z)) 2B AR (Mizh)
(note) 1,017 1,071

Note: Million Hope is regarded as a related company in which Mzt ZESWAABRBAT MARAETER

CCM Trust (Cayman) Limited (“CCM Trust”), a substantial BCCM Trust (Cayman) Limited (TCCM
shareholder of the Company, and certain discretionary Trustl) REFHIBEGESE BRRARAETES
trusts, of which certain directors of the Company AENBREAENPZRE) RERES
are among the members of the class of discretionary BmiEm o

beneficiaries, have beneficial interests.

As part of the internal credit risk management, the EARNBEERREREZ—9  KEBM
Group applies internal credit rating for its customers in ERIBEN -REREBIESNRELE
relation to construction contract, interior and renovation BEMNIBENAEZTAHARIBEET
contract and installation of building materials contract. R -MENEEMAEZEERBKRARE
The exposure to credit risk and ECL for contract assets SBEEERERTLETIG HEEFEES
are assessed based on collective assessment, except for AEMNSGHNBEEHETBREBFIHFIGHNE
contract assets that are credit-impaired or contract assets ~ EEITERIFTHFRIM o

from departments of The Government of HKSAR which

are assessed individually.

Details of impairment assessment are set out in note 47. REF A BE M EE4T7 o
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024
HE_Z-_NE=B=1+—HItFE

26. DEBTORS, DEPOSITS AND

26. EULTRIA - B R TR (I 7R IE

PREPAYMENTS

31.3.2024 31.3.2023
—EME —EC=HE
ZB=+-B | ZA=+-H
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T

Trade debtors FE U =R IE
— contracts with customers —EBREH 62,695 73,156
— lease receivables —THEREKIE 328 303
Less: Allowance for credit losses o EEEREE (99) (286)
62,924 73,173
Other receivables HihpE U FIE 3,168 7,375
Deposits BE 4,940 4,232
Prepayments AT FRIE 23,588 20,752
94,620 105,532

As at 1 April 2022, trade debtors from contracts with
customers, net of allowance for credit losses, amounted
to HK$113,780,000.

For the business of construction services and others, the
Group generally allows a credit period of 30 to 90 days
and not more than 90 days (2023: 30 to 90 days and not
more than 90 days), respectively, to its customers. Before
accepting any new customer, the Group will internally
assess the credit quality of the potential customers and
define appropriate credit limit. Other receivables are
unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand.
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R-_EBE__HFMA—H ' RBERAGHXK
ZEWRE (NREEGERER) 28K
113,780,000 7T °

EREERBREMES AEEH KA
FTHERAN=Z1TEA+TABRAZHRATH

—ECZF I ZHEATARAERAT
H) ZEEH -ERMAMER ZA1 AEER
HEBEEERZEEERFARIMTG L]
BEEERER HthBRREDERR RS
RRERFFEE-
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Management closely monitors the credit quality of trade
debtors. 82% (2023: 96%) of the trade debtors are
neither past due nor impaired to be of a good credit
quality based their historical repayments. Included in the
trade debtors balance are trade debtors with aggregate
carrying amount of HK$3,026,000 (2023: HK$1,587,000)
which are past due over 90 days at the end of the
reporting period for which the Group does not consider
them to be credit-impaired as the directors of the
Company considered there has no default occurred as
these trade debtors are still considered fully recoverable
due to long term/on-going relationship and good
repayment record from these debtors. The Group does
not hold any collateral over these balances. There are
no balances included in other receivables which are past
due.

The aged analysis of trade debtors, net of allowance
for credit losses, presented based on the invoice date,
as appropriate, at the end of the reporting period is as
follows:

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024
HE_Z-_WE=A=+—HIEFE

CEEGRYEREKRREBEZEEER H
F182% (CZE =4 : 96%) FERFIEE A LA
HRE MBBEREZERELMS > #18
AEEEERF B3R ENRIBELRIER
{E4EXEE 153,026,000 (B =4 : B
1,587,0007T) Z FEWLRIE A ¥k & HA R B @ A
BATHMAEERAZERBELEELEF
BRE BERAXARESRA BHRHEZE
BHEANRS FERGRRERTFNERS
% MZ SRR R A 0 2 8k »
L mBEEFMEN AERMBEMRZEE
BRIEEEMERR  HMEKRIBL EE1E
B> 4R o

FEWRRIR (R E BB EH) ZIRE DTS
RBRSHRZEZEH WMER) BE7W
T

31.3.2024 31.3.2023
“EME =

=BA=+—8 | =B=+—H

HK$'000 HK$'000

BT BT

Within 30 days =+HR 51,349 66,850

31-60 days =+—Z/;x+H 4,705 4,637

61-90 days A~T—ZEA+H 3,844 99

Over 90 days #eht+H 3,026 1,587

62,924 73,173
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024
HE_Z_NE=A=+—HILEE

Included in the above trade debtors are amounts due FEULERKFIENGIERKEAKBALTEEZS

from related parties of trading nature as follows: HEZRIBEFIEAMT !
31.3.2024 31.3.2023
—EmME —E_=
=B=+—8 | =A=+—H
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT BT
Joint ventures e P 14,131 12,204

As part of the internal credit risk management, the fERRAMEERBEERZ -S> AEER
Group applies internal credit rating for its customers in EREIBSN -KeiREEIRSOARTE
relation to construction contract, interior and renovation EBEMHIERENA/EZRRARIEET
contract and installation of building materials contract.  #& ° LEEWRIEFT A IEZ EE AR TAHRE
The exposure to credit risk and ECL for trade debtors EEEERERTGETIH BEEEE
are assessed based on collective assessment, except for  F{EBIEUFRIEH B E B EBUFEEFIRY
trade debtors that are credit-impaired or receivable from  FRIEEITERIFFEERSN o

departments of The Government of HKSAR which are

assessed individually.

Details of impairment assessment are set out in note 47. VAR A EEE S E N T 2 A
27. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE 27. FRESEATFEHAT ZIHH
THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS =3

The amounts represent investments in equity securities  ZEFREHERBRA LT ZRAZSFKRE
listed on the Stock Exchange whose fair value amounted MR _Z_MNE=F=+—H HEAFERHB
to HK$263,000 (2023: HK$405,000) as at 31 March 2024. #%263,0007T (Z & - =4 : #1%405,0007T) °
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28. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Cash and cash equivalents include demand deposits and
short-term bank deposits for the purpose of meeting the
Group's’ short-term cash commitments, with an original
maturity of three months or less at interest rate at a
range from 0.01% to 1.50% (2023: 0.01% to 1.50%) per
annum as at 31 March 2024.

At 31 March 2024, bank balances and cash of
HK$5,987,000 (2023: HK$6,967,000) were denominated
in Renminbi (“RMB"”) which is not a freely convertible
currency in the international market. The exchange rate
of RMB is regulated by the PRC government and the
remittance of these funds out of the PRC is subject to
exchange restrictions imposed by the PRC government.

Details of impairment assessment are set out in note 47.

29. ASSETS CLASSIFIED AS HELD FOR
SALE

The major classes of assets classified as held for sale are as

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024
HE_Z-_WE=A=+—HIEFE

28. RERFEFE

HeERkREeEECEANREELSEEEHR
SRIEFRERREHRRTER REHHR
AB=ZERAIUAT RIEBNE=A=+—
HREFZEA0.01%E1.50% (CE_=F:
0.01%ZE1.50%) °

RIEZME=B=+—H " #&%5,987,000

T (CEZ=5 : #%6,967,0007T) ZR1T4:
BERAERARE (AR JIE AR
FEREEMZERRR NARBEXZH
BEHFRERNPEELERESAZHE
BT B e A 90 BE PR A1 FRBR ©

AR R N TV

29. FENFHELESRE

DEARFLHEREEZT2HAINT :

follows:
31.3.2024 31.3.2023
“EIME —E=
=B=+-A | ZA=+-A8
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Investment properties KEME 157,050 6,600
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024
BE_Z_NMFE=A=+—HILEE

As at 31 March 2024, fair value of the investment
properties classified as held for sale amounting to
HK$157,050,000 (2023: HK$6,600,000) were determined
with reference to the contracted selling price. No gain
on change in fair value of investment properties (2023:
HK$15,390,000) is recognised in profit or loss during the
year ended 31 March 2024.

During the year ended 31 March 2023, the Group
entered into a sale and purchase agreement with an
independent third party to dispose of certain car parking
spaces in an industrial property located in Hong Kong
with carrying amount of HK$2,100,000, at an aggregate
consideration of HK$2,100,000. The directors of the
Company considered that the held- for-sale criteria as set
out in HKFRS 5 were met, by taking into account the fact
that the subject assets were immediately available for
sale, and the sale is to be highly probable as appropriate
level of management had committed to a plan to sell the
equity interest or assets. Accordingly, the respective assets
were classified as assets held for sale as at 31 March 2023
and included in the property investment for segment
reporting purposes. The disposal was completed in April
2023.

The Group launched certain car parking spaces located
in Hong Kong for sale in the market in prior years. The
car parking spaces with carrying amount of HK$4,500,000
remain unsold as at 31 March 2023. During the year
ended 31 March 2024, the Group entered into a sale and
purchase agreement with an independent third party to
dispose such car parking spaces with carrying amount
of HK$4,500,000, at an aggregate consideration of
HK$4,500,000. The disposal was completed in December
2023.
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RZEZNE=ZA=+—H ' 2BAFEH
EZREYMEATFER157,050,0007T (Z
T — =4 : #16,600,0007T) I 2 E B TNE
BEE RBEEZT-_NE=-A=+—HIt
FE BMERESRILEVELFEESH
W (ZBEZ=4 : #%15,390,0007T) °

RBEE_S_=F=RB=+—HIEEE &
EETEBYE=ATNEERZE UHE
H—BRUNEENIEMENE TEEM.
BREEAH12,100,0007T B R (EA B
2,100,000 ° & st Rz B EBNRF A HIEE K&
RBERINNEEBEERAEHEREREE
HstEI UM B ENTIENERS ) AREES
RAREEBUEREENELRAETE
HEEZE-FIL - BE_E_=F=H=+—
B EAEERSEAFEHESE UMD
HREEMNMtAMEREDE - ZHES
BHER-_SE-=HMAXRmRK-

RBEFFEE AEEBEURETENET
FHEARTB LHE RIS Z=F6=H
=+—H’REEAE%4,500,000TH{EE
UMAREH RBEE_E_NFEF=B=+—
BEFEE AEBEBIE=/FIILEE
mE UHEZSEFEEU REEA B
4,500,0007T > 481 E % & 14,500,0007T ° 5%
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During the year ended 31 March 2024, the Group
launched a workshop in an industrial property located
in Hong Kong with carrying value amounting to
HK$8,250,000 for sale in the market. Subsequent to 31
March 2024 and up to date of the report, the Group
entered into a provisional sale and purchase agreement
with an independent third party at an aggregate
consideration of HK$8,250,000. The disposal was
completed in May 2024.

During the year ended 31 March 2024, the Group
launched certain retail shops in a residential property
located in Hong Kong with carrying value amounting
to HK$148,800,000 for sale in the market. Subsequent
to 31 March 2024 and up to date of the report, the
Group entered into a provisional sale and purchase
agreement with an independent third party at an
aggregate consideration of HK$148,800,000. The disposal
is expected to be completed in July 2024.

30. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024
HE_Z-_WE=A=+—HIEFE

REE_T-_NE=A=1+—HILEFE &
%Bﬁ—ﬁ1¢ﬁéé%21¥%¥ﬁﬁﬁml
ERS > BRI B % B 158,250,000t U A 35
E-RT_NE=ZA=+—HEKREEXLX
REBH AEEABIE=HIILBERE
Bind  BAEAB8,250,000T ZHE
%IEEHA_—\»_Eﬁﬂﬁmﬁfﬁ

KEE-P-ME=A=+—ALFE &
SER B RSB 6T ERRE T
% BRE 1875 % 15148,800,0005E « 1 = F
—mE=A=+—ARREZEFBEAM
AEERBUE=HHIIRREE RS @
1% % 15148,800,0007% » & 1t F BT
BB ML AR

30. FE{TRIA R H fth FE {7k 1E

31 3.2024 31.3.2023
“EIME =

=BA=+—H | =B=+—H

HK$'000 HK$'000

BT BT T

Trade payables FE(TFRIE 59,171 59,994
Retention payable — amount payable E{J{RES—

within one year —FERNENEEE 94,423 119,981
Retention payable — amount payable FEfH{REE—

after one year —FEREMNEEE 37,282 30,245

Accrued operating costs and charges  fEEHE B4R E A 60,211 109,077

Accrued costs for construction work FEEtIRE TR A 217,691 153,538

Temporary receipts B B I BN 2 7R I8 12,351 2,633

Deposits received BUREEE 14,449 17,143

495,578 492,611

The credit period on purchase of goods and payment for BEEMAZNAEBEIRERBZEEHAN

subcontractors’ works is ranged from 30 to 90 days.

F=+EA+HBe
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024
HE_Z-_NE=B=1+—HItFE

The aged analysis of trade payables presented based on
the invoice date at the end of the reporting period is as
follows:

EARBEZREDMDIRBREARZER
BHEIRZESWMT -

31.3.2024 31.3.2023
—E-mE —E=HF
=B=+—8 | =B=+—H
HK$'000 HK$'000

AT BETT

Within 30 days =t+HA 55,260 59,330
31-60 days =+—Z/;x+H 662 -
61-90 days ~T—ZEA+H 654 -
Over 90 days #eht+H 2,595 664

59,171 59,994

As at 31 March 2024, the retention payable balances
included retention payable to subsidiaries of Million
Hope amounting to nil (2023: HK$200,000).

31. PROVISIONS

The Group’s provisions are analysed for reporting
purposes as:

RIE_NME=RA=+—H B RESLE
BRERENESZIBATAS (ZE =
£ : #E1200,0007T) ZREE ©

31. ¥

FEFEFERABNERDFWMT :

31.3.2024 31.3.2023
—EMEF B =
=ZA=+-A | =B=+-8
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Current liabilities REEE 16,470 9,008
Non-current liabilities ERHEE 34,869 34,560
51,339 43,568
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024
HE_Z-_WE=A=+—HIEFE

The movement of the Group’s provisions are as follows: TEBRBEEHWOT :
Provision for
rectification
work
BT
BE
HK$'000
BT T
At 1 April 2022 RIEZZFMWB—H 44,148
Provision B 16,205
Utilisation EhF (16,785)
At 31 March 2023 R-B_=ZF=A=+—H 43,568
Provision B 23,650
Utilisation EhF (15,879)
At 31 March 2024 RZBZME=RA=+—H 51,339

The provision for rectification work as at 31 March
2024 and 2023 relates to the cost of work to be carried
out in relation to construction contracts, interior and
renovation contracts and supply and installation of
building materials supplied to the Group’s customers
during the defects liability period, mainly for a period of
maximum of 2 years, based on relevant correspondence
and contracts with customers and management'’s prior
experience with the consideration of the rectification
work claim in the past. These amounts have not been
discounted for the purpose of measuring the provision
for rectification work because the effect is not material.

RIBE_MEE-_E-_=F#=H=+—8">
BUTREBEIREAERRBEETEHANM
AEFRIRHZERIRESHN EHRHEET
RENAURBEERZEREMB I LR
o BERERPNEBARGERENAUKRER
BHAFTERNIERENKER  HREETH
FELABERREMFENHEME -BRERR
BN AREA MZESEMAMAETERT
RREETINR
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024
HE_Z-_NE=B=1+—HItFE

32. LEASE LIABILITIES

32. HE &R

31.3.2024 31.3.2023
ZEIME —E-=
=B=+—8 | =ZBA=+—H
HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT BETT
Lease liabilities payable: EHEEAE
Within one year —&R 3,026 1,732
Within a period of more than one year BB—FEBARZHRMEHBA
but not more than two years 1,677 336
Within a period of more than two years BBMEEBRZHRAELHBA
but not more than five years 362 202
More than five years BiBhF 2,838 2,906
7,903 5,176
Less: Amount due for settlement within & : R+ BB AZIHIEE S48
12 months shown under current ARBBEZEEE
liabilities (3,026) (1,732)
Amount due for settlement after R+ZEBEIPEESES
12 months shown under non-current ERBBEZEEE
liabilities 4,877 3,444

The weighted average incremental borrowing rates
applied to lease liabilities ranged from 4.0% to 6.0%
(2023: 4.0% to 6.0%).

6.0%) °
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33. BANK LOANS

g2 AN

I =]

VA 5 i 2 B

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024
HE_Z-_WE=A=+—HIEFE

33. SRITE™

31.3.2024 31.3.2023
—EIME —E-=
=BA=+—H | =B=+—H
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT AT
Bank loans (note a) RITEMR (fizEa) 1,878,072 1,525,434
Less: Amount shown under current A DEARSHEBEZEER
liabilities (including Bank loans (BIEAREREER
with a repayable on demand ZIRITER)
clause) (1,878,072) (394,365)
Amount shown under DEAERBERZERE
non-current liabilities - 1,131,069
The carrying amounts of the above LTiBEEZIREEZER
borrowings are repayable: THHAREE -
within one year —FR 831,069 15,965
within a period of more than one BiE—FERES
year but not more than two years MERAEA - 1,131,069
831,069 1,147,034
The carrying amount of bank loans BEARERERERZ
that contain a repayable on demand  $RITEREREE (D1EA
clause (shown under current liabilities SRE1&E) B T3 8RS
but repayable: EE .
within one year —FR 1,047,003 378,400
1,878,072 1,525,434
Secured (note b) B (MizEb) 1,421,069 1,425,434
Unsecured mIgE 457,003 100,000
1,878,072 1,525,434

L} 431 St 2 P A B 23 ) 2023/2024 4 8
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HE_Z-_NE=B=1+—HItFE

Notes:

(@) The Group’s bank loans are floating-rate borrowings
which carry interest at market rates ranging from Hong
Kong Interbank Offered Rate (“HIBOR") + 0.75% to HIBOR
+ 1.84% per annum (2023: from HIBOR + 0.75% to HIBOR
+ 1.84% per annum).

(b) The bank loans are secured by charges over certain assets
of the Group, which are disclosed in note 38.

() The weighted average effective interest rates on the
Group's bank loans range from 5.24% to 6.32% (2023:
3.78% to 4.87%) per annum.

34. DEFERRED TAXATION

For the purpose of presentation in the consolidated
statement of financial position, certain deferred tax
assets and liabilities have been offset. The following is
the analysis of the deferred tax balances for financial
reporting purposes:

Bk -

(@)

(b)

(9]

AEBMBITERDUTBAEFENZFH
MEEFH FAEHEBRITAERE (F
BIRTRIEREL) MN0.75%EEHRITRE
HFEMI.84%AE (CE_=4F : A5 HIR
TEERENM0.75% EEBRITEEREM
1.84%) °

ZERITERULERETEERR 515
FAMIEE38 % 25

EEERTERZMEFHEBRENZX
#A5.24%%E6.32% (CBE-=4:3.78%F
4.87%) °

34. iEIERIE
DA ERRRE ETEERIEEE

RBFEEEREHFH UTBMMBFREEM
ME ZELERBGERZ O

31.3.2024 31.3.2023
—EMOEEF B =

=B=+—HB | =A=+-8

HK$'000 HK$'000

BT T BT T

Deferred tax assets IRERIEEE 5,340 849
Deferred tax liabilities REREBEEE (6,477) (6,377)
(1,137) (5,528)
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024
BE_Z_NF=RB=+—HILFE

The followings are the major deferred tax liabilities ZAEBFERIEREBEEE (BE) RRTEE

(assets) of the Group and movements thereon during the FBFEERIEMEE ZESHMT !

current and prior years:

Accelerated
tax Tax Provision
depreciation losses for ECL Total
i BHEE
RBIME REEsE EERE b
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BT BETTT BETT BETT
At 1 April 2022 RZE__FMNA—H 31,895 (25,825) (308) 5,762
Charge (credit) to consolidated REFEEFGEZRTIH
statement of profit or loss (EtA)
for the year 6,092 (6,434) 108 (234)
At 31 March 2023 A_E_=%=H=1+—H 37,987 (32,259) (200) 5,528
Charge (credit) to consolidated REEERERERPXN
statement of profit or loss GtA)
for the year 2,926 (7,316) (1) (4,391)
At 31 March 2024 RZEZME=B=+—H 40,913 (39,575) (201) 1,137

At the end of the reporting period, the Group has
unused tax losses of approximately HK$454,462,000
(2023: HK$373,541,000) available for offset against
future profit. A deferred tax asset has been recognised
in respect of approximately HK$239,847,000 (2023:
HK$195,507,000) of such losses. No deferred tax asset
has been recognised in respect of the remaining losses of
approximately HK$214,615,000 (2023: HK$178,034,000)
due to the unpredictability of future profit streams. All
the unused tax losses may be carried forward indefinitely.

REBREHFX AEBRAZREBENS
B¥A454,462,000c (ZE-_=F : B
373,541,0007%) ° Al AEIEEHR IR 2 imF o B
IR TEES 18478 15239,847,0007T (2 - =
£ © #1%195,507,0007T) FEIRIEIRIEE E
HRARREM R ZENRIE > BIEMEER
FRIBRS1EA9#85214,615,0007Tc (2=
751£178,034,0007T) HERIRERIBEEZE - Fi A
KRERZRIERIER e EIRARASE S -
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o 13 WV B 2 B

35. SHARE CAPITAL 35. g7
No. of shares HK$'000
&8 BT T
Authorised: EE
Shares of HK$0.10 each SR BK0.10T 2 IR 1S
Balance as at 1 April 2022, RIEZZF@B—A-
31 March 2023 and —E=F=B=1+—HX
31 March 2024 _ENE=A=+—HZ
K ER 1,500,000,000 150,000
Issued and fully paid: BETRHRE :
Shares of HK$0.10 each B K0.10T 2 IR 1S
Balance as at 1 April 2022 RIEZZHFEM@BE—HZ
4EBR 1,105,585,676 110,559
Issue of shares upon exercise of TEBREMZITZRG
share options (note i) (Pt =Ei) 6,097,000 610
Repurchased and cancelled Bl FHE (ki)
(note ii) (15,396,000) (1,540)
Balance as at 31 March 2023 A _E_=F=RA=+—HZ
AEER 1,096,286,676 109,629
Repurchased and cancelled Bl R (ki)
(note ii) (23,212,000) (2,322)
Balance as at 31 March 2024 AZE_ME=HA=+—HZ
4SER 1,073,074,676 107,307

Notes:

MIsE

0

(ii)

226

The new shares issued rank pari passu in all respects with
the existing shares in issue.

During the year ended 31 March 2024, the Company
repurchased 17,964,000 shares (2023: 20,644,000 shares)
on the market for an aggregated consideration paid of
approximately HK$19,999,000 (2023: HK$23,866,000), in
which all shares (2023: 15,396,000 shares) were cancelled
during the year ended 31 March 2024 and no shares (2023:
5,248,000 shares) were cancelled after the reporting date.

()

(i)

BETHROBRABHTRMMBZAEE
BEERER -

HEZ-_WNE=ZA=1+—HLEEE &2
B i5_E#EE17,964,0000& %17 (CT ==
£ 120,644,000/%) » B NRBLHABE
19,999,000t (ZZ = =4 : #%£23,866,000
70) > BEBRRID (ZZE =4 : 15,396,0004%)
EREE_S-_NE=A=+—HILEE*
U RS (C2 =4 : 5,248,00082)
PERE BB o
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024
BE_Z-_NE=A=+—HILFE

REE_ZE_NME=A=+—HLEE &
ANE BB FrEEE17,964,00008 S 3@ A5 0 5%

During the year ended 31 March 2024, the Company
repurchased 17,964,000 ordinary shares through the

Stock Exchange as follows: BT :

No. of
ordinary Price per share Aggregate
share of SRER consideration
HK$0.10 each Highest Lowest paid

SRAEE

0.107T2Z
EER#E &S RE BfYERE
HK$ HK$ HK$'000
Month of repurchase EfER (7 BT BT BETT
June 2023 —ET=%FH 2,154,000 1.14 1.08 2,424
July 2023 —E_=-FtH 8,564,000 1.14 1.09 9,613
August 2023 —E-=FN\HA 7,246,000 1.10 1.08 7,962

None of the Company’s subsidiaries purchased, sold or
redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities during
the year.

36. RESERVES

Contributed surplus of the Group mainly represents the
(1) difference between the aggregate share capital of the
subsidiaries at the date on which they were acquired by
the Company and the nominal amount of the Company’s
shares issued at the time of the group corporate
reorganisation, less the par value of the bonus shares
issued by the Company; and (2) the difference between
market price and the nominal value of the shares of the
Company issued upon exercise of share options.

Special reserve of the Group represents the aggregate
of contributions from the then shareholders of the
companies comprising the Group and other subsidiaries
of HKR International Limited (“HKRI"”) before the group
corporate reorganisation in prior years.

FRARTZMBLREREEE
EEAERATZ EHES

& iR

36. {#iE

FEBZHAR TEHERMNERFWE
MEBABER ZFEMBAB ZRABER
RAEEEEREAATDERITROEEZE
BRESABEHRTARZEE k()T
ERREREATDEHTRNZHELEE
ZER

FEEZREHFERIEN SR EMAAER

FEBZRAAKMREARZEAREERBRAT
(TEBEE)) NEMRBARNERRRR

BEFEZRAETHEER
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BE_Z_NMFE=A=+—HILEE

37. SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company’s former share option scheme (“2011 Share
Option Scheme”) was adopted by the Company on 21
September 2011 and was terminated on 25 August 2020.
Share options granted prior to the termination continue
to be valid and exercisable in accordance with the terms
of 2011 Share Option Scheme.

The Company adopted a new share option scheme
("Existing Scheme”) on 25 August 2020, all executive
or non-executive directors and full-time employees of,
and consultants employed on a contract basis by, any
member of the Group are eligible to participate in the
Existing Scheme. No options have been granted under
the Existing Scheme since its adoption.

The purpose of the Existing Scheme is to provide the
participants with the opportunity to acquire proprietary
interest in the Company and to encourage them to
work towards enhancing the value of the Company
and its shares for the benefit of the Company and its
shareholders as a whole.

(a) Maximum number of shares available for
issue

The total number of shares which may be issued upon
exercise of all options to be granted under the Existing
Scheme and any other schemes of the Company shall
not exceed 10% of the shares of the Company in issue
on the date of approval of the Existing Scheme, subject
to renewal as approved by the shareholders of the
Company. The total number of shares available for issue
under the Existing Scheme is 109,092,467.
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37. FRREStE

FRABZRABRESS (T2 ——BERE
&) AARER _E——FAAZ+—H
RN —Z_SFN\NB-+HBKIE-#&
IERRHZ EREREEA N KRARE_Z
—— MBS B Z R T AT

ERABRZEZEENBZ+HBHRMHE
RRtEstEl (TRITEtE) - AEEFEAKER
BZFERNTRIFRTESREZHBEEUR
MEHnrEANERSTE2HERTHE
2 E& e BIRITEEERME  HIB T &R
HAEAGRE -

ROt ZBNAR2EERUBALAT
FIEAERZEE IEB2SRELSEAQT
RERRZZ2EMND SHEBHAAT[KRE
RinZEE-

(a) FIEIEITZRRPE B LR

RIBRITHE kA QETEME MG ER WG
BWFFAEBRERITEM FETHRG A
FoARBENRTHEMEERERTE
BITRMHDZ10% HAKEATRRAE
BRI EIRTAHEITZROBES
109,092,467f% ©
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(1)

)

(i)

(ii)

The total number of shares issued and to be
issued upon exercise of the options granted to
each participant (including both exercised and
outstanding options) in any 12-month period shall
not exceed 1% of the Company’s shares in issue
unless otherwise approved by the shareholders of
the Company.

Where any grant of options to a substantial
shareholder or an independent non-executive
director of the Company, or any of their respective
associates (as defined in the Listing Rules), would
result in the shares issued and to be issued upon
exercise of all options already granted and to
be granted (including exercised, cancelled and
outstanding options) to such person in the
12-month period up to and including the date of
the grant:

representing in aggregate over 0.1% (or such other
percentage as may from time to time be specified
by the Stock Exchange) of the Company’s shares in
issue; and

having an aggregate value, based on the closing
price of the shares of the Company on the date
of grant in excess of HK$5.0 million (or such other
amount as may from time to time be specified by
the Stock Exchange), such grant of options shall be
subject to prior approval of the shareholders of the
Company, such grantee, his associates and all core
connected persons of the Company shall abstain
from voting at such general meeting.

Such grant of options shall be subject to prior approval
by the shareholders of the Company, such grantee, his
associates and all core connected persons of the Company
shall abstain from voting at such general meeting.

Q)]

()

0}

(if)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024
BE_Z-_NE=A=+—HILFE

PRIFEERTIRRZ (FHL & > BRIFME
A+_ERAHME AfTERZE2HE
RHzBRE (BREBITERMKRTE
ZRERE) MBTRFTFETZRMGE
B A RBBERTAERITRINZ1%-

HRARABZEERRABILIENITE
EREMARSSEZHEAN (ERR L
MARR) R B EERNE
EREHSHLEZ+ @A HAE (81E%
HZBH) MRALTERERGTFREZ
FREMRIRE (BEEITE S R HRTT
EZBRE) BITEMEXH TR TH
T2k

BREEQEEEITRMD0.1% (FHER
FRREEEZEMMB D) UL 5 &

RIBAABRMRIZE BRZ W HEs
B 4 EBABYES,000,0007T (FEER
FAIRREEZ HMMEE8) » Bl EIRH
BREEEXVENSAATRRELM
HEHAET BZARA EBE AR
FREARABIZOBEANT B BERZRE
AE LEBERE-

ERIERESEVOANSEIQFRRSE
FHLET A ETT > BRI A B A KPR
BARRBZOREALTHARZRRAE £

BERRE-
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(c) Option period

The period within which the grantee may exercise the
option shall be notified by the Board to the grantee at
the time of making an offer, but such period shall not
expire later than ten years from the date of grant.

(d) Time of exercise of option

At the time of making an offer, the Company must
specify the minimum period(s), if any, for which an
option under the Existing Scheme must be held before it
can be exercised in whole or in part.

(e) Amount payable on acceptance of offer

A payment to the Company of HK$1 as consideration for
the grant shall be paid upon on the acceptance of the
offer by the grantee. The offer of grant of option must
be accepted within 14 days (or such other period of days
as determined by the Board from time to time) after the
date of offer.

(f) Basis of determining exercise price of option

The exercise price of the option shall be no less than the
highest of:

(i) the closing price of the shares of the Company as
stated in the daily quotations sheets issued by the
Stock Exchange on the date of grant, which must be
a business day;

(ii) the average closing price of the shares of the
Company as stated in the daily quotation sheets
issued by the Stock Exchange for the five business
days immediately preceding the date of grant; and

(iii) the nominal value of the shares of the Company on
the date of grant.
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(o) REhetERAR

EFFANFHENRBRHARAZAUT
fEfERERRE HEmB A [IERIRE B
HAESt+ o

(d) RBRRHEZ1TEERFIR

RAFAREHENRSRRFRITHEE
HZBREREHNHBLITENAFEZR
RIRAR (W0A) °

(e) EMENZIE(IRIA

ARABWENRANUESABTBE1TE
AEREZAE - REBREZZHANRED
HE®14X (HEF S TREEVEMEAR)
RIEAR

() EEERETEEZEE

BREZTEELAFCBRTIZEZRS
5

() EXFARIREAH GREYGEREEH)
BRHZBARKRFAAZAATRM WS

&

(i) BERFANEFREAPAEEZEERE
2 B¥R &R 2 N ARG FIUh
B, &

(i) xAB—REOPEREBHAZEE
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(g) Remaining life of the Existing Scheme

The Existing Scheme has a life of ten years commencing
on the adoption date and will expire on 24 August 2030
unless otherwise terminated in accordance with the terms
of the Existing Scheme.

At 31 March 2024, the number of shares in respect
of which options had been granted and remained
outstanding under the 2011 Share Option Scheme
was 22,146,000 (2023: 25,160,000), representing
approximately 2.06% (2023: 2.30%) of the shares of the
Company in issue at that date.

Details of the movements of the share options granted
are as follows:

For the year ended 31 March 2024

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024
HE_Z-_WE=A=+—HIEFE

(9) RITEHEIZERTEIR

PRIERIBIRITET ENER T LU UL > BRIRTT
STEIZBERNERSEHRMWBES T2
R _E=2F/\B-+HBEM-

RIEZME=ZRA=+—H 'REZFT——
BEREAICREEERITEZEBREZ
BN E%A22,146,00088 (ZE =4 .
25,160,0008%) ° 1hs% H A AR B 21T 7D
#92.06% (B =4 :230%) °

ERNBREZEFFRNOT

BE_T_ME=HA=+—HLEFE

Outstanding Lapsed Outstanding
Exercise as at during as at
price per 1 April the year 31 March
Category of participants Date of grant Exercise period share 2023 (Note b) 2024
b St 3 RIF-ME
mA-H RERKH =A=+-H
SHERY RiHAH e BRTERE HATTHE (Mizth) HAITHE
HKS
Vetion
Directors 18 October 2019 18 October 2019 to 1.16 14,986,000 (1,090,000) 13,896,000
S “E-hnE+ETNR 17 October 2024
Z2-hE+ATN\AE
ZZ-ME+TA+ER
Employees 18 October 2019 18 October 2019 to 1.16 10,174,000 (1,924,000) 8,250,000
(3] “E-AE+ATNR 17 October 2024
Z2-hE+ATN\AE
“2CME+HRA+tER
Total 25,160,000 (3,014,000) 22,146,000
At
Exercisable at the end of the reporting period 22,146,000
REEBRATE
Weighted average exercise price 116 1.16 1.16

mETEaRE
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HE—_ZT—

mEZA=+—BILFE

HE-—T==

o 13 WV B 2 B

FZRA=T—HILFE

For the year ended 31 March 2023 F_5_=
Outstanding Outstanding
Exercise as at Exercised Lapsed as at
price per 1 April during during 31 March
Category of participant Date of grant Exercise period share 2022 the year the year 2023
(Note a) (Note b)
RZ®-Z RZ8Z=
mBE—-H RERTT =B=t+-H
SHERY EHAM e BRTEE HRATHE (GES)] RERKH HAITE
HKS (Hzh)
BT
Directors 5 September 2017 5 September 2017 to 1.54 6,677,000 (5,192,000) (1,485,000) -
3 “E—tE£AREH 4 September 2022
“2—tFNAERE
2 FARMA
18 October 2019 18 October 2019 to 1.16 15,891,000 (905,000) - 14,986,000
—E-h&E+A+AR 17 October 2024
“Z-hE+AT\HE
Z2-META+ER
22,568,000 (6,097,000 (1,485,000) 14,986,000
Employees 5 September 2017 5 September 2017 to 1.54 1,321,000 - (1,321,000 -
&8 —2-tFNARA 4 September 2022
“Z-tENALAE
ZEZZEABMEA
18 October 2019 18 October 2019 to 1.16 10,512,000 - (338,000) 10,174,000
ZE-n&E+A+NR 17 October 2024
Z2-nE+ATN\RE
ZZ_META+tHE
11,833,000 - (1,659,000) 10,174,000
Total 34,401,000 (6,097,000 (3,144,000) 25,160,000
eh
Exercisable at the end of the reporting period 25,160,000
REEHRETTHE
Weighted average exercise price 1.25 148 1.50 1.16

MET9TEE
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Notes:

(@) In respect of the share options exercised during the year
ended 31 March 2023, the weighted average closing price
of the shares immediately before the dates of exercise was
HK$1.160 per share.

(b) A director and several employees were resigned as a
director or employees of the Company during the year
ended 31 March 2024, their entitlement of 3,014,000
shares was lapsed accordingly.

During the years ended 31 March 2024 and 2023, the
Group did not recognised equity-settled share-based
payments expenses in relation to share options granted
by the Company to the directors and employees of the
Group.

38. PLEDGE OF ASSETS

At the end of the reporting period, the Group’s bank
loans were secured by the Group’s assets as follows:

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024
HE_Z-_WE=A=+—HIEFE

Bk -

(a) FMHNBE_Z_=F=H=+—HLFEE
TREZBREMS  KEETEB ARG
Z TR HERSREBE1.1607T

(by —REERZLEENBE_ZT_NE=A
=t+—HIEEEREBESATDEEHES
REFHZHEM3,014,00002R D BEERM

REE_T_NER_ZE_=ZF=B=+—
BLEFE AEBIBRARTRFTHAEER
EFREEZERERIUBGEERIURK
PG ZREZE -

38. EEIRA

RBREAR AEBZRITERDUTER
THEEFRR

31.3.2024 31.3.2023

—EOEE —E"=
=B=+-A | ZA=+-A8
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Investment properties KEYE 2,214,000 2,409,300
Property, plant and equipment ME--BERSZE 253,717 264,630
Assets classified as held for sale DEAFEHEEE 148,800 =
2,616,517 2,673,930

39. PERFORMANCE BONDS

As at 31 March 2024, the Group had outstanding
performance bonds in respect of construction contracts
amounting to HK$200,829,000 (2023: HK$98,652,000).

39. B4R
R-B-—mE=—gA=+—0 > AEEREE

BHREKRBITZEBAREAAE1200,829,000
T (ZZE =4 : #%98,652,0007T) °
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024
HE_Z-_NE=B=1+—HItFE

40. COMMITMENTS

The Group’s share of the commitments made jointly with
other joint venturers relating to the joint ventures, but

40. 7K

FEESHRAMGECEBHMNGERRE

H[E) 1 B3R S HA R A R AR 2 A U0

not recognised at the end of the reporting period is as T
follows:
31.3.2024 31.3.2023
ZEE =
=B=+—H | =B=+—H
HK$'000 HK$'000
BB BETT
Commitments to provide loans RIEEREE 1,378,340 1,515,461
41. OPERATING LEASE ARRANGEMENTS 41. REHEZH
The Group as lessor EBEEALEA

At the end of the reporting period, minimum lease
payments receivable on leases are as follows:

RESHR AEERBEERKZERE

mE:

31.3.2024 31.3.2023

ZEIME —EBC=F

=ZA=+—8 | =A=+—H

HK$'000 HK$'000

BT T BT T

Within one year —ER 28,595 45,245
In the second year B_FE 9,835 20,159
In the third year B=4F 1,580 7,042
In the fourth year FIOE - 2,625
40,010 75,071

Leases are negotiable for lease term ranging from one to
three years (2023: one to four years).
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42. RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEMES
Defined contribution plan

With the implementation of Mandatory Provident
Fund Scheme in Hong Kong on 1 December 2000, the
Group has maintained the defined contribution scheme
registered under the Occupational Retirement Schemes
Ordinance and has obtained an exemption satisfying the
requirements of the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes
Ordinance (“MPFQO").

To comply with the MPFO, a Mandatory Provident Fund
Scheme (“MPF Scheme”) with voluntary contributions
has been established. New employees must join the MPF
Scheme since its commencement on 1 December 2000.
The Group contributes 5% to 15% of the relevant payroll
costs for each employee to the MPF Scheme.

The amounts charged to the consolidated statement of
profit or loss represent contributions paid and payable to
the schemes by the Group at rates specified in the rules
of the schemes less forfeitures arising from employees
leaving the Group prior to completion of qualifying
service period. The amount for the year is as follows:

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024
HE_Z-_WE=A=+—HIEFE

42. BRREFEHE
5 E kst

BER_ZSZTTFE+_F—BEAETRE
MRBEFE AEEEREREBERNK
StEMRPIEEMRIIZ R EHREE > L EE
HEETREMEABREABRG (GREEIF
Bl1) ZHR5E -

AETHERZRE AEBERIAE BRI
HARFEZBRETE (TREEHE) o1
—ERRFE+ A -HRGREITRREE
® MESLEMAREESE -AEEME
HEEREM T EMAERIS%E15%REEE

sTEIHR

AReBEaRANBRZRBEREREZSE
stEIRAIFTIEE Z LR AZF B B A R E
Rtz BEEREZRRBEEENEE
MR ERZRBEMEE ZRWH
RoRFEZRIBNT ¢

2024 2023

=~ 1 2 3 ===
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT AT
Contributions paid and payable BT R TR 16,927 16,663
Forfeiture RURHR (38) (246)
16,889 16,417

At 31 March 2024 and 2023, there is no forfeited
contribution arose upon employees leaving the
retirement benefits schemes and which were available to
reduce contributions payable.

ACECNNER-_E-_=F=A=+—8>
rEBRITERESRIHEBAEANFEMELE
B Al B LURE FE (S (R 2 R W (it =k o
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024
BE_Z_NMFE=A=+—HILEE

Pursuant to the Employment Ordinance, Chapter 57,
the Group has the obligation to pay LSP to qualifying
employees in Hong Kong upon retirement, subject to a
minimum of 5 years employment period, based on the
following formula:

o Last monthly wages (before termination of
employment) X 2/3 X Years of service

o Last monthly wages are capped at HK$22,500 while
the amount of long service payment shall not
exceed HK$390,000. This obligation is accounted for
as a post-employment defined benefit plan.

Furthermore, the MPFO permits the Group to utilise the
Group’s mandatory and voluntary MPF contributions,
plus/minus any positive/negative returns thereof
(collectively, the "Eligible Offset Amount”), for the
purpose of offsetting LSP payable to an employee (the
“Offsetting Arrangement’). The LSP obligation, if any, is
presented on a net basis.

The Employment & Retirement Schemes Legislation
(Offsetting Arrangement) (Amendment) Ordinance 2022
was gazetted on 17 June 2022, which will eventually
abolish the Offsetting Arrangement. The Amendment
will come into effect prospectively from a date to be
determined by the Hong Kong SAR Government, which
is expected to be in 2025 (the “Transition Date”). Under
the amended Ordinance, the Eligible Offset Amount
after the Transition Date can only be applied to offset
the pre-Transition Date LSP obligation but no longer
eligible to offset the post-Transition Date LSP obligation.
Furthermore, the LSP obligations before the Transition
Date will be grandfathered and calculated based on the
Last monthly wages immediately preceding the Transition
Date.
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REEBEMNFESTE  ZEBEEEREE
GEREERKNBNRARE S ((RIRK
BE)  WREHRARVASF SHEARM
T

s EREBE—EAMIE (KLLEMRER) X 2/3
X BRFSE R

e E%—MEBIELRAEN22,500
o MEARBESEAIBBABE
390,0007T ° ZEEEA B E R EEF
HEI AR

te5h > GREIME AR EEG) AT EAER
BAAREBEREE KR BEEREE R
mE/BEEMME&ER (RBESER
IR  LURSEEN T RENRIART S
(MRS L HE) - RABRBEEE WA) &7
BEAEZT o

(CEZ_FEEREBASEEG (RIHZH)

(D FRAYR _E__F,A+tHT
B R ERBHZE - ZETREBER
BRTHERFEEN B R R1 =
T5F) (NREBA) RATE - RIBLE
SIRES BE BB S ERIEHER
BArEEHBE BN RARBEEE 1
FTBEERRHBEARERNRBRG SR
fEo It > 38 B RN RBBRB = EERF
RUCIR > TR RIFEEZEEAHIN&RE—
BRAI&EH-
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The Group’s LSP obligation, taking into consideration the
Offsetting Arrangement, is considered to be insignificant
and no additional provision has been recognised as at 31

March 2024 and 31 March 2023.

43. RELATED PARTY BALANCES AND

TRANSACTIONS

disclosed in the consolidated statement of financial

In addition to the balances with related parties as RIS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024

HE_Z-_WE=A=+—HIEFE

43. A TSR RR S

ETRIIEHZH R _S_NE=/A=+—
BR-Z-_=F=ZA=+—H'x&ENER
HRBEEERBB/LANEKX > B il FHED
ERSMELE

BA RS AR L 3R e B 5%21 ~ 25~ 26 %30
Frif 88 > R Bk A\ T 45 6R SN » N EE B B RA B A

position and notes 21, 25, 26 and 30, the Group has the TEUTRG KRG .
following transactions and balances with related parties:
2024 2023
HK$’'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Subsidiaries of HKRI (note ¢): EBEEZE AR sk :
— Interior and renovation income — S Ef R MEIEURA
(note a) (ffzxa) - 140
Joint ventures of the Group: KEEZEERE
— Construction income (note b) —EBEIRA (fsEb) 144,898 130,416
- Project management income —EHEEEKRA
(note b) (M35Eb) 1,645 6,224
— Interest income (note b) —FBA (HfisEb) 19,674 19,083
Subsidiaries of Million Hope (note ¢): EZZHBAT (Miztc):
- Building materials income (note a)  —EZEMEIUA (HizEa) - 810
- Rental income (note a) —MAEWA (Fizta) - 7

LI B A 2 B A PR H] 2023/20244E 3
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024
HE_Z_NE=A=+—HILEE

Notes:

(@)

(b)

(0

These related party transactions constitute connected
transactions as defined in Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules
but are exempted from disclosure and other requirements
under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

These related party transactions do not constitute
connected transactions or continuing connected
transactions as defined in Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

HKRI and Million Hope are regarded as related companies
in which CCM Trust, a substantial shareholder of the
Company, and certain discretionary trusts have beneficial
interests.

Compensation of key management personnel

The remuneration of directors and other members of key

management during the year are as follows:

Bk

(@) UEFERBALTRZEAMLEHRIF14AEE
RZMERZ WEERRET LEHRAUE
14AETH TR B R H MR E

(b) UEFRABALTRZAEALEHRAFE14AE
EEZHEXZAFEMERS

(O BERERESPRARARNEBRECCM
TrustR & FRBEER AP A Balns
RBAF

TEEEASZHMN

FAFEEEEREMETEEEAB ZFHM
T s

2024 2023
ZEIME —E-=

HK$'000 HK$'000

BT T BT T

Fees W 5,401 5,200

Salaries and other benefits e REMET 22,017 22,479

Performance related incentive TERIRIEE

payments 11,360 25,200
Retirement benefits schemes RIREFET AR

contributions 2,936 2,990

Ex-gratia payments BENIE - 3,335

41,714 59,204
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44. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

OF THE COMPANY AND RESERVES

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024

HE_Z-_WE=A=+—HIEFE

44. ZREZMBIRRR K iR

31.3.2024 31.3.2023
—EME —E=HF
=A=+-8 | ZA=+-8
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T

Non-current assets ERBEE
Investment in a subsidiary KENR—HEHREBAE 326,740 326,740
Amounts due from subsidiaries Al NS ] 481,012 511,612
807,752 838,352

Current assets MEEE
Other receivables Hith e EkIE 62 60
Amounts due from subsidiaries FEUR M B A B FRIE 30,000 82,971
Cash and cash equivalents RERBREEEE 506 5,293
30,568 88,324
Current liability Mt E=RE

Other payables and accrued charges  H &t FIB KR EtE B 3,920 4,397
Net current assets REEEEE 26,648 83,927
834,400 922,279

Capital and reserves BARRKG#EE
Share capital &7 107,307 109,629
Reserves (note) HE (fzE) 727,093 812,650
834,400 922,279

LI B A W A B 28 B] 2023/20244E 3
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024

HE_Z-_NE=B=1+—HItFE

Note: Movements in reserves of the Company:

Mzt . ZABHFBZET

Share-
based Treasury
Share  compensation shares  Accumulated
premium reserve reserve profits Total
BB R
E20j:)
R EE ekt BEEREE Rt #ast
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
AT BT AT BT BT
At 1 April 2022 RIZEZZHMNA—H 687,922 7,555 - 126,745 822,222
Profit and total comprehensive SEERHREERELE
income for the year - - - 87,465 87,465
Dividends paid (note 14) ERIRE (fizE14) - - - (82,971) (82,971)
Issue of shares upon exercise TEEREMRTZRM
of share options 9,991 (1,556) - - 8,435
Share options lapsed IR EAN - (805) - 805 =
Repurchase of shares [l B RS - - (23,866) = (23,866)
Transaction costs attributable to OB R HAE
repurchase - - (175) - (175)
Cancellation of shares RN (16,372) - 17,912 = 1,540
At 31 March 2023 RIB2Z=f=A=+—H 681,541 5,194 (6,129) 132,044 812,650
Loss and total comprehensive AEEGEREEEYEE
expense for the year - - - (2,593) (2,593)
Dividends paid (note 14) ERFIRE (fizE14) - - - (65,136) (65,136)
Share options lapsed FERERY - (617) = 617 =
Repurchase of shares [l B RS - - (19,999) = (19,999)
Transaction costs attributable to EERNELZRZHA
repurchase - - (151) - (151)
Cancellation of shares RN (23,957) = 26,279 = 2,322
At 31 March 2024 RIZZME=A=+—H 657,584 4,577 - 64,932 727,093
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45. FINANCIAL GUARANTEE CONTRACTS

As at 31 March 2024, the subsidiaries of the Company
and the other shareholders of the joint ventures of
the Company issued financial guarantees jointly and
severally to certain banks in respect of banking facilities
granted to joint ventures. The aggregate amounts that
could be required to be paid is HK$1,178,696,000 (2023:
HK$1,180,016,000) if the guarantees were called upon
in entirety, of which partial amount of the relevant
banking facilities, amounting to HK$532,003,000
(2023: HK$491,906,000) has been utilised by these joint
ventures. The Group considers the fair value of the
contract is nil at initial recognition and the loss allowance
as at 31 March 2024 and 2023 are insignificant. Details
of the credit risk assessment of the financial guarantee
contracts are set out in note 47.

46. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in
the Group will be able to continue as a going concern
while maximising the return to shareholders through
the optimisation of the debt and equity balances. The
Group’s overall strategy remains unchanged from prior
year.

The capital structure of the Group consists of net debt,
which includes lease liabilities and bank loans disclosed
in notes 32 and 33, respectively, net of cash and cash
equivalents, and equity, comprising issued share capital,
reserves and accumulated profits.

The directors of the Company review the capital structure
on a regular basis. As part of this review, the directors
of the Company consider the cost of capital and the
risks associated with each class of capital.
recommendations of the directors of the Company, the
Group will balance its overall capital structure through
the payment of dividends and new share issues, as well
as the issue of new debts and the redemption of existing
debts.

Based on

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024
BE_Z-_NE=A=+—HILFE

45. FHiEmRE L

F_V_EE B=1+—H &R EHREA
BARANTEEAECENEMREMBTEE
TENRTHELRRERN RS TRITRME
SR - MR EERTBHMEER QIS
EXTHEEEEAE11,178,696,0007T (=
T =4 : %51,180,016,0007T) > ELHFHRE
IRITREE A2 £ EEA1£532,003,0007T (:
T =4 : ##491,906,0007T) EWZES

A FEERA ?éﬂﬁm%ﬁmﬁ
HAFEAS  BRZE-_NER-TZ=
FZAZ=Z+—HMNEERBBELREKR MH%
EREONEER KT BN 47 -

46. A& AR EE
ARBERLAS U RAEE NS A

FEMUFECELNEE RFTERER
ﬁ?‘*é‘i@ffg o HY B (£ T 18 1 # IR R F A& K[
W AEBNBIEREEEFERERTE-

FEBNEARBHBES (BEFEIRIRH
32K REHEARKIRITER (0K
RERFEEEE) D (BSE#HTRE
#E KRR EH) A

KRBDERTEHMAERRE - (FR IR
2R BARDVEFTEREESHAIRESR
FESHERERE - REBEAABDESNEZ
FEEFBBRIRMRERBITHR  UKE
THEBRBEONREEHBUTHEBEER
ZEtEo
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024
HE_Z-_NE=B=1+—HItFE

47. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 47. BT A
Categories of financial instruments BT RLER
31.3.2024 31.3.2023
=A=+-8 | ZA=+—-8
HKS$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Financial assets HEEE
Financial assets at FVTPL ERBEERATENEZ
MBEE 263 405
Financial assets at amortised cost RSNt E2ENMHEE 1,666,492 1,507,641
Financial liabilities e
At amortised cost i S N s 2,083,397 1,752,797

Financial risk management objectives and
policies

The Group’s major financial instruments include loans to
joint ventures, trade debtors, other receivables, amounts
due from joint ventures, cash and cash equivalents,
financial assets at FVTPL, trade and other payables, lease
liabilities and bank loans.

Details of these financial instruments are disclosed in the
respective notes. The risks associated with these financial
instruments and the policies on how to mitigate these
risks are set out below. The management manages and
monitors these exposures to ensure appropriate measures
are implemented on a timely and effective manner.

HHRREEBFREE

FEBZIEMBIAGESEREER
FEUWRIE s Ht R IE s B E E R EMR
B RERFEEEE - BEBETRATEHNE
ZHBEE BIRERAEMELREHE
BEUKRIRITER

EzEMBITARAZFBREMMNEHRE-
HZEMBTRARMZRERRA MM FERE
ZERBZBRBN T -EREEERE
LR URRKRENA MM RRZE
)itk
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Market risk
(i) Currency risk

The functional currency of the group entities is mainly
HK$, the currency in which most of the transactions are
denominated.

The carrying amounts of the foreign currency
denominated monetary assets which are debtors and
cash and cash equivalents, of the group entities at the
end of the reporting period are as follows:

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024
BE_Z-_NE=A=+—HILFE
h 15 /2 B
(i) HEBRMRE
FEESERZIEEBETEABE KT
PR ZUBEE

FEBZEBNBEHRUINEAEZEEE
EEABKNIERRESRIRSESE HIFEE
BT :

31.3.2024 31.3.2023
—EOEE —E==
=B=+—-8 | =A=+-AH
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT
Euro BRIt 13 13
RMB AR 393 833
United States Dollars ETT 33 20

The management of the Group considers that the
currency risk of the above monetary assets is not
significant to the Group, accordingly, no sensitivity
analysis is presented. The Group currently does not
have a foreign currency hedging policy. However, the
management monitors foreign exchange exposure
and will consider hedging significant foreign currency
exposure should the need arise.

(ii) Interest rate risk

The cash flow interest rate risk relates primarily to the
Group’s variable-rate bank loans which are linked to
the HIBOR and bank balances at the prevailing market
deposit rate. The Group is also exposed to fair value
interest rate risk in relation to fixed-rate loans to joint
ventures (see note 21 for details) and lease liabilities. The
Group currently does not have an interest rate hedging
policy. However, the management monitors interest rate
exposure and will consider hedging significant interest
rate exposure should the need arise.

FEFEREERA LREBEEZERRAR
HAEEMS L AER Bt 25 8UR
FE 73 A o 7 55 [ 3R By At 45 S0 S 0 DR EROSR o R
m> EREERIMERR  TRNAERERE
¥R E R IME ELRE o

(i) F=ERE

ReEmtXRARTERLERZFRBIRITE
R (REFERAFTBIRTEERSH9) ki%
RITHBERMNERABZIRITERAR - E
ERTAREARSECEFLHZEEMNXE
;R (FEF2ENE2N) REEREFERHZA
FAEF R ERR o 4 5 B 3R BRI 8 F R 8 R
RoAT EEEEERANXREAR  ERKHKE
REREEHPERMEERE -
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024
BE_Z_NMFE=A=+—HILEE

A fundamental reform of major interest rate benchmarks
has been undertaken globally to replace some interbank
offered rates with alternative nearly risk-free rates.
Details of the impacts on the Group’s risk management
strategy arising from the interest rate benchmark reform
and the progress towards implementation of alternative
benchmark interest rates are set out under “interest rate
benchmark reform” in this note.

The directors of the Company consider the Group’s
exposure of bank balances to interest rate risk is not
significant as interest bearing bank balances are within
short maturity period. The Group’s sensitivity to interest
rate risk has been determined based on the exposure to
interest rates for variable-rate bank loans at the end of
the reporting period. The analysis is prepared assuming
the amounts outstanding at the end of the reporting
period was outstanding for the whole year. The Group's
sensitivity to interest rate risk at the end of the reporting
period while all other variables were held constant is as
follows:

ERERETEMNREEETRAMERE > UL
B ERBRNEAN IR D RITRZER
B-ARMNREENETHAERRAKREER
BHNFEEREABENEXNEREENF
B BN AR RE L E -

TABEERR  FEBZRITHEERAIEAR
PR KRR AEX  RERZ S B IRITEER
[EREHER AERRHREARZSRE
EREBENRBSHARZFERVRITERFREE
BEE -AMDBRERNBSHARNREESER
REEEENAREEMER -RRFAEH
thEERFAE  AEENKRSHREF X
Rz BREMT

2024 2023
—EIME —EC=
Reasonably possible change in MEATGEHRZ
interest rate HIEEH 50 basis 50 basis
points points
S50fE £ B SOfE & 2
HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT BT T
Increase in post-tax loss for the year ~ AEERIREBIEHRN
(2023: Increase in post-tax loss FEEAMEM(CE=5F:
for the year) as a result of an KFERRIR BB EIE )
increase in the interest rate (7,841) (6,369)
Decrease in post-tax loss for the year ZAREERRMBEEBHR
(2023: Decrease in post-tax loss FETrEmMALD (CEZ=
for the year) as a result of a REERREBEIERL)
decrease in the interest rate 7.841 6,369
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(iii) Equity price risk

The Group’s financial assets at FVTPL include listed equity
securities in Hong Kong. These listed equity securities are
subject to market price risk. The management manages
this exposure by maintaining a portfolio of investments
with different risk profiles. Details of the financial assets
at FVTPL are set out in note 27. The management of
the Group considers that the market price risks of these
investments are not significant to the Group, accordingly,
no sensitivity analysis is presented.

Credit risk and impairment assessment

Credit risk refers to the risk that the Group’s
counterparties default on their contractual obligations
resulting in the financial losses to the Group. The
Group'’s credit risk exposures are primarily attributable to
financial assets at amortised cost, lease receivables and
contract assets. The Group does not hold any collateral
or other credit enhancements to cover its credit risks
associated with its financial assets, lease receivables and
contract assets.

In order to minimise the credit risk, the management
of the Group has delegated a team responsible for
determination of credit limits, credit approvals and other
monitoring procedures to ensure that follow-up action
is taken to recover overdue debts. In this regards, the
management of the Group considers that the Group's
credit risk is significantly reduced.

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024
BE_Z-_NE=A=+—HILFE

(i) RSB AR

FERZEBEmBEATEAEZMBEEES
HEEBLTRARF ZFELHRAFESFA
AR HIZERRR - EEENURIAFRFRE
KEFNBREACKEEEHEIR - FEiREE
BATEABZMBEESFBHINHME27 -
FEFEEERARTREZTHERRR
HAEEMSLAEA > B WHEE 580K
E e

EE R KR ET G

EERREAEERZHERESHNEEM
ERAEEBRUBRINERE -KAEEE
ERRETERBRBERIAENTBE
E -BWHERERGNEE - AEEIT B
B R0 a5 H (5 S 18 S8 18 1 LU 85 22
HMBEE - BWHAERERGNEERM
NIEE R -

RTBRERBEERAR *EBEEEEZE
EF-HAEEEEEGERE - FEHER
HthEE =2 7 » LIFEfR B SREVIRE T W[
BEARR RIS A EBEERERBEE
B2 EERERERIEREE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS & & W %5 i 26 b 5k
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024
BE_Z_NWE=BA=+—HIEE

The Group’s internal credit risk grading assessment

FEBZASEERBRRR T EEFEUATE

comprises the following categories: Al
Trade debtors/ Other financial assets/
Internal credit rating Description contract assets other items
NEE TR HAEA BWHE, GHEE HttfiisEE  HithEe
Low risk The counterparty has a low risk of default Lifetime ECL 12m ECL
and does not have any past-due amounts - not credit-impaired
9 REFENRRE X REIFBIARE FENMZBREERE +_ERRMEERE
-BiEEHE
Watch list Debtor frequently repays after due dates but Lifetime ECL 12m ECL
usually settle in full or requires the Group’s - not credit-impaired
closer monitoring
BReE BHENRERIPARENERERYGEFN FENRZRBEERE +_ERRBEERE
REAEEEREE -BiEERHE
Doubtful There have been significant increases in Lifetime ECL Lifetime ECL
credit risk since initial recognition through - not credit-impaired - not credit-impaired
information developed internally or external
resources
a&E BRNFAEERIMNIERGNEERKEE FEBMzZENEERE HFENRzZRBEERR
MiaHEDEBE R -BiEERHE -BiEEHE
Loss There is evidence indicating the asset is Lifetime ECL Lifetime ECL
credit-impaired - credit-impaired - credit-impaired
Wi BERETEECBHRESHE FENMZRREERE #EPHIEREEFE
-BHREERE -BHREERE
Write-off There is evidence indicating that the debtor Amount is written off Amount is written off
is in severe financial difficulty and the Group
has no realistic prospect of recovery
622 BREBBETEEABAREMREE MA& MEESLHE I B S

B & BRI ERIRR AT A

In addition, the Group has applied different loss rates
to the internal credit rating category according to the
classification and nature of respective financial assets.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS & W5 2 M ak

Trade debtors and contract assets

For trade debtors and contract assets, the Group has
applied the simplified approach in HKFRS 9 to measure
the loss allowance at lifetime ECL. In addition, the Group
performs impairment assessment under ECL model on
trade debtors and contract assets individually or based on
collective assessment.

As part of the Group’s credit risk management, the
Group applies internal credit rating for its customers.
As at 31 March 2024, the ECL for trade debtors and
contract assets that are credit-impaired or receivable and
contract assets from departments of The Government of
HKSAR with gross carrying amounts of HK$24,806,000
(2023: HK$18,836,000) and HK$124,341,000 (2023:
HK$95,697,000) are assessed individually. No impairment
loss has been recognised during the current and prior
year.

The following table provides information about the
exposure to credit risk for trade debtors and contract
assets which are assessed based on collective assessment
within lifetime ECL (not credit-impaired).

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024
BE_Z-_NE=A=+—HILFE

BEWFERGHEE

MERRERGNEENS  ~&EERASE
AMBRSERFNRANGEEIRTFER
BTAREEEETEHERER It £ &
EEBMERREARGNEERBRRGESR
EEEHEN ER L ETREN G-

FAXEBRCERREEN—D &R
AEERFERASBEEFR - R_TZ
EF=B=+—HB REHEEINAEBE
24,806,0007C (ZZ =4 : #1%18,836,000
70) KA 15124,341,0007T (S =F : Bl
95,697,0007T) Z 5B REREWE A EK
RSz RERENEENTEREEFEW
BRIGE - REAEERLE—FEBRBERITR
fER538 -

TREHEHABFENREZEREEHRE
(BEERE BEREERIGETIMG
ZREHRERENEEZ EERRZER

Gross carrying amount FRE#EE

Average Trade Contract
loss rate debtors assets
EEsiax FEFRIE AHNEE
Internal credit rating A E E TR HK$'000 HK$'000
BT BT

As at 31 March 2024 A _E_ME=ZRA=+—H
Low risk B 0.15% - 0.60% 34,905 185,763
Watch list BRLE 1.36% 3,312 -

As at 31 March 2023 RZEZ_=%=B=+—H
Low risk BRR 0.51% - 0.65% 52,824 143,440
Watch list BR4E 0.60% 1,799 =
B AR PR 4 B v H) 202320245688 247



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS & & W %5 i 26 b 5k

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024
BE_Z_NMFE=A=+—HILEE

The estimated loss rates are estimated based on
historical observed default rates over the expected life
of the debtors and are adjusted for forward-looking
information that is reasonable, supportable and available
without undue cost or effort. Management performs
review regularly to ensure relevant information about
specific debtors is updated.

The following table shows the movement in lifetime ECL
that has been recognised for trade debtors and contract

(SR RIS A A BB E AT
BREOREH EREBAREBSRAN
SN NS ET B
HiEE - EREEPETES URRENE
RIS S A LOMRRE AL o

YRIBE B RHE

TRIITEHBIEENEBRRBERENEE
HENFEREAZRBEERENEDE

assets under the simplified approach. Ao
Trade debtors Contract assets
il e BNEE
Lifetime ECL Lifetime ECL
(not credit- (not credit-
impaired) impaired)
FEBEZ FEBEZ
FEHEEHE M FEHEEHE
B8 B8
i {E) A {E)
HK$'000 HK$'000
AETT BRI
At 1 April 2022 RZE__&NA—H 768 1,100
Changes due to financial instruments, RIZZZENA—HEMBEIA
lease receivables or contract assets BUHEERESANEEELNED) .
as at 1 April 2022:
- Impairment loss reversed -BROHERE (768) (494)
New financial assets, lease receivables or MELIBEENHMEEE
contract assets originated or purchased BRHEHERANEE 286 323
At 31 March 2023 RIEZ=§=A=+-H 286 929
Changes due to financial instruments, RIZZ=FNA—-ARMBIA
lease receivables or contract assets EYRERERANEEEENES
as at 1 April 2023:
— Impairment loss reversed -BREAERE (286) (499)
New financial assets, lease receivables or HELHBENMHBEE.
contract assets originated or purchased ERHEERERSNEE 99 692
At 31 March 2024 RIEZmE=F=+—-H 99 1,122
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The Group writes off a trade debtor when there is
information indicating that the debtor is in severe
financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of
recovery, e.g. when the debtor has been placed under
liquidation or has entered into bankruptcy proceedings,
or when the trade debtors are over three years past due,
whichever occurs earlier.

As at 31 March 2024, the Group has concentration of
credit risk with 39% (2023: 26%) and 40% (2023: 40%)
of the total gross trade debtors from contracts with
customers and contract assets was due from the Group'’s
largest customer, departments of The Government of
HKSAR. In view of their credit standings, good repayment
record in the past and long term relationships with the
Group and taking into consideration of forward-looking
information, the directors of the Company consider that
the Group’s credit risk is not material.

During the year ended 31 March 2024 and 2023, no
impairment loss has been recognised on trade debtors
which were assessed individually.

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024
BE_Z-_NE=A=+—HILFE

EREEHETEBARAREMBEZE B
i % B PR UK B R IR R AT e B (MRS AR08
BREARERF AERKRRIEE BB
B=F URBEHEESRE)) » FEETHH
FEU TR ©

RIEZME=ZR=+—H x&EE@EESE
PEERK39% (CTE-=F:26%) %40%
(ZEBZ=F:40%) WREBEFENOKREHN
BEZHERKREREABRBAERRAR
FEAREHMAMMAMNRE - EREENE
ARE - BEFRFNENRCRRERERN
REARAAR LT RAIBEMER > AATEER
ARERNEERMILFAEK

WEE_S-—MER-S-=H=F=+—
1k 4 » 3 % 9t 1 3 6425 40 FE M SR IE PR 22
BRI -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS & & W %5 i 26 b 5k

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024
BE_Z_NMFE=A=+—HILEE

The table below details the credit risk exposures of the
Group’s other financial assets, which are subject to ECL
assessment:

TRFIEEBMEMPBEEZEERR
ERE R AR RIE SRR

Gross carrying  Gross carrying

External Internal 12m or amount as at amount as at
credit rating credit rating lifetime ECL 31 March 2024 31 March 2023
+ZEAH AZEZME RIBZ=
FEPHz =A=t—H =ZB=1+—H
SMBEE TR AEEE TR EHiEERE HEREA(E MR E A (E
HK$'000 HK$'000
AETT BETT
Financial assets at amortised cost
BRSNS HENHBEE
Loans to joint ventures N/A Low risk 12m ECL 536,193 710,653
BEEEER TEMA R +ZEATRED
FEBE
N/A Watch list 12m ECL 635,464 363,980
TEMH BR4E +ZEATREH
FEEE
Amounts due from joint ventures N/A Loss Lifetime ECL 847+ 847+
&S RERIE TER B8 FEREZ
HEHEEHE
Other receivables N/A Low risk 12m ECL 4,863 7,469
HnfElzE TEMA R +ZEATREH
FEBE
Bank balances A or above N/A 12m ECL 441,028 399,091
RITHEER Ak FEH +ZEAREH
ZEEE

& The amount is considered as credit-impaired and full
provision is made on that amounts due from a joint
venture.

For the purpose of internal credit risk management, the
Group uses reasonable and supportable forward-looking
information to assess whether credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition.

* ZERRARCRECERE THEK—

BEEEER

HEtiR R RRE S

RETAREERRER AEBEREGE
REEBREEENTLEERBRESER
I FESDRE R IELE A0
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS & & W %% 55 22 b

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024
HE_Z-_WE=A=+—HIEFE

Not past due/
no fixed
repayment
Past due terms Total
Ka,/
BEEEW
EHA HAMR #st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BT BT T BT T
As at 31 March 2024 A ZE_NME=F=+—H
Loans to joint ventures BELEEM - 1,171,657 1,171,657
Amounts due from RS ERERE
joint ventures - 847 847
Other receivables HhpEWzIE = 4,863 4,863
As at 31 March 2023 A ZET=F=H=+—H
Loans to joint ventures AEREER = 1,074,633 1,074,633
Amounts due from FEWEE R ERIE
joint ventures - 847 847
Other receivables H W TRIB - 7,469 7,469

Loans to joint ventures and amounts due from joint

ventures

For the purpose of internal credit risk management,
the Group regularly monitors the business performance
of joint ventures. Before granting the loans to joint
ventures, the management of the Group has obtained
understanding to the financial background and business
performance of the joint ventures. The Group’s credit
risks in these balances are mitigated through monitoring
the value of the assets held by the joint ventures. As
at 31 March 2024, the gross carrying amounts of loans
to joint ventures and amounts due from joint ventures
are HK$1,171,657,000 (2023: HK$1,074,633,000) and
HK$847,000 (2023: HK$847,000), respectively.

BELEEAREBKEELENRA

AETRBEERAREE  rEBTHER
FELENEBRRA - BTFEELEER
A AEEEEEETHREECENUES
EREBRA - FEANRZEEHRNEE
R EBEREECEMPFEENEER
RoR-_E_WNE=-A=+—H 88t
ERREREECERIENRERLES R
2 7#%1,171,657,0007c (CE =4 : Bl
1,074,633,0007T) K A& 1847,0007t (ZE ==
£ #15847,0007T) ©

G AR P A R4S W) 20232024568 251



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS & & W %5 i 26 b 5k

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024
BE_Z_NMFE=A=+—HILEE

The following table shows the movement in 12m ECL
(not credit-impaired) that has been recognised for loans

to joint ventures which are assessed individually.

TEFTACHAEE LR (EEBITE)
209+ =88 T E A (RIS ERE)
BB B R -

Loans to

joint ventures

BEEEER

HK$'000

BT T

At 1 April 2022 RIE"FMB—H 18,775
Changes due to financial instruments K2 _FMA—H

as at 1 April 2022: HFTREEENES !

— Impairment loss recognised —BRERRERSIE 28,044
At 31 March 2023 RZZE_=F=RF=+—H 46,819
Changes due to financial instruments RIE-_=FMA—H

as at 1 April 2023: R T EELSES

— Impairment loss recognised — B ERE 88,210
At 31 March 2024 RZZE_WE=A=+—H 135,029

Other receivables

As part of the Group’s credit risk management, the
management of the Group has obtained understanding
to the credit background of the debtors and undertaken
the internal credit approval process. The Group applies
internal credit rating for its debtors. No allowance for
impairment was made since the management of the

HithfEWK~%E

ERTEREERAREEN -0 ~&EH
EEEETHREBANGESRILET TR
BEEEMEF FEEHEBABARN
SHR BANEERERFZ K ZEELER®E
FEBERERSENNATREME M il
EmIHRRERE

Group considers that the probability of default is minimal
after considering the counterparties’ repayment history.
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Bank balances

For the purpose of internal credit risk management,
the Group mainly transacts with banks with high
credit ratings and regularly monitors the international
credit rating of the counterparties. No allowance
for impairment was made since the management of
the Group consider that the probability of default is
negligible as such amounts are receivable from or placed
in banks with good reputation.

Financial guarantee contracts and loan commitments

No allowance for impairment was made since the
management of the Group considers that the exposure
at default was minimal as the management of the Group
has obtained understanding of the financial background
and business performance of the joint ventures and
concluded that there has been no significant increase
in credit risk since initial recognition. In the opinion of
the directors of the Company, the Group's credit risks
in financial guarantee contracts and loan commitments
to joint ventures are mitigated through the value of
the assets held by the joint ventures. Accordingly, the
loss allowance for financial guarantee contracts and
loan commitments is measured at an amount equal
to 12m ECL and the loss allowance was considered as
insignificant.

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024
BE_Z-_NE=A=+—HILFE

RITAZER

RETABEERRERE *EEXEARF
BB RaNROTXZ LERERRZ 7
NEREETR BN ERREARKEE
REFZIRTZRERFRNAZFRITZNR
B AEBREREERBEBONAIESEMAR
B AL SRR E B o

B BEREARENEE

HRAEEEERRAHETHEGEREN
MBEBRREBRE ISHERTA/ED
IHERBUREE R ARBEEE M AHRE
WEBRE D i E SRR EEE A ATE
ERR FEEMSELERMOMBIER
BNREMAENEERRBBSETCEM
REENBERE Bt MBREFREORE
MAEGENBRREFERSR+T—EARBEER
BRI ERE BREFREALREK
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024
BE_Z_NMFE=A=+—HILEE

In the management of the liquidity risk, the Group
monitors and maintains a level of cash and cash
equivalents deemed adequate by the management to
finance the Group's operations and mitigate the effects
of fluctuations in cash flows. The management monitors
the utilisation of bank loans and ensures compliance with
loan covenants.

The Group relies on bank loans as a significant source of
liquidity. As at 31 March 2024, the Group has unutilised
borrowing facilities of approximately HK$1,100,569,000
(2023: HK$1,220,000,000) as at 31 March 2024. Details of
bank loans are set out in note 33.

The following table details the Group’s remaining
contractual maturity for its financial liabilities and lease
liabilities based on the agreed repayment terms. For non-
derivative financial liabilities and lease liabilities, the
table has been drawn up based on the undiscounted cash
flows of financial liabilities and lease liabilities based on
the earliest date on which the Group can be required to
pay. Specifically, bank loans with a repayment on demand
clause are included in the earliest time band regardless
of the probability of the banks choosing to exercise
their rights. The maturity dates for other non-derivative
financial liabilities and lease liabilities are based on the
agreed repayment dates. The table includes both interest
and principal cash flows.
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TEERDESREE  AEBBGIERER
ERERSBRENREKRBESFEKT
UAKTEB2Z EEREE S RBEREM
BRI E - BEERIERITERZH
1B i (R IE T ErR3258

AEBRBIRITEREAEENRHESHK
B R _—_BE_NE=A=+—H KE@ERZ
ENE=ZA=1+—HWEXBABEREN
% 7#%1,100,569,0007c (ZT =4 : B
1,220,000,0007T) °RITEMR ZsF 1B &AM sE
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BERAEERZEOFEREAE -MIFITE
MHEaRREEEEMS  ERDRELSE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

o W05 R B RE
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024
HE_Z-_WE=A=+—HIEFE

Liquidity tables MEBEER
As at 31 March 2024 Weighted ~ On demand
RZFZME=A=+-A average or Total
effective less than 1-2 2-5 Over undiscounted Carrying
interest rate 1 year years years 5 years cash flow amount
METs REXY R
BRA= TRIE 128 255 SEME REReE REfE
% HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BAt BT BT BlETr BETR BETR BT
Non-derivative financial liabilities ~ JEfTEMEEE
Trade and other payables ARt RENTE - 168,043 37,282 - - 205,325 205,325
Bank loans - variable rate* RITEN-FBHT L 598 1,878,072 - - - 1878072 1878072
Lease liabilities HE&E 5.06 3,345 1,899 892 4,960 11,09 7,903
2,049,460 39,181 892 4,960 2,094,493 2,091,300
As at 31 March 2023 Weighted ~ On demand
RZEZ=%=R=+-H average or Total
effective less than 1-2 25 Over undiscounted Carrying
interest rate 1 year years years 5 years cash flow amount
k2] RERH KR
BRA= FRIE 126 255 SEME REnem REE
% HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BAt BT BT BT BT BT BT
Non-derivative financial liabilities ~ JEfTEMHEEE
Trade and other payables AR MRS - 197,118 30,245 - - 227,363 227,363
Bank loans - variable rate* BTER-FHEE 457 394365 1,182,736 - - 1577100 1,525,434
Lease liabilities HE&E 5.44 1,949 530 742 5,200 8,421 5,176
593,432 1,213,511 742 5,200 1,812,885 1,751,973

& The interest rates applied to projected undiscounted cash
flows of variable rate bank loans are the interest rates at
the end of the reporting period.

The amounts above for variable interest rate instruments
for non-derivative financial liabilities are subject to
change if changes in variable interest rate differ to those

estimates of interest rates determined at the end of the

reporting period.

*

FERRRITEMZ BT RITRFEMFAH
BOFRDREPRZFIER

EHASTEMBAEIATAZSE
R EIRIR Y BB RN R S R 2 b
SIS RES R B o

LI B A 2 B A PR H] 2023/20244E 3
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS & & W %5 i 26 b 5k

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024
BE_Z_NMFE=A=+—HILEE

Bank loans with a repayment on demand clause are
included in the “on demand or less than 1 year” time
band in the above maturity analysis. As at 31 March
2024, the aggregate undiscounted principal amounts
of these bank loans amounted to HK$1,047,003,000
(2023: HK$378,400,000). Taking into account the Group's
financial position, the directors of the Company do
not believe that it is probable that the banks will
exercise their discretionary rights to demand immediate
repayment. The directors of the Company believe that
such bank loans as at 31 March 2024 will be repaid
within one (2023: one) year after the reporting date in
accordance with the scheduled repayment dates set out
in the loan agreements, details of which are set out in
the table below:

EU LB @3 BRERERKER
ZIRITERDBIIATRERKFE—FIFHHE
B -M_B_ME=A=+—H ZFRT
BRZRINA AL LLEEA A 11,047,003,000
7T (CE =4 B15378,400,0007T) &85t
REAEBZHMBERR ZRATES UL ATA
BRRITETEENBEZRENEER K
REEEMHGE RIEERERBEAEZTE
BEFAH R-_E-_WNE=A=+—H%
ZFRTERFERRSHBPE—F (Z2Z=
F—F) AER > BRAFEEIN TR

Less than Cash Carrying

1 year 1-2 years 2 -5 years outflows amount

rRIE 1-26 -5  BRERLE fREfE

HK$"000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

BETRE  ANFR  ANTn  BSTR A%TR

31 March 2024 —Z_MmE=A=+—H 1,109,642 - - 1,109,642 1,047,003

31 March 2023 ZE=F=H=1+—H 395,685 = = 395,685 378,400
Interest rate benchmark reform FEBZEN 2

As listed in note 33, several of the Group’s HIBOR bank
loans has been subject to the interest rate benchmark
reform. The Group is closely monitoring the market and
managing the transition to new benchmark interest
rates, including announcements made by the relevant
IBOR regulators.

HIBOR

While the Hong Kong Dollar Overnight Index Average
("HONIA") has been identified as an alternative to
HIBOR, there is no plan to discontinue HIBOR. The multi-
rate approach has been adopted in Hong Kong, whereby
HIBOR and HONIA will co-exist. The Group’s bank loan
linked to HIBOR will continue till maturity and hence, not
subject to transition.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS & W5 2 M ak

Fair value

The fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities
are determined as follows:

o the fair value of financial assets and financial
liabilities with standard terms and conditions and
traded in active markets are determined with
reference to quoted market bid prices;

o the fair value of other financial assets and
financial liabilities are determined in accordance
with generally accepted pricing models based on
discounted cash flow analysis.

The directors of the Company consider that the carrying
amounts of financial assets and financial liabilities
recorded at amortised cost in the consolidated financial
statements approximate their fair values.

Fair value of the Group’s financial assets that are
measured at fair value on a recurring basis

Some of the Group’s financial assets are measured at fair
value at the end of each reporting period. The following
table gives information about how the fair values of
these financial assets are determined (in particular, the
valuation technique(s) and inputs used).

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024
HE_Z-_WE=A=+—HIEFE

AT

MBEERMBEBEZAFTETRTIAR
HEE -

s ARERRKREGREXRKEERTSZE
BENMBEERUZERZATESR
WIBFFREABERE ;

s HMMBEERMBERZATERE
ERFRBESADTN AR EBENE
Fo

ERBEFERR NEEMBRRIZBIHN
FIRZMBEERMBERZIREEREH
AFEEE

REEMEEURTFEAEZTEH
MBEENATE

FEEMOPBEENSRSPRZAFE
SFEB TREAEHMEEZSIMBEEAT
BzRHE (LERFAZEERMTRE AR
%) o

Fair value as at Fair value Valuation technique(s)
Financial assets 31 March 2024 hierarchy and key input(s)
RZEZMmE
HBEEE =ZA=1+—HZAFE 2ATEESR HERMT R EEEARE
Financial assets at FVTPL - Listed equity ~ HK$263,000 (2023: Level 1 Quoted bid prices in an
securities in Hong Kong HK$405,000) active market.
BRBEREATESEZ A 15263,0007T FE—iR REBRTZBMKRZEA
MBEBEE-—BALHRAES (CBZ=F: Bo
7 #£405,0007T)

There was no transfer among Level 1, 2 and 3 during the
current and prior years.

REFERBEFE F—H - F_HMRE=
Rz Mo
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS & & W %5 i 26 b 5k
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024

HE_Z-_NE=B=1+—HItFE

48. RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES
ARISING FROM FINANCING

ACTIVITIES

The table below details changes in the Group's liabilities
arising from financing activities, including both cash
and non-cash changes. Liabilities arising from financing
activities are those for which cash flows were, or future

48. MMBEEBEEZARHIR

cash flows will be, classified in the Group’s consolidated
statement of cash flows as cash flows from financing

BEARNRAER

4o A
iz =]

TRFINFEBRMEEFEENERETE
o BERERFREEE -MEXBEEN
RERERPDES

activities.
Lease Dividend
liabilities payable Bank loans Total
HEaR ERE RITEM st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT BETT BT BT
(Note 32) (Note 33)
(FfzE32) (Bf5E33)
At 1 April 2022 RZEZ"FNA—H 7,646 - 1,791,400 1,799,046
Financing cash flows MERER (3,515) (82,971) (265,966) (352,452)
Dividend declared BERRE - 82,971 - 82,971
Non-cash change: RS EE .

Addition of lease liabilities HESREM 1,045 - - 1,045
At 31 March 2023 RIEZ=F=HA=+—H 5,176 - 1,525,434 1,530,610
Financing cash flows MERER (1,789) (65,136) 352,638 285,713
Dividend declared BERRE - 65,136 - 65,136
Non-cash change: FHREEE !

Addition of lease liabilities HEAREM 4,516 = = 4,516
At 31 March 2024 RZZEZMNE=R=1+—H 7,903 - 1,878,072 1,885,975
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024
HE_Z-_WE=A=+—HIEFE

49. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL
SUBSIDIARIES

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries at 31

March 2024 and 2023 are as follows:

Place of incorporation/

o 03 WV B R B

49. TEMEBE AT FE

AABRZE_NER_ZTE=-=

=H

Z+—HZEEWBATFRBWMT :

31 March 2024
—E_mE=RA=+-H

31 March 2023
“E--F-B=1+-H

Effective
Issued and fully  equity interest
paid ordinary attributable to

Effective
Issued and fully  equity interest
paid ordinary attributable to

Name of subsidiary registration/operation share capital the Group share capital the Group  Principal activities
BEARBR  AEEE( BTk REEER

WEARAME /s S LEks AURSEE  AREERE  AMBaEE  IEER

Care & Health Limited Hong Kong HKS2 100% HK$2 100%  Trading of health products

RMEERAR & B Al REERESR

Clear Profit Holdings Limited British Virgin Islands/ Us$1 100% uss1 100%  Property investment

BHERERAR Hong Kong 1%£7 127 ESE
AERUME/BE

Excel Chinese International Limited Hong Kong HK$1 100% HK$1 100%  Property investment

SREARERAR BRI AT ES T

Fairview Harbour Limited British Virgin Islands/ Us$2 100% Us$2 100%  Investment holding

Hong Kong PEST VEST REER

AERUME/BE

Faithful Sun Limited Hong Kong HK$1 100% HK$1 100%  Property holding

SAERAH AT BT NERE

Gallant Elite Enterprises Limited British Virgin/ Islands/ Us$2 100% Us$2 100%  Investment holding

BRALERAR Hong Kong BER S RERR
AERUME/BE

General Target Limited Hong Kong HK$10,000 100% HK$10,000 100%  Property investment

HMERAR &4 7#110,0007C %1810,0007T ESE

Great Popular Limited British Virgin Islands/ Uss$1 100% Uss$1 100%  Investment holding

BRERAT Hong Kong 1%£57 1%£57 RERR
EERUME/BE

LI B A 2 B A PR H] 2023/20244E 3
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS & & W %5 i 26 b 5k
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024
HE_Z_NE=A=+—HILEE

31 March 2024 31 March 2023
“EB_MEZB=1+-H ZBT=FZfB=1-H
Effective Effective
Issued and fully equity interest  Issued and fully  equity interest
Place of incorporation/ paid ordinary  attributable to paid ordinary  attributable to
Name of subsidiary registration/operation share capital the Group share capital the Group  Principal activities
BETRAR  FEEREE BETR  AEEER
WEAE AT R/ SR E R LRkt BARTRE  HREERE BMBRAEE IERE
Hanison Construction Company Limited ~ Hong Kong Ordinary shares 100%  Ordinary shares 100%  Property construction
BBRIERAR &4 HK$1,000 HK$1,000 NERE
Deferred shares Deferred shares
HK$60,000,000 HK$60,000,000
(Note a) (Note a)
Lk LER
11,0007 #11,0007T
Btk 3134
#1860,000,0007C 160,000,000
(Hfsa) (Hfzka)
Hanison Construction Holdings (BVI) British Virgin Islands/ Us$2 100% Us$2 100%  Investment holding
Limited (note b) (Ff3th) Hong Kong BER VES RERR
EERYHE/BE
Hanison Contractors Limited Hong Kong HK$10,000,000 100%  HK$10,000,000 100%  Property construction
BREEERAR &# #%1%10,000,0007 7%%10,000,0007 NEEE
Hanison Engineering Limited Hong Kong HK$10,000,000 100%  HK$10,000,000 100%  Property construction
EBIRERAR &4 #%%10,000,0007¢ 710,000,007 NERE
Hanison Estate Services Limited Hong Kong HKS2 100% HK$2 100%  Provision of property
BRENEREERAR &% B B management services
RUNEERRS
Hanison Foundation Limited Hong Kong HK$1 100% HK$1 100%  Property construction
BEHETRERAT A BRI BRI NEER
Hanison Interior & Renovation Limited ~ Hong Kong HK$17,400,000 100%  HK$14,800,000 100%  Provision of interior and
BREAREEERAR #117,400,0007T 7114,800,0007T renovation services
TRt R AR
Hanison Project Management Limited Hong Kong HKS2 100% HK$2 100%  Provision of property leasing
BB ERERERAT ) Bl Ao and marketing services
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024
HE_Z-_WE=A=+—HIEFE

Place of incorporation/

31 March 2024
ZEmE=RA=1+-A

31 March 2023
ZZT=E-B=1-H

Effective
Issued and fully  equity interest
paid ordinary attributable to

Effective
Issued and fully  equity interest
paid ordinary  attributable to

o 03 WV B R B

Name of subsidiary registration/operation share capital the Group share capital the Group  Principal activities
BETRAR  FEEREE BETR  AEMEER

MERE AT M/ S5 LRkt BARTRE  HREERE BMRLAEE IERH

Hantex Engineering Limited Hong Kong HK$1 100% HK$1 100%  Plant maintenance and

BETRERAR &k B Vit b servicing

BREEREE

Healthmate Products Limited Hong Kong HK$1 100% HK$1 100%  Trading of health products

BHZBRAH & AT B REERES

Heatex Ceramic Limited Hong Kong HK$400,000 100% HK$400,000 100%  Property development

wEHRAA &R #15400,0007C #15400,0007C NEER

Nimble Run Limited British Virgin Islands/ Uss$1 100% Us$1 100%  Investment holding

RANBRAF Hong Kong 157 127 RERR
EERURE/BE

Oriental Effort Limited British Virgin Islands/ uss1 100% uss1 100%  Investment holding

RHERAF Hong Kong %7 1#7 RERR
AERUME/BE

Precise Leader Limited Hong Kong HK$1 100% HK$1 100%  Property holding

EfEERAT & AT BRI NERB

Retailcorp Limited Hong Kong HKS2 100% HK$2 100%  Sales of health product

SELEERAT & An Al FERRER

Sanney Limited Hong Kong HK$1 100% HK$1 100%  Property investment

$LERAT & AT BRI NERE

Sunny Way Properties Limited Hong Kong HK$1 100% HK$1 100%  Property investment

HREFERAT & oAb BRI NERE

Tai Kee Pipes Limited Hong Kong HKS$2,000,000 100% HK$2,000,000 100%  Investment holding

R BRAHE &4 71%2,000,0007 712,000,007 REER

Trigon Building Materials Limited Hong Kong HK$2 100% HK$2 100%  Supply and installation of

EEERIERAT B4 BT BT building materials

R ZRREME

Trillion Mart Development Limited Hong Kong HK$10,000 100% HK$10,000 100%  Property investment
&3 #1510,0007C #1510,0007 nERE

Vast Media International Limited Hong Kong HK$1 100% HK$1 100%  Investment holding

EEERARAT & AT B REZR

LI B A 2 B A PR H] 2023/20244E 3
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024
BE_Z_NMFE=A=+—HILEE

Place of incorporation/

31 March 2024
ZZmE=RA=1-AH

o 13 WV B 2 B

31 March 2023
ZZT=E-B=1+-H

Issued and fully  equity interest

Effective

paid ordinary attributable to

Effective

Issued and fully  equity interest

paid ordinary  attributable to

Name of subsidiary registration/operation share capital the Group share capital the Group  Principal activities
BETRAR  FEEREE BETR  AEEER
WEAE AT M/ S5 LRkt BARTRE  HREERE BMBRAEE IERE
Vision Smart Limited Hong Kong HK$100 100% HK$100 100%  Property investment
&4 #1007 A1007 NERE
Westpac Limited Hong Kong HK$1 100% HK$1 100%  Property investment
REBRAE & LAV BRI NERE
Notes: FdEE -
(@) The deferred shares are shares whose shareholders are (a) EERRESEAEEBRKTIAREAZE

neither entitled to receive notices, attend, vote at any
general meetings nor to receive any dividend out of
operating profit and have very limited rights on return of

capital of the subsidiary.

(b) Other than Hanison Construction Holdings (BVI) Limited, (b)
which is directly held by the Company, all other companies

are indirectly held by the Company.

None of the subsidiaries had issued any debt securities
during the year or outstanding at the end of the year.

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company
which, in the opinion of the directors of the Company,
principally affected the results or assets and liabilities of
the Group. To give details of other subsidiaries would,

S ERUEEARRAGREETLRE
TR B EEEN Ik E 2 EAKRERE
MEBARRERAFKEERIFEARENN
B e

FR7 /A B E#545H ZHanison Construction
Holdings (BVI) Limitedt > e EthA T
HAQABMIERFE -

AT AT B AR R A FE R ITEMERE

SFUARAFERAEREMERES-

in the opinion of the directors of the Company, result in

particulars of excessive length.
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY
A5 1R

Year ended 31 March
BE=B=1—HLEE

2024 2023 2022 2021 2020
ZECNE | ZEZ=fF ZB--H CZI--F CZZIIZE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT BT BETT BT BT
RESULTS ES
Revenue WA 1,612,660 | 1,232,803 1438340 1,451,560 958,245
(Loss) profit before taxation PRIRA (B548) iEA (215,854) (35,951) 162,716 273,190 231,752
Taxation "1 (160) (2,481) (8,373) 1,796 (10,376)
(Loss) profit for the year FE (5H) &F (216,014) (38,432) 154,343 274,986 221,376
As at 31 March
RZR=+—H
2024 2023 2022 2021 2020
ZEomE | ZBZ=f B Zf BT IZEIZHF
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BT BT BT BT BT
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES BEREHE
Total assets BERE 6,226,120 6,162,834 6,718,801 8,130,161 6,519,444
Total liabilities BERE (2,459,594) |  (2,090,152)  (2,502,363)  (3,993,056)  (2,595,798)
3,766,526 | 4,072,682 4216438 4,137,105 3,923,646
Equity attributable to: TH AL
Owners of the Company P UNSIE =D 3,766,526 | 4,072,682 4216438 4,137,105 3,923,646

LI AR R 2 PG A PR 23 W) 2023/20244F §
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SUMMARY OF MAJOR PROPERTIES

I DES T
A. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES HELD FOR A. FEREVEEASHASWARE
RENTAL INCOME PURPOSES ®
Attributable
Area interest of
(sq.ft.) Nature of the Group  Category of
Descriptions miE property rEEH lease
R (FEHR) MEME FE{E#E = TRAEER
1. Leasehold interest in the 2,701 Commercial 100% Medium-term
Head-Lease for the residual (Saleable lease
term of 30 years commencing area)
from 1 December 1989 with an
option to renew for a further
term of 30 years of whole of
No. 31 Wing Wo Street,
Sheung Wan, Hong Kong
HA LIRXME31REBEZ 2,701 (SES 100% FRHEATRAY
BN EREHE T ERER)
H—hAN\AE+ZBE—HR%
RBA=+5F (UBEBETS5%
=+ FEEAZ R
2. Hollywood Hill 27,414 Residential 100% Long lease
No. 222 Hollywood Road, (Gross floor
Sheung Wan, Hong Kong area)
BB LR 27,414 = 100% REATAN
R EE2225% (BEm*)
Hollywood Hill
3. PeakCastle 145,394 Commercial 100% Medium-term
No. 476 Castle Peak Road, (Gross floor lease
Kowloon area)
FLBE 145,394 EES 100% FRHATE Y
BLLE4765% (BE@EH)
PeakCastle
4. The Mercer 37,933 Commercial 100% Long lease
No. 29 Jervois Street, (Gross floor
Hong Kong area)
BH 37,933 EES 100% REAFAAY
BRI ET295% (BEmEE)
The Mercer
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SUMMARY OF MAJOR PROPERTIES ¥ ¥y ¥Hi%

B. PROPERTIES UNDER DEVELOPMENT B. MBAZERDZFEME

FOR SALE IN HONG KONG

Expected Attributable
Site area  Gross floor completion interest of
(sq.ft.) area (sq.ft.) Stage of date Nature of ~ the Group  Category of
Descriptions HEREE BHEEE  completion st property FEE lease
PR (FAR) (FAR) THER  RIARE  MERE EEEE  BOER
1. No. 57A Nga Tsin Wai Road, 8,092 Not yet Construction Tobe  Residential 50% Medium-
Kowloon Tong, Kowloon determined  in progress  completed term lease
in 2025
BN R AIRESTAS 8,092 HAREE RREETH e = 50% FERTEL
ZEIERE
BT
2. Johnson Place, Nos. 14-16 10,516 Notyet  Planningin  No definite Industrial 50%  Long lease
Lee Chung Street, Chai Wan determined progress plan
RENRE 10,516 HARE Ha3ETD EREHS N 50% REAEL
URE16REEKRE
3. Lot No. 2143 in Demarcation 81,053 Notyet  Planningin  No definite  Residential 50% Medium-
District No. 121, determined progress plan term lease
Tong Yan San Tsuen,
Yuen Long, New Territories
MR 81,053 HWAREE #AIETH EAEHE e 50% EATRA
BARH
YENMNFEEN43E8
4. Tuen Mun Town Lot No. 496, 235,990 Notyet Construction  No definite  Residential 24.82% Medium-
So Kwun Wat, Tuen Mun, determined in progress plan term lease
New Territories
i 235,990 WARE BEETT ERESHD = 24.82% AL
BPRER
TP £ 58 496%%
5. West Castle 5,727 Not yet  Construction To be Industrial 50% Medium-
No. 22 Yip Shing Street, determined  in progress  completed term lease
Kwai Chung, in 2025
New Territories
MAER 5,727 HABE BEETH N T# 50% FERTRL
ERt225 ZZIhE
West Castle BT
6. No. 18 Lee Chung Street, 6,685 Not yet Construction To be Industrial 50%  Long lease
Chai Wan, Hong Kong determined  in progress  completed
in 2026
BA%E 6,685 WAEE RREETH N T# 50% REAA
MR 185K Z2IRE
#T

LI B A 2 B A PR H] 2023/20244E 3
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SUMMARY OF MAJOR PROPERTIES ¥ %P %E

C. PROPERTIES UNDER DEVELOPMENT

C. RPEIRMZERPZFEY

FOR SALE/PROPERTIES HELD FOR X/ HEGEDE
SALE IN MAINLAND CHINA
Gross floor Attributable
Site area area interest of
(sq. m.) (sq. m.) Stage of Nature of  the Group Category of
Descriptions WRER BEEB  completion property FEE lease
BR (FHK) (FrK)  wRBE  YEEE  EoREE  BAOER
A development project located at the 17,149 35,235 Phase 1-  Commercial 49% Medium-
west of Wenyuan Road and south of Completed term lease
Houfutinggang, Haining City, Zhejiang
Province, The PRC (including sold but not
yet handover units and unsold units of Phase 1
IR EHIE 17,149 35235 F—H- S 49%  thERFR4
BEDEXIEHRAM- 85I

BEFEEAN—EXRER
(BEE-HEHEATRTKZE
(i Rk it £ B 1iD)
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SUMMARY OF MAJOR PROPERTIES

e 2/E3 T

D. SELF-USED PROPERTIES D. ERAWE
Attributable
Area interest
(sq.ft.) Nature of of the Group Category of
Descriptions B property P lease
BER (EER) MEME FEfhE s LR
1. Various lots in Demarcation District 45,518 Agricultural 100% Medium-term
No. 77, Ping Che, Fanling, New Territories (Site area) lease
M ETE 45,518 Bt 100% FEATEA
YEARTTRETHER (R ERE)
2. Offices A, B,C, D, E,F G, H,J, K L M NG&P 15,175 Commercial 100% Medium-term
on 22/F and Car Parking Space (excluding lease
Nos. P44, P45 and P46 on Basement Floor, area of car
Kings Wing Plaza 1, 3 On Kwan Street, parking spaces)
Shek Mun, Shatin, New Territories (Marketing
gross floor
area)
MR EAM 15,175 [ES 100% FHATEA
REERRRRES 2182 (FEEE(
HAZEAB C D ENF G H VK LM NReP ZHER)
Tt EEPA4SE « PASSE B PAGSRE (il (AEREER)
3. Offices A, B,C, D, E,F G, H,J, K L M NG&P 15,073 Commercial 100% Medium-term
on 21/F and Car (excluding |ease
Parking Space No. P47, P48 and area of car
P49 on Basement Floor, parking spaces)
Kings Wing Plaza 1, 3 On Kwan Street, (Marketing
Shek Mun, Shatin, New Territories gross floor area
MmADBAF 15,073 ES 100% FEATEA
REERRRREE 2182 (FEEE(
HAZEAB CDVENF G H N K LM NRP ZER)
R EEPATS » PABSE K PA9SR B {iL (AEREER)
4 The Connaught 41,704 Commercial 50% Long lease
No. 138 Connaught Road West, (Gross floor
Hong Kong area)
N 41,704 [EES 50% REAAY
TFaREF 1385 (BEER)
The Connaught

LI B A 2 B A PR H] 2023/20244E 3
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SUMMARY OF MAJOR PROPERTIES %9k %

E. ASSETS CLASSIFIED AS HELD FOR E. DEAFEHESE
SALE

Attributable

Area interest of
(sq.ft.) Nature of the Group Category of
Descriptions af property FE&EE lease
R (EFR) MESE FEfh R HAEER
1. Workshop 7, 1/F, Block A, 1,153 Industrial 100% Medium-term
Shatin Industrial Centre, (Saleable area) lease

Nos. 5-7 Yuen Shun Circuit,
Shatin, New Territories

R HRIRESSE =75 1,153 T 100% R4
WH TR OAREIE75E TER (BERER)
2. Shops 1, 2, 3 on G/F, and shop 5 on G/F and 1/F, 11,366 Commercial 100% Long lease
The Austine Place, No. 38 Kwun Chung Street, (Marketing
Kowloon gross floor
area)
NEEE BH385 11,366 [EES 100% REARAY
The Austine Placelt T 1554 « 2554 3558 % (TERE
T E RS ER E)
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22/F., Kings Wing Plaza 1, 3 On Kwan Street, Shek Mun, Shatin, N.T., Hong Kong
TV BT A1 B P B A 3 R A G R 5 1 224
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